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BEFORE THE 1 
WASHINGTON UTILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 2 

IN THE MATTER OF THE JOINT 
APPLICATION OF PUGET SOUND 
ENERGY, ALBERTA INVESTMENT 
MANAGEMENT CORPORATION, 
BRITISH COLUMBIA INVESTMENT 
MANAGEMENT CORPORATION, 
OMERS ADMINISTRATION 
CORPORATION, AND PGGM 
VERMOGENSBEHEER B.V. FOR AN 
ORDER AUTHORIZING PROPOSED 
SALES OF INDIRECT INTERESTS 
IN PUGET SOUND ENERGY 

Docket U-180680 

Joint Application 

I. INTRODUCTION 3 

1.  Puget Sound Energy (“PSE”) and the four Purchasers described below 4 

(collectively, “Joint Applicants”) request an order of the Washington Utilities and 5 

Transportation Commission (the “Commission”) authorizing the transfer of the 6 

upstream, non-controlling 43.99 percent indirect ownership interest in PSE, 7 

currently held by funds managed by Macquarie Infrastructure Partners Inc. 8 

(“MIP Funds”) and a Macquarie entity, Padua MG Holdings LLC (together with 9 

the MIP Funds, “Macquarie”) to the Purchasers (“Proposed Transactions”). After 10 

the closing of the Proposed Transactions, Macquarie will no longer hold any 11 

direct or indirect interest in either PSE’s ultimate parent company, Puget 12 

Holdings LLC (“Puget Holdings”), or PSE. 13 

2.  The four Purchasers are acquiring Macquarie’s interest in Puget Holdings 14 

and, therefore, an indirect ownership interest in PSE. Two of the Purchasers are 15 
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existing owners of Puget Holdings and, in turn, indirect owners of PSE; two of the 1 

Purchasers are new investors in Puget Holdings and, thus, will become new 2 

indirect owners of PSE. The Purchasers are described below: 3 

• Alberta Investment Management Corporation. Alberta 4 
Investment Management Corporation (“AIMCo”) currently holds a 5 
7.59 percent equity interest in Puget Holdings and is purchasing an 6 
additional 6.01 percent equity interest to increase its equity interest 7 
to 13.60 percent of Puget Holdings. Based in Edmonton, Alberta, 8 
AIMCo is one of the largest institutional investment managers in 9 
Canada. AIMCo provides investment management services to 10 
entities in various public-sector bodies of the province of Alberta. 11 

• British Columbia Investment Management Corporation. The 12 
British Columbia Investment Management Corporation (“BCI”) 13 
currently holds a 16.86 percent equity interest in Puget Holdings 14 
and is purchasing an additional 4.01 percent interest to increase its 15 
equity interest to 20.87 percent of Puget Holdings. BCI was 16 
established and incorporated as a trust company in 1999 pursuant 17 
to the Public Sector Pension Plans Act of British Columbia to carry 18 
on trust business and investment management services, including 19 
the making of investments and loans, for funds placed with it by 20 
public sector pension plans and other eligible bodies, which 21 
include the British Columbia government, foundations and benefit 22 
trusts.  23 

• OMERS Administration Corporation. OMERS Administration 24 
Corporation (“OAC”), on behalf of the Ontario Municipal 25 
Employees Retirement System (“OMERS”), administers the 26 
pension plans for employees of municipalities, school boards, 27 
libraries, police, fire departments, children’s aid societies and other 28 
local agencies across Ontario. OAC is indirectly purchasing a 29 
23.94 percent equity interest in Puget Holdings. 30 

• PGGM. PGGM1 is a fund consisting of investments in the broader 31 
infrastructure space, including regulated utilities. PGGM 32 
Vermogensbeheer B.V. manages investments on behalf of the 33 
PGGM, including exercising any voting rights associated with 34 
those assets, but the economic beneficiary of those investments is 35 
PGGM. The ultimate economic beneficiaries of PGGM are the 36 

                                                 
1 PGGM Vermogensbeheer B.V. is the fund manager of the PGGM Infrastructure Fund, for whose 

benefit Stichting Depositary PGGM Infrastructure Funds holds title to its assets (together, “PGGM”). 
See further description of the PGGM entities in the Prefiled Direct Testimony of Martijn J. Verwoest, 
Exh. MJV-1T. 
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more than 2.7 million active, former, and retired members of five 1 
Dutch pension funds. PGGM is purchasing a 10.02 percent equity 2 
interest in Puget Holdings. 3 

3.  The Proposed Transactions will not affect the daily operations and 4 

management of PSE. Following the closing of the Proposed Transactions, PSE 5 

will continue providing safe, reliable, and reasonably priced energy to its 6 

customers, while also continuing to pursue its vision of a clean energy future for 7 

Washington through increasing renewable energy usage, promoting energy 8 

conservation, and transitioning away from coal. The Proposed Transactions 9 

simply represent the transfer of a non-controlling minority ownership interest 10 

from existing well-qualified, institutional investors in Puget Holdings to (i) two 11 

other existing well-qualified, institutional investors in Puget Holdings; and 12 

(ii) two new, well-qualified, institutional investors; with no change to PSE’s 13 

operations, management and commitment to its customers and the Commission. 14 

4.  The Joint Applicants submit that (i) all criteria necessary for approval of 15 

the Proposed Transactions pursuant to Chapter 80.12 RCW and Chapter 480-143 16 

WAC have been met and (ii) the Proposed Transactions are consistent with the 17 

public interest. The Joint Applicants therefore request that the Commission 18 

approve the Joint Application and Proposed Transactions in an expeditious 19 

manner. 20 

5.  PSE is an investor-owned utility providing electric and natural gas service 21 

to customers in Western and Central Washington. 22 

6.  Statutes and rules that may be at issue in this case include: Chapter 80.12 23 

RCW, RCW 80.04.010, RCW 80.01.040 and Chapter 480-143 of the Washington 24 

Administrative Code (“WAC”). 25 
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II. JURISDICTION 1 

7.  PSE is a public service company subject to the Commission’s jurisdiction. 2 

See RCW 80.04.010. More generally, RCW 80.01.040 establishes the 3 

Commission’s general powers and duties and, among other things, empowers the 4 

Commission to regulate in the public interest “the rates, services, facilities, and 5 

practices” of all persons engaging within Washington in the business of supplying 6 

any utility service or commodity to the public for compensation and “related 7 

activities.” Commission authorization is necessary under RCW 80.12.020 for 8 

Joint Applicants to close the Proposed Transactions. 9 

8.  The 2008 Acquisition Order2 sets forth requirements with respect to the 10 

sale of a “material part” of PSE. Specifically, Condition Nine in the 11 

2008 Acquisition Order requires Commission approval of the sale or transfer of 12 

“any material part of PSE. The term ‘material part of PSE’ means any sale or 13 

transfer of stock representing ten percent or more of the equity ownership of 14 

Puget Holdings or PSE.”3 Because the Proposed Transactions collectively involve 15 

a sale of greater than ten percent of the equity ownership of Puget Holdings, the 16 

Commission has jurisdiction to consider and approve the Proposed Transactions. 17 

                                                 
2 In the Matter of the Joint Application of Puget Holdings LLC and Puget Sound Energy, Inc., For an 

Order Authorizing Proposed Transaction, Docket U-072375, Order 08, Approving and Adopting 
Settlement Stipulation; Authorizing Transaction Subject to Conditions (Dec. 30, 2008) 
(the “2008 Acquisition Order”). 

3 Id. at Attachment B (Transaction Commitments With Commission Clarifications and Conditions) 
(Ninth Condition). 
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III. NOTICES AND COMMUNICATIONS 1 

9.  Persons authorized on behalf of PSE to receive notices and 2 

communications with respect to this Joint Application are: 3 

Jon Piliaris Sheree Strom Carson 4 
Director, Regulatory Affairs Jason Kuzma 5 
Puget Sound Energy David Steele 6 
10885 NE 4th Street Perkins Coie LLP 7 
P.O. Box 97034 PSE-08N 10885 NE 4th Street, Suite 700 8 
Bellevue, Washington 98009-9734 Bellevue, Washington 98004-5579 9 
Phone: (425) 456-2142 Phone: (425) 635-1400 10 
Email: jon.piliaris@pse.com Email: scarson@perkinscoie.com 11 

jkuzma@perkinscoie.com 12 
dsteele@perkinscoie.com 13 

10.  Persons authorized on behalf of Purchasers to receive notices and 14 

communications with respect to this Joint Application are: 15 

For AIMCo: 16 

Cherry Jiang 
AIMCo 
1100-10830 Jasper Ave. 
Edmonton, Alberta T5J 2B3 
Canada 
Phone: (780) 392-3637 
Email: cherry.jiang@aimco.alberta.ca 

 

Stan Berman 
Sidley Austin LLP 
701 Fifth Ave., Suite 4200 
Seattle, Washington 98104 
Phone: (206) 262-7681 
Email: sberman@sidley.com 
 
 

For BCI: 17 

Ken Prichard Scott W. MacCormack 18 
Counsel Davis Wright Tremaine LLP 19 
British Columbia Investment 1201 Third Avenue, Suite 2200 20 

Management Corporation Seattle, Washington 98101-3045 21 
750 Pandora Avenue Phone: (206) 757-8263 22 
Victoria, B.C. Email: scottmaccormack@dwt.com 23 
V8W 0E4 Canada 24 
Phone: (778) 410-7441 25 
Email: ken.prichard@bci.ca 26 

mailto:jon.piliaris@pse.com
mailto:scarson@perkinscoie.com
mailto:jkuzma@perkinscoie.com
mailto:dsteele@perkinscoie.com
mailto:sberman@sidley.com
mailto:scottmaccormack@dwt.com
mailto:ken.prichard@bci.ca
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For OAC: 1 

Jennifer Guerard Matt Segal 2 
Managing Director, Legal Associate Director, Legal 3 
900-100 Adelaide St W 900-100 Adelaide St W 4 
Toronto, Ontario M5H 0E2 Toronto, Ontario M5H 0E2 5 
Canada Canada 6 
Phone: (416) 361-3385 Phone: (416) 860-761 7 
Email: jguerard@omers.com Email: msegal@omers.com 8 

Lisa Rackner Shoshana Baird 9 
McDowell Rackner Gibson PC McDowell Rackner Gibson PC 10 
419 11th Ave, Suite 400 419 11th Ave, Suite 400 11 
Portland, Oregon 97205 Portland, Oregon 97205 12 
Phone: (503) 595-3925 Phone: (503) 290-3625 13 
Email: lisa@mrg-law.com Email: shoshana@mrg-law.com 14 

For PGGM: 15 

Martijn Verwoest Wouter Wehmeijer 16 
Senior Director Senior Legal Counsel 17 
PGGM Investment Management PGGM Investment Management 18 
P.O. Box 117 P.O. Box 117 19 
3700 AC Zeist 3700 AC Zeist 20 
The Netherlands The Netherlands 21 
Phone: +31 (0)30 277 1173 Phone: +31 (0)30 277 1797 22 
Email: martijn.verwoest@pggm.nl Email: wouter.wehmeijer@pggm.nl 23 

Steven F. Greenwald Craig Gannett 24 
Davis Wright Tremaine LLP Davis Wright Tremaine LLP 25 
505 Montgomery Street, Suite 800 1201 Third Avenue, Suite 2200 26 
San Francisco, California 94111 Seattle, Washington 98101 27 
Phone: (415) 276-6528 Phone: (206) 757-8048 28 
Email: stevegreenwald@dwt.com Email: craiggannett@dwt.com 29 

11.  Data requests for the Joint Applicants should be addressed in the 30 

following manner, with additional copies to each of the Joint Applicants’ counsel 31 

via email: 32 

Addressed to: Sheree S. Carson 33 
By email (preferred): psedrs@perkinscoie.com 34 
By regular mail: Perkins Coie LLP 35 

10885 NE 4th Street, Suite 700 36 
Bellevue, Washington 98004-5579 37 

mailto:jguerard@omers.com
mailto:msegal@omers.com
mailto:lisa@mrg-law.com
mailto:shoshana@mrg-law.com
mailto:tim.brulevanden@pggm.nl
mailto:wouter.wehmeijer@pggm.nl
mailto:stevegreenwald@dwt.com
mailto:craiggannett@dwt.com
mailto:psedrs@perkinscoie.com
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IV. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS 1 

12.  On August 8, 2018, each Purchaser (directly or through an affiliate) 2 

entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement to purchase a portion of Macquarie’s 3 

non-controlling 43.99 percent ownership interest in Puget Holdings.4 The 4 

transaction documents are provided as exhibits to the testimony supporting this 5 

Joint Application.5 Upon completion of the Proposed Transactions, Macquarie 6 

will no longer hold an ownership interest in Puget Holdings or an indirect 7 

ownership interest in PSE. The Purchasers who are currently investors in Puget 8 

Holdings will continue to own non-controlling, indirect ownership interests in 9 

PSE,6 and each of the new Purchasers will own a minority, non-controlling, 10 

indirect interest in PSE. 11 

13.  PSE’s ultimate parent company is Puget Holdings, a Delaware limited 12 

liability company, which indirectly holds 100 percent of the ownership interests in 13 

PSE. Table 1 below provides the current distribution of the ownership of equity 14 

interests in Puget Holdings. 15 

                                                 
4 Macquarie’s owned or managed interest in Puget Holdings has decreased from 51.45 percent in 

February 2009 to its current ownership interest of 43.99 percent over the course of the past decade. 
The current Canadian owners, Canada Pension Plan Investment Board (“CPPIB”), AIMCo, and BCI, 
acquired the 7.46 percent interest formerly owned or managed by Macquarie. See Docket U-072375, 
Letter to Dave Danner, Notice of Transfer of Interest (May 27, 2009) (involving sale of 5.9112 percent 
of equity interest to Canadian investors); Docket UE-171039, PSE Notice of Internal Reorganization of 
Upstream Owners of Puget Holdings (October 11, 2017) (consolidating ownership of MIP funds into a 
single fund); Docket UE-171127, Notice of Sale of 3.72 Percent Ownership Interest in Puget Holdings 
LLC To Certain Existing Owners of PSE (November 15, 2017) (involving sale of FSS Infrastructure 
Trust’s 3.72 percent interest in Puget Holdings, which had initially been managed by Macquarie, to 
three of the existing owners). 

5 See Exh. AM-3; Exh. LW-3; Exh. SZ-3; Exh. MJV-3. 
6 The one existing owner that is not participating in the Proposed Transactions, CPPIB, will also 

continue to own a non-controlling, indirect interest in PSE. 
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Table 1. Current Equity Interests in Puget Holdings 1 

MIP Funds 43.89% 
Padua MG Holdings LLC 0.10% 
Canada Pension Plan Investment Board 31.57% 
British Columbia Investment Management Corporation 16.86% 
Alberta Investment Management Corporation 7.59% 
Total 100.00% 

14.  Through the Proposed Transactions, Macquarie will sell its 43.99 percent 2 

interest to Purchasers.7 Table 2 below identifies the four Purchasers and the 3 

percentage interest in Puget Holdings that each Purchaser is acquiring from 4 

Macquarie. 5 

Table 2. Purchasers of the Macquarie Interest in Puget Holdings 6 
and Percent of Equity Interest in Puget Holdings Being Purchased8 7 

OMERS Administration Corporation  23.94% 
PGGM 10.02% 
Alberta Investment Management Corporation 6.01% 
British Columbia Investment Management Corporation 4.01% 
Total 43.99% 

                                                 
7 As discussed supra, this includes both the ownership interests managed by the MIP Funds as well as 

Padua MG Holdings LLC. 
8 The sum of the individual percentage equity interests varies from the “Total” due to rounding.  The 

percentage ownership reflects each Purchasers share of the MIP Funds 43.89 percent ownership 
interest in Puget Holdings, as set forth in each Purchaser’s respective Purchase and Sale Agreement, as 
well as each Purchasers share of the 0.10 percent interest held by Padua MG Holdings LLC, as set 
forth in each Purchaser’s respective Joinder Agreement. See Exh. AM-3, Exh. LW-3, Exh. SZ-3, Exh. 
MJV-3. 
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15.  Table 3 below provides the distribution of equity interests in Puget 1 

Holdings after the completion of the Proposed Transactions. 2 

Table 3. Equity Interests in Puget Holdings 3 
Resulting from the Sale of Macquarie Interest in Puget Holdings 4 

Canada Pension Plan Investment Board 31.57% 
OMERS Administration Corporation 23.94% 
British Columbia Investment Management Corporation 20.87% 
Alberta Investment Management Corporation 13.60% 
PGGM 10.02% 
Total 100.00% 

 

16.  Canada Pension Plan Investment Board, the only current investor in Puget 5 

Holdings that is not participating in the Proposed Transactions, either as a buyer 6 

or a seller, supports the Proposed Transactions.9  7 

17.  The Proposed Transactions are scheduled to close in 2019 following 8 

receipt of the necessary approvals, including approval by the Commission. Upon 9 

completion of the Proposed Transactions, PSE will continue to be a wholly-10 

owned subsidiary of Puget Energy, Inc. (“Puget Energy”), and PSE’s ultimate 11 

parent company will continue to be Puget Holdings. The terms of the Puget 12 

Holdings LLC Agreement, currently in place, will not change as a result of the 13 

Proposed Transactions. Additionally, PSE will continue to be subject to the 14 

regulatory authority of the Commission and the Federal Energy Regulatory 15 

Commission (“FERC”). 16 

                                                 
9 See Exh. KJH-3 (letter supporting Proposed Transactions). 
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V. INFORMATION REGARDING THE JOINT APPLICANTS 1 

A. PSE 2 

18.  PSE is Washington state’s oldest and largest energy utility, with a 6,000-3 

square-mile service territory stretching across ten counties. PSE serves 4 

approximately 1.1 million electric customers and 825,000 natural gas customers. 5 

PSE meets the energy needs of its growing customer base in Western and Central 6 

Washington through cost-effective energy conservation, procurement of 7 

sustainable and renewable energy resources, and far-sighted investment in energy-8 

delivery infrastructure. PSE and its employees are dedicated to providing great 9 

customer service and to delivering energy that is safe, reliable, reasonably priced, 10 

and environmentally responsible.  11 

B. Purchasers with Increased or New Indirect Interests in PSE 12 

1. AIMCo 13 

19.  AIMCo is one of the largest institutional investment managers in Canada. 14 

AIMCo provides investment management services to entities in various public-15 

sector bodies of the province of Alberta. AIMCo manages funds for a diverse 16 

group of Alberta public sector clients, including pension funds, endowment funds 17 

and general and specific government funds. As of March 31, 2018, AIMCo had 18 

approximately C$107 billion assets under management.  19 

20.  AIMCo is one of the original investors in Puget Holdings and has held an 20 

indirect ownership interest in PSE since 2009. AIMCo currently holds a 21 

7.59 percent equity interest in Puget Holdings and intends to acquire an additional 22 

6.01 percent to increase its ownership interest to 13.60 percent. AIMCo’s 23 
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representatives have served on the PSE Board of Directors and on various board 1 

committees since 2009. AIMCo’s representative currently serves as the chair of 2 

the PSE Audit Committee. 3 

21.  In addition to AIMCo’s already long-term ownership interest in Puget 4 

Holdings, AIMCo has made significant investments in infrastructure and energy 5 

industries in both the United States and abroad, providing substantial experience 6 

investing in regulated energy and utility sectors. Energy investments by AIMCo, 7 

in addition to Puget Holdings, include interests in sPower, a leading independent 8 

renewables power producer with over 1,200 megawatts (“MW”) of operating 9 

solar and wind projects across the United States; Howard Midstream Energy 10 

Partners, LLC, a midstream natural gas provider with assets in Texas and 11 

Pennsylvania; Catalyst Midstream Partners LLC, a midstream service provider 12 

providing pipeline and other related services, operating in Texas; Linden 13 

Cogeneration, a 943-MW natural gas-fired combined-cycle cogeneration plant 14 

located in Linden, New Jersey that serves as a critical supplier of power to New 15 

York City; D. E. Shaw Renewable Investments, L.L.C. (“DESRI”), which 16 

currently owns and operates more than 1,200 MW of U.S. solar and wind 17 

generation; Inversiones Grupo Saesa Limitada, which is the third largest regulated 18 

electricity transmission and distribution utility in Chile; and the operations of two 19 

renewable energy projects located in Pincher Creek, Alberta in conjunction with 20 

Enel S.p.A and Enel Green Power North America, Inc, the U.S.-based renewables 21 

subsidiary of Enel.  22 

22.  AIMCo operates independently from both the Canadian federal 23 

government and the provincial Alberta government, pursuant to Alberta law. 24 
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AIMCo has full and complete discretion to make investment decisions in respect 1 

of designated funds entrusted to it by its clients, within the parameters of each 2 

client’s Statement of Investment Policy and Guidelines. 3 

2. BCI 4 

23.  Based in Victoria, British Columbia, BCI is one of the largest institutional 5 

investment managers in Canada, with C$145.6 billion in assets under 6 

management as of March 31, 2018, investing globally on behalf of public sector 7 

clients, which includes eleven public sector pension plans, 583,000 pension plan 8 

beneficiaries, and 2.3 million British Columbian workers.  9 

24.  BCI is another of the original investors in Puget Holdings and has held an 10 

indirect ownership interest in PSE since 2009. BCI currently holds a 11 

16.86 percent equity interest in Puget Holdings and intends to acquire an 12 

additional 4.01 percent interest to increase its ownership interest to 20.87 percent. 13 

In addition to its near-decade long ownership interest in Puget Holdings, BCI has 14 

made significant investments in infrastructure and energy industries in both the 15 

United States and abroad, providing substantial experience investing in regulated 16 

energy and utility sectors. Currently, BCI’s utility investments include Cleco 17 

Corporate Holdings LLC, a utility holding company in Louisiana whose 18 

subsidiaries provide retail and wholesale electricity; Corix, a mid-scale platform 19 

providing electric and water utility services in North America; Open Grid Europe, 20 

which is the largest of Germany’s twelve regulated gas transmission operators; 21 

Transelec, which is the largest power transmission company in Chile; Endeavour 22 

Energy, which provides 2.4 million customers with power transmission and 23 
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distribution services in New South Wales, Australia; and Thames Water, which 1 

provides sewer and water services to approximately nine million customers in 2 

greater London, United Kingdom. BCI’s representatives serve on the boards for 3 

several of these companies including Cleco Corporation, Corix, and Endeavour 4 

Energy. BCI’s representatives have served on the PSE board and on various PSE 5 

board committees since 2009. BCI’s representative currently serves as the chair of 6 

the Business Planning Committee 7 

25.  BCI operates at arm’s length from the government of the province of 8 

British Columbia. It is governed by a seven-member board, six members of which 9 

are appointed from the BCI client base, and a chair-person appointed by the 10 

British Columbia Minister of Finance. British Columbia law prohibits the BCI 11 

board from involvement in the investment decisions of BCI and vests such powers 12 

in BCI’s Chief Investment Officer. Accordingly, the activities of BCI are 13 

independent, and are not controlled or directed in any way by the government of 14 

the province of British Columbia. 15 

3. OMERS Administration Corporation 16 

26.  OAC is the administrator and trustee of the OMERS pension plans, which 17 

include the OMERS Primary Pension Plan, one of Canada’s largest multi-18 

employer defined benefit pension plans, serving nearly 1,000 participating 19 

employers and nearly 500,000 employees and former employees of municipal 20 

governments, school boards, libraries, police and fire departments, children’s aid 21 

societies, and other local agencies across the province of Ontario. OAC is 22 

responsible for investment, plan administration and services to participants. OAC 23 
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has more than C$95 billion in net assets, as of December 31, 2017, and has a AA+ 1 

credit rating from Standard & Poor’s and a AAA rating from DBRS.10 OMERS 2 

investment entities’ employees work in Toronto and other major cities across 3 

North America, the U.K., Europe, Asia and Australia—originating and managing 4 

a diversified portfolio of investments in public markets, private equity, 5 

infrastructure and real estate. 6 

27.  The Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System Act, 2006, S.O. 7 

2006 c.2 (“OMERS Act”), which came into force in 2006, expressly states that 8 

OAC is not an agency of the Crown (province). The province does not own any 9 

shares or any other equity interest in OAC. The province does not appoint 10 

members to the OAC board, nor does it have rights to remove board members. 11 

28.  OMERS Infrastructure Management Inc. (“OMERS Infrastructure”), the 12 

dedicated infrastructure investment and management arm of OAC, will manage 13 

OAC’s investment in Puget Holdings pursuant to delegated authority and an 14 

existing management agreement between OAC and OMERS Infrastructure.11 15 

OMERS Infrastructure has experience investing in the energy and utility sector, in 16 

the United States and around the globe. Some of these investments include: Oncor 17 

Energy, the largest electric transmission and distribution company in Texas 18 

(10 percent interest); Vento II, a portfolio of wind projects in Oregon, Texas, 19 

Minnesota, and Illinois (49 percent interest); Bruce Power, a private sector 20 

nuclear generator in Ontario (48 percent interest); Leeward Renewable Energy, a 21 

                                                 
10 DBRS is a global credit rating agency founded in 1976 in Toronto. 
11 As is the case with OAC, OMERS Infrastructure is not an agency of the province. 
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leading owner, operator and developer of 19 wind projects across the United 1 

States (100 percent interest);12 Scotia Gas, the second largest natural gas 2 

distribution network in the United Kingdom (25 percent interest); Ellevio AB, 3 

Sweden’s second-largest electricity distributor (27 percent interest); and Caruna, 4 

Finland’s largest electricity distribution network (20 percent interest). OAC 5 

representatives serve on the boards for some of these companies, including Oncor 6 

Energy and Bruce Power, and these investments have provided OAC with 7 

substantial board level experience supporting management teams’ efforts to 8 

achieve key business goals and customer service outcomes. OAC will indirectly 9 

own 23.94 percent of the equity interest in Puget Holdings through an Ontario 10 

limited partnership. 11 

4. PGGM  12 

29.  The PGGM entities are established under the laws of The Netherlands. It 13 

is a long-term investor with an investment horizon of 20 years or greater. As 14 

described in more detail in supporting testimony, five Dutch pension funds have 15 

an economic interest in PGGM. These include pension funds for the health care 16 

and social work sectors; general practitioners; painting, finishing, and glazing 17 

industry; private security industry; and architectural firms. None of the five Dutch 18 

pension funds is an agency of the Dutch government, nor are any of the PGGM 19 

entities.  20 

30.  PGGM invests a diversified portfolio of US $250 billion assets under 21 

management over fifteen different asset classes, both public and private. PGGM 22 

                                                 
12 This acquisition is expected to close in September 2018. 
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has made significant investments in energy and infrastructure assets in the United 1 

States and in other parts of North America, South America and Europe, providing 2 

significant experience with investments in regulated utility businesses. These 3 

investments include an ownership stake in DQE Holdings, LLC, the parent 4 

company of Duquesne Light Company, the electric transmission and distribution 5 

utility serving southwestern Pennsylvania, Duquesne Power, LLC, and DQE 6 

Communications Network Services LLC (20.3 percent interest); Peoples Natural 7 

Gas, the largest natural gas distribution company in Pennsylvania; a portfolio of 8 

residential solar generation assets through SolarCity, with a combined installed 9 

capacity of approximately 277 MW; BUUK, a multi-utility in the United 10 

Kingdom (20 percent interest); Madrileña Red de Gas, one of the largest gas 11 

distribution companies in Spain (33.8 percent interest); and pending transactions 12 

to acquire a stake in several wind and solar projects, investing with EDF 13 

Renewables (50 percent interest). PGGM representatives serve on the boards for 14 

some of these companies, including Madrileña Red de Gas and Ennatuurlijk, (a 15 

Dutch district heating utility). These investments have provided PGGM with 16 

substantial board level experience supporting management teams’ efforts to 17 

achieve key business goals and customer service outcomes. PGGM will indirectly 18 

own 10.02 percent of the equity interest in Puget Holdings through Mount Rainier 19 

Utility Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited liability company created for the 20 

purpose of acquiring this interest. 21 
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VI. FINANCIAL AND TECHNICAL QUALIFICATIONS OF 1 
THE PURCHASERS 2 

31.  As discussed above, the Purchasers are well-equipped to serve as 3 

upstream, indirect owners of PSE. They are well-funded, diversified pension 4 

funds, with long-term investment horizons that match up well with the relatively 5 

secure and stable cash flows of regulated utilities such as PSE. Additionally, the 6 

Purchasers have investment experience in the energy sector and with regulated 7 

utilities. Two of the four Purchasers—AIMCo and BCI—have been indirect 8 

owners of PSE for the past decade and, therefore, have a strong understanding of 9 

PSE’s current business model and strategies. Their desire to increase their indirect 10 

ownership interest in PSE is a positive sign for PSE and the region. The 11 

Purchasers also have a commitment to sustainability and clean energy, as 12 

demonstrated by their clean energy investments including wind and solar projects. 13 

Their focus on environmental sustainability is consistent with PSE’s efforts to 14 

reduce its carbon footprint and assist in Washington’s transition away from coal. 15 

32.  Regarding technical fitness, the Purchasers each possess significant 16 

experience in relevant industries, gained from their investments around the world. 17 

This experience will benefit and provide support to PSE’s existing management 18 

team, Board and operating personnel. PSE will continue to provide safe, cost-19 

effective and reliable service to customers. 20 

VII. PUBLIC INTEREST CONSIDERATIONS  21 

A. Standard for Approval of the Proposed Transactions 22 

33.  The Proposed Transactions involve the sale of a minority, non-controlling 23 

indirect interest in PSE to four separate institutional investors. WAC 480-143-170 24 
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establishes the standard by which the Commission reviews the Proposed 1 

Transactions. The rule states that: 2 

If, upon examination of any application and accompanying exhibits, 3 
or upon a hearing concerning the same, the commission finds that 4 
the proposed transaction is not consistent with the public interest, it 5 
shall deny the application. 6 

The Commission has found that the public interest standard does not require a 7 

showing of net benefits to the public in order to approve a transaction: 8 

The standard in our rule does not require the Applicants to show that 9 
customers, or the public generally, will be made better off if the 10 
transaction is approved and goes forward. In our view, Applicants’ 11 
initial burden is satisfied if they at least demonstrate no harm to the 12 
public interest.13 13 

The Commission reiterated this standard in the 2008 Acquisition Order: 14 

To be “consistent” with the public interest,” a transaction need not 15 
confer net benefits on customers or the public by making them better 16 
off than they would be absent the transaction. It is sufficient if the 17 
transaction causes no harm.14 18 

34.  This standard contrasts with the heightened standard for approval that is 19 

applicable to transfers of a controlling interest in a gas or electrical company, as 20 

established by the Legislature in 2009. RCW 80.12.020 provides that  21 

[t]he commission shall not approve any transaction under this 22 
section that would result in a person, directly or indirectly, acquiring 23 
a controlling interest in a gas or electrical company without a 24 
finding that the transaction would provide a net benefit to the 25 
customers of the company.15 26 

                                                 
13 In re Application of PacifiCorp and Scottish Power plc, Docket No. UE-981672, Third Supplemental 

Order at 2, 3 (Mar. 1999). 
14 2008 Acquisition Order at ¶ 115. 
15 RCW 80.12.020 (emphasis added). 
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35.  The discussion that follows demonstrates that the Proposed Transactions 1 

are consistent with the public interest, and satisfy the standard under WAC 480-2 

143-170 for Commission approval. 3 

B. The Proposed Transactions Are Consistent with the Public Interest 4 

36.  The Proposed Transactions do not involve the acquisition of a controlling 5 

interest in PSE. The current owner of the 43.99% interest being transferred does 6 

not have sufficient voting power to make any decisions on its own, and with the 7 

transfer that interest will be spread over four entities, each of whom will have 8 

even less ability to influence Puget Holdings decision-making. Further, in the 9 

2008 Acquisition Order, the Commission evaluated Puget Holdings’ governance 10 

structure, and determined that anything less than a 55 percent share of the interest 11 

in Puget Holdings does not constitute a controlling interest, finding with respect 12 

to Macquarie interests that were initially proposed as 51.4 percent of Puget 13 

Holdings: 14 

[W]e note that although the Macquarie funds collectively own 15 
51 percent of Puget Holdings, they do not own a controlling interest 16 
because the governance structure requires the support of a 17 
55 percent or more majority of the voting stock for all decisions.16 18 

There have been no changes to the voting thresholds in Puget Holdings’ 19 

governance structure since the 2008 acquisition, and thus, in accordance with the 20 

2008 Acquisition Order, transfer of Macquarie’s 43.99 percent of Puget Holdings 21 

is not a transfer of a “controlling interest” in Puget Holdings. Moreover, the 22 

43.99 percent interest currently held by Macquarie is being acquired by multiple, 23 

                                                 
16 2008 Acquisition Order at ¶ 214 (emphasis added). See also id. at ¶¶ 40, 53, and 254 (reiterating 

finding that anything less than a 55 percent voting interest is not a controlling interest in Puget 
Holdings.) 
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independent, well-qualified, and long-term Purchasers, leaving no single investor 1 

with a controlling interest in Puget Holdings or PSE. Because the Proposed 2 

Transactions do not “result in a person, directly or indirectly, acquiring a 3 

controlling interest in a gas or electrical company,” the net benefit standard does 4 

not apply. 5 

37.  The Proposed Transactions are consistent with the public interest; there 6 

will be no harm to customers as a result of this transfer of a minority share of the 7 

indirect ownership of PSE to the Purchasers. Following the close of the Proposed 8 

Transactions, PSE’s customers and the communities it serves will see no change 9 

in the operation of PSE, as compared to PSE’s operations prior to the close of the 10 

Proposed Transactions. The overall corporate ownership structure will not change 11 

as a result of the Proposed Transactions. PSE will continue to be wholly-owned 12 

by Puget Energy and its ultimate parent company will continue to be Puget 13 

Holdings.17 The Proposed Transactions simply represent the transfer of a non-14 

controlling minority ownership interest from existing, long-term, well-qualified 15 

institutional investors in Puget Holdings to (i) two other existing well-qualified, 16 

institutional investors in Puget Holdings; and (ii) two new, well-qualified, 17 

institutional investors; with no change to PSE’s operations, management and 18 

commitment to its customers and the Commission. The Purchasers are long-term 19 

investors with no time-limited investment horizon. 20 

                                                 
17 As is currently the case, Puget Energy will continue to be wholly-owned by Puget Equico LLC, which 

will continue to be wholly-owned by Puget Intermediate Holdings Inc., which will continue to be 
wholly-owned by Puget Holdings. 
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38.  PSE is a well-run public service company that provides excellent service 1 

to a growing region. Under the private ownership that has been in place since 2 

2009, PSE has taken actions and made investments that benefit its customers and 3 

the community, and has worked constructively with the Commission and 4 

stakeholders. PSE intends to continue working with its customers and 5 

stakeholders to pursue these and other similar goals. 6 

39.  Some of the accomplishments PSE has made under private ownership in 7 

the last decade include: 8 

• Sustaining and growing a company-wide safety culture benefitting 9 
customers and employees, with emphasis on areas such as pipeline 10 
safety, gas leak detection and mitigation, emergency response 11 
services, and spill prevention and management, among others. 12 
Achievement of first quartile national electric utility ranking for 13 
employee safety for the last five years. 14 

• Helping Washington state transition away from coal, with the 15 
retirements of Colstrip Units 1 and 2 no later than July 2022 and 16 
the Centralia Coal Plant by 2025. 17 

• Bringing more clean energy to the Northwest with the expansion of 18 
the Wild Horse Wind Project, construction of the Lower Snake 19 
River Wind Project, and upgrades and modernization of the Baker 20 
River and Snoqualmie River hydroelectric facilities. PSE is the 21 
largest producer of wind energy in Washington state, and the third 22 
largest utility owner of wind power in the nation. 23 

• Investing $1 billion in customers’ homes and businesses to help 24 
them reduce their energy use and consistently exceed all state-25 
mandated energy conservation savings targets.  26 

• Creating an innovative industry-leading renewable energy program 27 
for PSE’s large business and municipal customers to enable 28 
100 percent renewable generation now. 29 

• Launching the Pacific Northwest’s first utility-led electric vehicle 30 
program with at-home fast charging units.  31 
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• Investing more than $7 billion in electric and natural gas projects, 1 
improving critical infrastructure on which PSE’s communities 2 
depend. 3 

 • Earning recognition as a national leader (first quartile) in 4 
Corporate Citizenship, Communications, Outage Information, 5 
Environmental Stewardship, Billing & Payment, Price, and Energy 6 
Efficiency by J. D. Power surveys 2017-2018. 7 

40.  The Proposed Transactions will allow PSE to continue its strong 8 

leadership providing clean energy in the region while also delivering safe, 9 

dependable, and affordable energy to its customers. 10 

C. The Purchasers Acknowledge and Affirm the Existing Commitments 11 
that Remain in Effect, and Have Agreed to Refresh Certain 12 
Commitments  13 

41.  PSE and Puget Holdings agreed to 63 commitments as part of the 2008 14 

Settlement Agreement that was approved by the Commission, with conditions, in 15 

the 2008 Acquisition Order. These commitments are comprehensive and address 16 

the following areas: (i) capital requirements; (ii) financial integrity; 17 

(iii) regulatory and ring fencing; (iv) staffing, management, and governance; 18 

(v) local presence; (vi) rates; (vii) quality of service; (viii) low-income assistance; 19 

and (ix) environmental, renewable energy, and energy efficiency. These 20 

commitments continue to be viewed as an industry standard and have served as a 21 

model for other utility mergers over the past decade. They have served PSE and 22 

its customers well for the past decade.  23 

42.  In their respective Purchase and Sale Agreements, Purchasers have each 24 

acknowledged and affirmed their support for PSE’s and Puget Holdings’ 25 

respective commitments that have been made, and approved by the Commission 26 
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in the following proceedings, to the extent that those commitments remain 1 

effective as of the transaction closing date:18 2 

• Commitments set forth in Attachments A and B to the 3 
2008 Acquisition Order; 4 

• Commitments intended to provide ring-fencing protections 5 
separating the operations and financing of PSE from Puget 6 
LNG LLC set forth in the LNG Order;19 and  7 

• Commitments relating to the Colstrip generating facility set forth 8 
in the Multiparty Settlement Stipulation and Agreement dated 9 
September 15, 2017 and approved by the Commission in the 2017 10 
GRC Order.20 11 

43.  Appendix 1 to this Joint Application provides an updated version of the 12 

commitments proposed by the Joint Applicants in this proceeding. Additionally, 13 

the Third Exhibit to the Prefiled Direct Testimony of David E. Mills, Exh. DEM-14 

4, provides a matrix, which compares the original commitments from the 2008 15 

Acquisition Order, as modified by the LNG Order, to the proposed commitments 16 

in Appendix 1 and provides an explanation for those commitments that have 17 

changed. Certain commitments have been updated to reflect current facts and 18 

circumstances and to clarify the wording of the commitments. One key update is 19 

the Purchasers’ commitment to support PSE’s goal to reduce its carbon footprint 20 

                                                 
18  Those commitments that have expired, or shall expire before the closing date of the Proposed 

Transactions, or that provide for a specific action which has been satisfied, shall not be considered as 
remaining in effect. 

19  In the Matter of the Petition of Puget Sound Energy, Inc. for (i) Approval of a Special Contract for 
Liquefied Natural Gas Fuel Service with Totem Ocean Trailer Express, Inc. and (ii) a Declaratory 
Order Approving the Methodology for Allocating Costs Between Regulated and Non-regulated 
Liquefied Natural Gas Services, Docket UG-151663, Order 10, Final Order Approving and Adopting 
Settlement Stipulation; Reopening Record and Amending Order 08 in Docket U-072375 (Nov. 1, 
2016) (the “LNG Order”). 

20  Wash. Utils. & Transp. Comm’n v. Puget Sound Energy, Dockets UE-170033 & UG-170034, Order 
08, Final Order Rejecting Tariff Sheets; Approving and Adopting Settlement Stipulation; Resolving 
Contested Issues; and Authorizing and Requiring Compliance Filing (Dec. 5, 2017) (the “2017 GRC 
Order”). 
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by 50 percent by 2040. Additionally, the proposed commitment list identifies 1 

those commitments that are either no longer relevant or have been previously 2 

fully satisfied and therefore are no longer in effect. However, no currently 3 

effective, ongoing commitments have been withdrawn, and the existing 4 

protections remain in force. 5 

VIII. OTHER REGULATORY APPROVALS 6 

44.  The Joint Applicants will seek all other approvals necessary to complete 7 

the Proposed Transactions, including FERC approval pursuant to Section 203 of 8 

the Federal Power Act; the United States Committee on Foreign Investment, 9 

pursuant to the Exon-Florio Amendment to the Defense Production Act of 1950; 10 

and any other consents and approvals as may be required. 11 

IX. DESCRIPTION OF THE TESTIMONY SUPPORTING THE 12 
JOINT APPLICATION  13 

45.  This Joint Application is supported by testimony from the following 14 

witnesses: 15 

• Kimberly J. Harris, President and Chief Executive 16 
Officer, PSE. Ms. Harris will provide an overview of 17 
PSE’s accomplishments under private ownership. She will 18 
testify that PSE anticipates no change in its day-to-day 19 
management and operations or its commitments to 20 
customers as a result of the Proposed Transactions. She will 21 
testify that the sale does not result in a change in a 22 
controlling interest. She will also testify that the Proposed 23 
Transactions are consistent with the public interest. 24 

• Daniel A. Doyle, Chief Financial Officer, PSE. Mr. Doyle will 25 
testify that the financial integrity commitments remain in place, 26 
and PSE and its customers will not be harmed by this change in a 27 
non-controlling interest in upstream owners. 28 
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• David E. Mills, Senior Vice President, Policy and Energy 1 
Supply, PSE. Mr. Mills will provide more detailed information 2 
with respect to PSE’s continuing operations and will explain that 3 
PSE plans to proceed with business as usual following the 4 
completion of the Proposed Transactions. He will also address the 5 
updated and proposed commitments. 6 

• Ahmed Mubashir, Portfolio Manager, Alberta Investment 7 
Management Corporation. Mr. Mubashir will testify regarding 8 
AIMCo’s desire to increase its equity interest in Puget Holdings by 9 
6.01 percent. He will further testify that PSE’s strong management 10 
and focus on environmental sustainability make it an attractive 11 
continued investment for AIMCo. He will testify that the 12 
transaction is consistent with the public interest. 13 

• Lincoln Webb, Senior Vice President, Infrastructure & 14 
Renewable Resources, BCI. Mr. Webb will testify regarding 15 
BCI’s desire to increase its equity interest in Puget Holdings by 16 
4.01 percent. He will testify that BCI has been fully supportive of 17 
PSE’s renewable energy and carbon reduction initiatives. He will 18 
testify that the transaction is consistent with the public interest.  19 

• Steven Zucchet, Managing Director, OMERS Infrastructure 20 
Management, Inc. Mr. Zucchet will introduce OAC and the 21 
OMERS pension plans it administers. He will describe OAC’s 22 
planned acquisition of a 23.94 percent interest in Puget Holdings 23 
and explain that OAC wishes to acquire an indirect ownership 24 
interest in PSE because PSE is a reputable, well-run utility with 25 
stable regulatory oversight and a strong management team. He will 26 
further testify that the transaction is consistent with the public 27 
interest. 28 

• Martijn Verwoest, Senior Investment Director, PGGM 29 
Vermogensbeheer B.V.. Mr. Verwoest will introduce PGGM and 30 
related entities. He will describe PGGM’s planned acquisition of a 31 
10.02 percent interest in Puget Holdings and explain why PGGM 32 
wishes to acquire an indirect ownership interest in PSE. He will 33 
testify that PGGM fully supports PSE’s management’s approach to 34 
provide safe, reliable, and affordable service to its customers as 35 
well as PSE’s sustainability efforts. He will further testify that the 36 
transaction is consistent with the public interest. 37 

46.  Also provided as Appendix 2 to this Joint Application are PSE’s most 38 

recent financial statements, dated as of June 30, 2018, as filed with the Securities 39 

and Exchange Commission. 40 
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XI. CONCLUSION AND RELIEF REQUESTED 1 

47.  The Joint Applicants respectfully request that the Commission approve the 2 

Proposed Transactions, by which Macquarie will sell all of its non-controlling, 3 

minority interest in Puget Holdings to four Purchasers. Upon completion of the 4 

Proposed Transactions, the two Purchasers who are currently investors in Puget 5 

Holdings will continue to own non-controlling, indirect ownership interests in 6 

PSE, and each of the new Purchasers will own a minority, non-controlling, 7 

indirect interest in PSE. All of the Purchasers are well-qualified investors with 8 

experience as owners of regulated utilities and energy investments.  9 

48.  This transfer of a non-controlling minority interest in upstream ownership 10 

will not harm customers. The Purchasers have acknowledged and affirmed 11 

support for the commitments that remain in effect, which among other things, 12 

protect customers from any potential risks associated with a change in upstream 13 

ownership. The day-to-day operations of PSE are expected to continue in a 14 

business as usual manner; PSE will continue providing safe, reliable, dependable 15 

and affordable service to its customers. Additionally, PSE will continue working 16 

with the Commission, stakeholders and customers to build on the 17 

accomplishments it has achieved under private ownership since 2009. These 18 

achievements include helping to transition the state of Washington away from 19 

coal; remaining a leader among utilities in conservation savings and wind 20 

generation; committing to reduce PSE’s carbon footprint by 50 percent by 2040; 21 

establishing and promoting a culture of safety for the benefit of employees and 22 

customers; and improving customer satisfaction. 23 
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49.  For the reasons set forth in this Joint Application and the supporting 1 

testimony and exhibits, the Joint Applicants respectfully request that the 2 

Commission issue an order approving the Proposed Transactions, in an 3 

expeditious manner. 4 

Dated: September 5, 2018. 5 

Respectfully submitted, 6 

Perkins Coie LLP 

By  /s/ Sheree Strom Carson  
Sheree Strom Carson, 

WSBA #25349 
Jason Kuzma, WSBA #31830 
David S. Steele, WSBA # 45640 
Perkins Coie LLP 
10885 NE 4th Street, Suite 700 
Bellevue, Washington 98004-5579 
Phone: (425) 635-1400 
Email: scarson@perkinscoie.com 
 jkuzma@perkinscoie.com 

Attorneys for Puget Sound Energy 

Sidley Austin LLP 

By  /s/ Stan Berman  
Stan Berman, WSBA #29898 
Sidley Austin LLP 
701 Fifth Ave., Suite 4200 
Seattle, Washington 98104 
Phone: (206) 262-7681 
Email: sberman@sidley.com 

Attorneys for Alberta Investment 
Management Corporation 
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Davis Wright Tremaine LLP 

By  /s/ Scott W. MacCormack  
Scott W. MacCormack, 

WSBA #23858 
Davis Wright Tremaine LLP 
1201 Third Avenue, Suite 2200 
Seattle, Washington 98101-3045 
Phone: (206) 757-8263 
Email: scottmaccormack@dwt.com 

Attorneys for British Columbia 
Investment Management 
Corporation 

McDowell Rackner Gibson PC 

By  /s/ Lisa Rackner  
Lisa Rackner, WSBA #39969 
Shoshana Baird, OSB #170790 
McDowell Rackner Gibson PC 
419 11th Ave, Suite 400 
Portland, Oregon 97205 
Phone: (503) 595-3925 
Email: lisa@mrg-law.com 

shoshana@mrg-law.com 

Attorneys for OMERS Administration 
Corporation 

Davis Wright Tremaine LLP 

By  /s/ Craig Gannett  
Craig Gannett, WSBA #9269 
Davis Wright Tremaine LLP 
1201 Third Avenue, Suite 2200 
Seattle, Washington 98101-3045 
Phone: (206) 757-8048 
Email: craiggannett@dwt.com 
 
Steven F. Greenwald, CSBN 66023 
Davis Wright Tremaine LLP 
505 Montgomery Street, Suite 800 
San Francisco, California 94111 
Phone: (415) 276-6528 
Email: stevegreenwald@dwt.com 

Attorneys for PGGM Vermogensbeheer B.V. 
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Certification to the Joint Application for Page 1 of 1 
Alberta Investment Management Corporation 

CERTIFICATION 

In accordance with WAC 480-143-140, I hereby certify under penalty of perjury 

under the laws of the State of Washington as set forth in RCW 9A.72.085 that the 

information included in the Application is true and correct to the best of my information 

and belief. 

Executed at , 

this ______ day of September, 2018. 

By 
On behalf of Alberta Investment 

Management Corporation 

Edmonton, Alberta, Canada

5th







CERTIFICATION 

In accordance with WAC 480-143-140, I hereby certify under penalty of perjury 

under the laws of the State of Washington as set forth in RCW 9A.72.085 that the 

information included in the Application is true and correct to the best of my information 

and belief. 

Executed at Zeist, the Netherlands 

this 5th day of September, 2018. 

By 
On behalf of PGGM Vermogensbe ee .V., 

in its capacity as fund manager of PGGM 
Infrastructure Fund 

Executed at Zeist, the Netherlands 

this 5th day of September, 2018. 

By 
W.R. Wehmeijer 
Attorney-in-fact 

On behalf of PGGM Vermogensbeheer B.V., 
in its capacity as fund manager of PGGM 
Infrastructure Fund 

Certification to the Joint Application for 
PGGM Vermogensbeheer B.V., in its capacity as 
fund manager of PGGM Infrastructure Fund 

Page 1 of 1 
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PROPOSED COMMITMENTS OF THE JOINT APPLICANTS IN 
SUPPORT OF THE PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS 

The following list sets forth those commitments offered by PSE, Alberta Investment Management 
Corporation, British Columbia Investment Management Corporation, OMERS Administration 
Corporation, and PGGM Vermogensbeheer B.V. in Docket U-180680. 

Definitions 

Certain terms used below were originally developed in reference to a specific underlying 
proceeding with different underlying transactions and parties. For the sake of clarity and for ease 
of reference, these terms are defined below, and are periodically clarified in the commitments 
where noted. 

“2008 Acquisition Order” means In the Matter of the Joint Application of Puget Holdings LLC 
and Puget Sound Energy, Inc., For an Order Authorizing Proposed Transaction, Docket U-072375, 
Order 08, Approving and Adopting Settlement Stipulation; Authorizing Transaction Subject to 
Conditions (Dec. 30, 2008). 

“2008 Transaction” means the transaction proposed in Docket U-072375, and which established 
the current PSE ownership structure. 

“2017 GRC Order” means Washington Utilities & Transportation Commission v. Puget Sound 
Energy, Dockets UE-170033 & UG-170034, Order 08, Final Order Rejecting Tariff Sheets; 
Approving and Adopting Settlement Stipulation; Resolving Contested Issues; and Authorizing and 
Requiring Compliance Filing (Dec. 5, 2017). 

“Commission” means the Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission. 

“Commission Staff” means the Staff of the Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission. 

“EBITDA” means earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization. 

“Joint Parties” means the signatories to the Multiparty Settlement Stipulation in Docket U-072375, 
including Puget Holdings, PSE, Commission Staff, Industrial Customers of Northwest Utilities, 
Northwest Industrial Gas Users, The Energy Project, NW Energy Coalition, and The Kroger 
Company.  

“LNG Order” means In the Matter of the Petition of Puget Sound Energy, Inc. for (i) Approval of 
a Special Contract for Liquefied Natural Gas Fuel Service with Totem Ocean Trailer Express, Inc. 
and (ii) a Declaratory Order Approving the Methodology for Allocating Costs Between Regulated 
and Non-regulated Liquefied Natural Gas Services, Docket UG-151663, Order 10 at 8, Final Order 
Approving and Adopting Settlement Stipulation; Reopening Record and Amending Order 08 in 
Docket U-072375 (Nov. 1, 2016). 
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“Proposed Transactions” mean the proposed transactions seeking Commission approval in 
Docket U-180680. 

“PSE” means Puget Sound Energy, Inc. 

“Public Counsel” means the Public Counsel Section of the Washington State Attorney General’s 
Office. 

“Puget Energy” means Puget Energy, Inc. 

“Puget Equico” means Puget Equico LLC. 

“Puget Holdings” means Puget Holdings LLC 

“Puget Intermediate” means Puget Intermediate Holdings Inc. 

“Puget LNG” means Puget LNG, LLC. 

Proposed Commitments 

1. PSE and Puget Holdings commit to continue the Service Quality measures currently in 
place for PSE or as may be modified in any future proceeding. 

2. Puget Holdings acknowledges PSE’s need for significant amounts of capital to invest in its 
energy supply and delivery infrastructure and commits that meeting these capital 
requirements will be considered a high priority by the Boards of Puget Holdings and PSE. 

3. Puget Holdings acknowledges PSE’s obligations under Washington’s Renewable Portfolio 
Standard and commits to support PSE with additional expertise and capital as necessary to 
enable PSE to fulfill those obligations. 

4. Puget Holdings commits to work with PSE to acquire all renewable energy resources 
required by law and such other renewable energy resources as may from time to time be 
deemed advisable in accordance with its biennial integrated resource planning process. 

5. Puget Holdings commits to and supports PSE’s goal to reduce its carbon footprint by 50 
percent by 2040. 

6. PSE will (i) maintain separate books and records; (ii) agree to prohibitions against loans or 
pledges of utility assets to Puget Energy or Puget Holdings, or any of their subsidiaries or 
affiliates, without Commission approval; and (iii) generally hold PSE customers harmless 
from any business and financial risk exposures associated with Puget Energy, Puget 
Holdings and its other affiliates.  

7. PSE will maintain separate debt and preferred stock, if any. PSE will maintain its own 
corporate and debt credit rating, as well as ratings for long-term debt and preferred stock. 

8. Puget Holdings and PSE commit that PSE will honor its labor contracts. 
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9. PSE will maintain its pension funding policy in accordance with sound actuarial practice. 

10. PSE and Puget Holdings will maintain staffing and presence in the communities in which 
PSE operates at levels sufficient to maintain the provision of safe and reliable service and 
cost-effective operations. 

11. At least one director of PSE will be an Independent Director who is not a member, 
stockholder, director (except as such Independent Director of PSE), officer, or employee 
of Puget Holdings or its affiliates. The organizational documents for PSE will not permit 
PSE, without the unanimous consent of all its directors including the Independent Director, 
to consent to the institution of bankruptcy proceedings or the inclusion of PSE in 
bankruptcy proceedings. The Chief Executive Officer of PSE will be a member of the board 
of PSE. The Puget Holdings governance will be on terms substantively the same as 
presented in the Draft LLC Agreement Term Sheet presented at hearing (Exhibit 63HC in 
Docket U-072375), including an Independent Manager as clarified by Exhibit 408 in 
Docket U-072375. The Puget Energy, Puget Intermediate, and Puget Equico governance 
agreements will also include an independent manager as clarified by Exhibits 409 and 410 
in Docket U-072375. The Puget Holdings, Puget Intermediate, Puget Equico, and Puget 
Energy governance agreements will be modified, as necessary, to require, in addition to 
supermajority member approval, supermajority Board approval, including the affirmative 
vote of the Independent Manager, of matters identified in Appendix C to the Draft LLC 
Agreement Term Sheet, subparts (D), (E) and (F). 

12. PSE and Puget Holdings commit that PSE and Puget Energy corporate headquarters will 
remain in PSE’s service territory. 

13. PSE and Puget Sound Energy Foundation will maintain its existing level of corporate 
contributions and community support in the State of Washington, as set forth in the current 
approved five-year business plan of PSE. 

14. Puget Holdings and PSE will make reasonable commitments, consistent with recent 
Commission merger orders, to provide access to PSE’s books and records; access to 
financial information and filings; audit rights with respect to the documents supporting any 
costs that may be allocable to PSE; and access to PSE’s board minutes, audit reports, and 
information provided to credit rating agencies pertaining to PSE. 

15. Affiliate Transactions, Cross-Subsidization: PSE agrees (i) to file cost allocation 
methodologies used to allocate Puget Energy or Puget Holdings related costs to PSE; (ii) 
to propose methods and standards for treatment of affiliate transactions; and (iii) that there 
will be no cross-subsidization by PSE customers of unregulated activities. The cost-
allocation methodology filed pursuant to this Commitment 15 will be a generic 
methodology that does not require Commission approval prior to its being proposed for 
specific application in a general rate case or other proceeding affecting rates. 

16. Transaction Costs: PSE and Puget Holdings agree that there will be no recovery of legal 
and financial advisory fees associated with the Proposed Transactions in rates and no 
recovery of the acquisition premium in rates. The scope of transaction costs in this 
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Commitment 16 includes any compensation of senior executives tied to the Proposed 
Transactions. 

17. PSE and Puget Holdings commit to maintain existing low-income programs or as such 
programs may be modified in any future proceeding. In addition, PSE and Puget Holdings 
commit to increase the budgeted funding of low-income energy efficiency programs in 
future years at a level commensurate with increases in funding for energy efficiency 
programs for other residential customers through the Conservation Resource Advisory 
Group (CRAG) process. 

18. PSE and Puget Holdings commit to continue to work with low-income agencies to address 
issues of low-income customers. 

19. Puget Holdings and PSE will not advocate for a higher cost of debt or equity capital as 
compared to what PSE’s cost of debt or equity capital would have been absent the change 
in ownership at Puget Holdings. 

For future ratemaking purposes Commitments 19, 20(a) and 6(iii) are clarified as follows: 

(a) Determination of PSE’s debt and equity costs will be no higher than such 
costs would have been assuming PSE’s credit ratings by S&P and Moody’s 
in effect on the day before the Proposed Transactions closed and applying 
those credit ratings to then-current debt and equity markets, unless PSE 
proves that a lower credit rating is caused by circumstances or developments 
not the result of financial risks or other characteristics of the Proposed 
Transactions. 

(b) Determination of the allowed return on equity in future general rate cases 
will include selection and use of one or more proxy group(s) of companies 
engaged in businesses substantially similar to PSE, without any limitation 
related to PSE’s ownership structure. 

20. In furtherance of Commitment 6: 

(a) Puget Holdings and PSE commit that PSE’s customers will be held 
harmless from the liabilities of any non-regulated activity of PSE or Puget 
Holdings. In any proceeding before the Commission involving rates of PSE, 
the fair rate of return for PSE will be determined without regard to any 
adverse consequences that are demonstrated to be attributable to the non-
regulated activities. Any new non-regulated subsidiary will be established 
as a subsidiary of either Puget Holdings, Puget Intermediate, or Puget 
Energy rather than as a subsidiary of PSE. Measures providing for separate 
financial and accounting treatment will be established for each non-
regulated activity. 

(b) Puget Holdings and PSE will notify the Commission subsequent to Puget 
Holdings’ board approval and as soon as practicable following any public 
announcement of: (1) any acquisition of a regulated or unregulated business 
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representing 5 percent or more of the capitalization of Puget Holdings; or 
(2) the change in effective control or acquisition of any material part of PSE 
by any other firm, whether by merger, combination, transfer of stock or 
assets. 

(c) Neither PSE nor Puget Holdings will assert in any future proceedings that 
the Commission is without jurisdiction over any transaction that results in a 
change of control of PSE. 

As regards Commitments 20(b), 20(c) and 22(c), within 14 days following the notice 
required by Commitment 20(b) PSE and Puget Holdings will seek Commission approval 
of any sale or transfer of: (1) any part of PSE that will give a new or existing member of 
Puget Holdings effective control of PSE, either in terms of ownership shares, or in terms 
of voting power under the then-applicable Puget Holdings LLC Agreement, or; (2) any 
material part of PSE. The term “material part of PSE” means any sale or transfer of stock 
representing ten percent or more of the equity ownership of Puget Holdings or PSE. 
(Exhibit 419 in Docket U-072375) No sale or transfer subject to Commitment 26(b) may 
close prior to approval by the Commission 

21. In furtherance of Commitment 19: 

(a) PSE and Puget Holdings will maintain the necessary books and records so 
as to provide an audit trail for all corporate, affiliate, or subsidiary 
transactions with PSE, or that result in costs that may be allocable to PSE. 

(b) PSE will provide Commission Staff and Public Counsel access to books and 
records (including those of Puget Holdings, including reports produced by 
Puget Holdings for its members, or any affiliate or subsidiary companies) 
required to be accessed to verify or examine transactions with PSE, or that 
result in costs that may be allocable to PSE. The Proposed Transactions will 
not result in reduced access to the necessary books and records that relate 
to transactions with PSE, or that result in costs that may be allocable to PSE, 
and the Proposed Transactions and resulting corporate structure will not be 
used by PSE as a basis to oppose requests for such books and records made 
by the Commission or by Commission Staff or Public Counsel. 

(c) Nothing in the Proposed Transactions will limit or affect the Commission’s 
rights with respect to inspection of accounts, books, papers and documents 
of PSE pursuant to RCW 80.04.070 or RCW 80.16.030. Nothing in the 
Proposed Transactions will limit or affect the Commission’s rights with 
respect to inspection of accounts, books, papers and documents of Puget 
Holdings pursuant to RCW 80.16.030; provided, that such right to 
inspection shall be limited to those accounts, books, papers and documents 
of Puget Holdings that pertain to transactions affecting PSE’s regulated 
utility operations. 
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(d) Puget Holdings and PSE will provide the Commission with access to 
written information provided by and to credit rating agencies that pertains 
to PSE. Puget Holdings and each of its members will also provide the 
Commission with access to written information provided by and to credit 
rating agencies that pertains to Puget Holdings’ subsidiaries to the extent 
such information may potentially affect PSE. 

22. In furtherance of Commitment 15: 

(a) If and when any subsidiary of PSE becomes a subsidiary of Puget Holdings, 
Puget Intermediate, or Puget Energy, PSE will so advise the Commission 
within thirty (30) days and will submit to the Commission a written 
document setting forth PSE’s proposed corporate and affiliate cost 
allocation methodologies. 

(b) PSE will notify the Commission of any change in corporate structure that 
affects PSE’s corporate and affiliate cost allocation methodologies. PSE 
will propose revisions to such cost allocation methodologies to 
accommodate such changes. PSE will not argue that compliance with this 
provision constitutes approval by the Commission of a particular 
methodology for corporate and affiliate cost allocation. 

(c) PSE and Puget Holdings will comply with all applicable provisions of Title 
80 RCW, including those pertaining to transfers of property under Chapter 
80.12 RCW, affiliated interests under Chapter 80.16 RCW, and securities 
and the assumption of obligations and liabilities under Chapter 80.08 RCW. 

(d) With respect to the ratemaking treatment of affiliate transactions, PSE and 
Puget Holdings will comply with the Commission’s then-existing practice; 
provided, however, that nothing in this Commitment limits PSE from also 
proposing a different ratemaking treatment for the Commission’s 
consideration or limit the positions any other party may take with respect to 
ratemaking treatment. 

(e) PSE will bear the burden of proof in any general rate case that any corporate 
and affiliate cost allocation methodology it proposes is reasonable for 
ratemaking purposes. Neither PSE nor Puget Holdings will contest the 
Commission’s authority to disallow, for retail ratemaking purposes in a 
general rate case, unsupported, unreasonable, or misallocated costs from 
non-regulated or affiliate businesses to PSE’s regulated utility operations. 

23. PSE and Puget Holdings acknowledge that all existing orders issued by the Commission 
with respect to PSE or its predecessors, Puget Sound Power & Light Company and 
Washington Natural Gas Company, will remain in effect, and are not modified or otherwise 
affected by the Proposed Transactions or any order of the Commission approving the 
Proposed Transactions. Notwithstanding the immediately preceding sentence, the 
Commission’s Order Accepting Stipulation and Approving Corporate Reorganization to 
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Create a Holding Company, With Conditions, dated August 15, 2000, in Docket No. UE-
991779 is acknowledged to be superseded and replaced in its entirety by the 2008 
Acquisition Order. 

24. Nothing in these Commitments shall be interpreted as a waiver of Puget Holdings’ or PSE’s 
rights to request confidential treatment for information that is the subject of any of the 
Commitments. 

25. PSE and Puget Holdings understand that the Commission has authority to enforce these 
Commitments in accordance with their terms. If there is a technical violation of the terms 
of these Commitments, then the offending party may, at the discretion of the Commission, 
have a period of thirty (30) calendar days to cure such technical violation. The scope of 
this Commitment 25 includes the authority of the Commission to compel from Puget 
Holdings and Puget Energy the attendance of witnesses pertinent to matters affecting PSE. 
Puget Holdings waives its right to interpose any legal objection it might otherwise have to 
the Commission’s jurisdiction to require the appearance of any such witnesses 

26. Puget Holdings and PSE acknowledge that the Commitments are being made by Puget 
Holdings and PSE and are binding only upon them (and their affiliates where noted). Puget 
Holdings and PSE are not requesting in this proceeding a determination of the prudence, 
just and reasonable character, rate or ratemaking treatment, or public interest of the 
investments, expenditures or actions referenced in the Commitments, and the Parties in 
appropriate proceedings may take such positions regarding the prudence, just and 
reasonable character, rate or ratemaking treatment, or public interest of the investments, 
expenditures or actions as they deem appropriate. The Commitments made by Puget 
Holdings and PSE also are binding, upon their successors in interest. 

27. PSE will have a common equity ratio of not less than 44 percent, except to the extent a 
lower equity ratio is established for ratemaking purposes by the Commission. PSE and 
Puget Holdings represent that Puget Holdings is not prohibited from issuing new equity to 
third parties. PSE and Puget Holdings will not amend the LLC Agreement or other 
transaction documents to prohibit Puget Holdings from issuing new equity to third parties 
(including public markets). The transaction documents also permit PSE to issue certain 
hybrid securities to third parties (including public markets) and Puget Holdings. If Puget 
Holdings makes a new equity issuance for the purpose of (i) contributing the proceeds 
thereof (through its relevant subsidiaries) to Puget Energy or PSE, or (ii) applying the 
proceeds thereof toward the purchase from PSE of hybrid securities that are permitted to 
be issued under the transaction documents, the proceeds of any such new equity issuances 
by Puget Holdings shall be used for such purpose. PSE and Puget Holdings will provide 
an annual certificate of an officer of Puget Holdings certifying that neither Puget Holdings 
nor PSE is prohibited from undertaking the transactions described above. 

28. PSE shall not be permitted to declare or make any PSE distribution unless, on the date of 
such PSE distribution, the PSE common equity ratio after giving effect to such PSE 
distribution is not less than 44%, except to the extent a lower equity ratio is established for 
ratemaking purposes by the Commission. 



Appendix 1 to the Joint Application Page 8 of 14 

29. Puget Energy may not declare or make a Puget Energy distribution, unless on the date of 
such Puget Energy distribution, the ratio of consolidated EBITDA to consolidated interest 
expense for the most recently ended four fiscal quarter period prior to such date is equal or 
greater than 2.00 to 1.00. 

30. All of the common stock of Puget Energy shall be owned by Puget Equico, a Washington 
limited liability company. Puget Equico shall be a wholly-owned subsidiary of Puget 
Intermediate. Puget Equico shall be a bankruptcy-remote special purpose entity, and shall 
not have debt. 

31. Each of Puget Energy and PSE will continue to be rated by both Standard & Poor’s Ratings 
Group and Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. 

32. PSE shall not declare or make any distribution, unless, on the date of such distribution, 
either: 

(a) The ratio of PSE EBITDA to PSE interest expense for the most recently 
ended four fiscal quarter period prior to such date is equal or greater than 
3.00 to 1.00; or 

(b) PSE’s corporate credit/issuer rating is at least BBB- (or its then equivalent) 
with S&P and Baa3 (or its then equivalent) with Moody’s. 

However, if PSE satisfies part (a) above but its corporate credit/issuer rating is downgraded 
to a level below BBB- (or its then equivalent) with Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group or 
Baa3 (or its then equivalent) with Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., then PSE shall provide 
notice to the Commission of such downgrade within two business days of PSE’s receipt of 
notice of such downgrade. Following such downgrade, distributions by PSE to Puget 
Energy shall be limited to an amount sufficient (i) to service debt at Puget Energy, and (ii) 
to satisfy financial covenants in the credit facilities of Puget Energy, and distributions by 
Puget Energy to Puget Equico shall cease. If PSE seeks to make any distribution to Puget 
Energy greater than such amount and Puget Energy seeks to make any distribution to Puget 
Equico whatsoever, PSE and Puget Energy shall within forty-five calendar days of such 
downgrade (or earlier if PSE anticipates that such a downgrade may be forthcoming) file a 
petition with the Commission to show cause why (i) PSE should be permitted to make any 
distribution to Puget Energy in excess of such amount and (ii) Puget Energy should be 
permitted to make any distribution to Puget Equico. It is the expectation of the Joint Parties 
that the Commission within sixty (60) days after PSE’s and Puget Energy’s filing of such 
petition will issue an order granting or denying such petition. In considering such petition, 
due consideration shall be given to the financial performance and credit rating of PSE and 
to whether PSE has, and is expected to achieve, financial metrics that fall within the ranges 
used by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group and Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. for 
investment grade-rated utility companies and any changes in such ranges since the date of 
closing of the 2008 Transaction; provided that nothing in this commitment shall prohibit 
the parties from advancing any arguments regarding factors the Commission should 
consider. If PSE’s corporate credit/issuer rating is subsequently upgraded to BBB- (or its 
then equivalent) or above with Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group or Baa3 (or its then 
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equivalent) or above with Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., then PSE shall provide notice 
to the Commission of such upgrade within two business days of PSE’s receipt of notice of 
such upgrade, and neither PSE nor Puget Energy shall be subject to any dividend restriction 
pursuant to this Commitment as of the date PSE provides such notice to the Commission. 

Commitments 28, 29, and 32, which limit upward dividends or distributions from PSE to 
Puget Energy and from Puget Energy to Puget Equico, are clarified as follows: 

(a) If the ratio of PSE EBITDA to PSE interest expense is equal to or greater 
than 3.0 and PSE’s corporate credit/issuer rating with S&P and Moody’s (or 
their then equivalents) is investment grade, distributions from PSE to Puget 
Energy are not limited so long as PSE’s equity ratio is equal to or greater 
than 44 percent [Commitment 28] and distributions from Puget Energy to 
Puget Equico are not limited so long as consolidated PSE/Puget Energy 
EBITDA to consolidated PSE/Puget Energy interest expense is equal to or 
greater than 2.0. [Commitment 29] 

(b) If the ratio of PSE EBITDA to PSE interest expense is less than 3.0, but 
PSE’s corporate credit/issuer rating with S&P and Moody’s (or their then 
equivalents) is investment grade, distributions from PSE to Puget Energy 
are not limited so long as PSE’s equity ratio is equal to or greater than 44 
percent [Commitment 28] and distributions from Puget Energy to Puget 
Equico are not limited so long as consolidated PSE/Puget Energy EBITDA 
to consolidated PSE/Puget Energy interest expense is equal to or greater 
than 2.0. [Commitment 29] 

(c) If the ratio of PSE EBITDA to PSE interest expense is equal to or greater 
than 3.0, but PSE’s corporate credit/issuer rating with either S&P or 
Moody’s (or their then equivalents) is not investment grade, distributions 
from PSE to Puget Energy are limited as specified in Commitments 28 and 
32, unless allowed by specific Commission approval. No distributions are 
allowed from Puget Energy to Puget Equico. 

(d) If the ratio of PSE EBITDA to PSE interest expense is less than 3.0 and 
PSE’s corporate credit/issuer rating with either S&P or Moody’s (or their 
then equivalents) is not investment grade, no distributions are allowed from 
PSE to Puget Energy and no distributions are allowed from Puget Energy 
to Puget Equico. 

33. Puget Holdings and PSE commit that (i) the board of directors of PSE will include at least 
three directors who are residents of the region, one of whom shall be the chief executive 
officer of PSE, and (ii) the board of directors of Puget Energy will include at least two 
directors who are residents of the region, one of whom shall be the chief executive officer 
of PSE. The term “regional” as it applies to Commitment 33 means Washington State. 

34. PSE will to the extent practical, comply with the rules applicable to a registrant under 
NYSE rules. Please see Exhibit No. 81 (EMM-11) at pages 1-4 in Docket U-072375 for an 
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analysis of PSE’s present reporting and governance obligations under NYSE Corporate 
Governance Standards. Such analysis identifies the applicable NYSE rule, describes the 
current requirement, describes the post-closing requirement, and sets forth PSE’s post-
closing commitment with respect to each requirement in the event a current requirement is 
not a continuing obligation. Such analysis also details the requirements of the NYSE with 
respect to the following: 

(a) annual report availability, 

(b) interim financial statements, 

(c) independent directors, 

(d) director executive sessions, 

(e) communication with non-management directors, 

(f) nominating and governance committee matters, 

(g) compensation committee matters, 

(h) the audit committee and committee membership, 

(i) the internal audit function, 

(j) corporate governance guidelines, 

(k) disclosure of corporate governance guidelines, 

(l) code of business conduct and ethics, and 

(m) officer certification. 

Puget Energy and PSE will each comply with applicable NYSE rules and the requirements 
of the Sarbanes–Oxley Act as specified in Exhibit 422, Attachment A, column entitled 
“post-closing commitment” in Docket U-072375. Unless the Commission approves 
otherwise, Puget Energy and PSE will comply with any new NYSE rules, or rules not 
covered in Exhibit 422 in Docket U-072375. The independent managers or directors on the 
PSE, Puget Energy, and Puget Holdings boards will be members of the 
nominating/governance, compensation, and audit committees and their affirmative vote 
will be required on all matters subject to vote. 

35. Puget Energy and PSE will continue to make the same SEC financial reporting 
requirements after closing of the Proposed Transactions with respect to the following: 

(a) Section 13(a) disclosure requirements, 

(b) Section 15(d) disclosure requirements, and 
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(c) indenture covenants disclosure requirements. 

36. PSE and Puget Holdings commit to the following commitments with respect to the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act for both PSE and Puget Energy: 

(a) Section 201 guidance on the use of outside auditors, 

(b) Section 202 pre-approval requirements with respect to the engagement and 
compensation of auditors, 

(c) Section 203 requirements with respect to audit partner rotation, 

(d) Section 204 guidance with respect to the requirements of auditor reports to 
audit committees, 

(e) Section 206 guidance with respect to auditor conflicts of interest, 

(f) Section 301 requirements with respect to audit committee requirements, 

(g) Section 302 requirements with respect to corporate responsibility for 
financial reports, 

(h) Section 401 requirements with respect to the form and content of periodic 
and annual reports, 

(i) Section 403 requirements with respect to disclosures of certain transactions 
involving management and shareholders, 

(j) Section 404 requirements with respect to management assessment of 
internal controls, 

(k) Section 406 requirements with respect to the code of ethics for senior 
financial officers, 

(l) Section 407 requirements with respect to disclosure of audit committee 
financial expert, and 

(m) Section 906 requirements with respect to corporate responsibility for 
financial statements. 

37. PSE will continue to meet all the applicable FERC reporting requirements with respect to 
annual reports (FERC Form 1) and quarterly reports (FERC Form 3) after closing of the 
Proposed Transactions. 

38. PSE will (i) continue to offer customers the investment cost recovery incentive authorized 
by RCW 82.16.120 each year for as long as the law is in effect and (ii) dedicate resources 
to market and promote net metering. Such a commitment, however, is contingent on the 
continuation of implementing tariffs supporting such net metering programs on file with 
the Commission. 
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39. PSE will continue to actively participate in national and regional forums regarding 
transmission issues, pricing policies, siting requirements, and interconnection and 
integration policies. 

40. PSE will continue to produce an annual greenhouse gas emissions inventory report, 
including an inventory of total emissions from each of the sources listed in Table 2-1 of 
PSE’s 2006 Greenhouse Gas Inventory Report, and make such greenhouse gas emissions 
inventory report available to its customers and stakeholders. 

41. Puget Energy shall not operate or own any business other than PSE and Puget LNG (“Puget 
LNG”). Puget LNG shall be a special purpose entity formed by Puget Energy solely for the 
purposes of owning, developing, and financing, as a tenant-in common with PSE, an LNG 
facility at the Port of Tacoma (the “Tacoma LNG Facility”).  

42. PSE and Puget Holdings commit that the current and any future capital expenditure credit 
facilities will by their terms limit the use of such funds only for financing capital 
expenditures of PSE and Puget LNG. Quarterly officer certificates under each of the credit 
facilities of Puget Energy and PSE will be made available to the Commission and other 
interested parties, upon request and subject to the protective order in Docket No. U-072375.  

43. PSE’s customers will be held harmless from the liabilities and financial losses of any non-
regulated activity of the Tacoma LNG Facility, including any non-regulated activity of 
Puget LNG. Puget Energy guarantees and will hold PSE’s customers harmless from all 
liabilities and financial losses of Puget LNG resulting from: 

(i) any non-regulated activity of the Tacoma LNG Facility, including the sale 
or assignment of the assets of Puget LNG to a third party; and 

(ii) circumstances in which Puget LNG or any successor to Puget LNG (a) 
becomes insolvent or is unable to pay its debts when due, (b) files a petition 
in bankruptcy, reorganization or similar proceedings (and if filed against, 
such petition is not removed within 90 days), (c) discontinues its business, 
or (d) a receiver is appointed or there is an assignment for the benefit of 
creditors of Puget LNG. 

44. PSE will notify the Commission of any potential sale or transfer of all or substantially all 
of the assets of the Tacoma LNG Facility or the potential sale or transfer of Puget LNG’s 
non-regulated operations. PSE must give this notice as soon as practicable. 

45. At closure of Colstrip Units 1 and 2, PSE shall offset all additional unrecovered plant 
balances for Colstrip Units 1 and 2 with monetized production tax credits (“PTCs”). PSE 
assumes the risk that it is unable to monetize the PTCs to offset additional unrecovered 
plant balances for Colstrip Units 1 and 2; provided, however that if Colstrip Units 1 and 2 
close prior to the monetization of sufficient PTCs to offset additional unrecovered plant 
balances for Colstrip Units 1 and 2, PSE shall hold remaining unrecovered plant balances 
of Colstrip Units 1 and 2 in a regulatory asset in rate base until the earlier to occur of (i) 
the recovery of all plant balances for Colstrip Units 1 and 2 through monetized PTC offsets 
or (ii) December 31, 2029. 
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46. PSE shall place PTCs as they are monetized in a second, more flexible account not 
established pursuant to Chapter 80.84 RCW. PSE shall use the monetized PTCs in the 
second account in accordance with the following priority for use: (i) to fund community 
transition planning funds of $5 million, as identified in paragraph 118 of the Settlement in 
Dockets UE-170033 & UG-170034; (ii) to recover unrecovered plant balances for Colstrip 
Units 1 through 4; and (iii) to fund and recover prudently incurred decommissioning and 
remediation costs for Colstrip Units 1 through 4. The account shall be consistent with the 
discussion of the account set forth in the Prefiled Rebuttal Testimony of Ms. Katherine J. 
Barnard, Exh. KJB-17T in Dockets UE-170033 & UG-170034. 

47. PSE shall engage in a process with stakeholders to develop a community transition plan, 
including a funding mechanism, to address the transitioning of PSE’s interest in the 
community of Colstrip, Montana. PSE shall contribute the following amounts to the 
community transition plan: (i) $5 million of shareholder dollars and (ii) $5 million of 
monetized PTCs. PSE shall place the $5 million of shareholder dollars in an escrow account 
(the “Escrow Account”) by the end of calendar year 2018. PSE shall place $5 million of 
monetized PTCs, when available, from the account established pursuant to paragraph 117 
of the Settlement in Dockets UE-170033 & UG-170034 in the Escrow Account. All such 
funds shall remain in the Escrow Account until such time that there is a community 
transition plan, including a funding mechanism, in place. 

48. Beginning in 2018, on or before December 1 of each year, PSE shall provide the 
Commission an annual report containing the following: 

(i) the most recent estimate of the actual retirement date for Colstrip Units 1 
and 2 and Colstrip Units 3 and/or 4; 

(ii) in the event of an estimated retirement date earlier than July 1, 2022, for 
Colstrip Units 1 and 2, and upon the determination by PSE of an estimated 
retirement date for Colstrip Units 3 and/or 4, a discussion and evaluation of 
consequences to customers arising from those estimated retirement dates; 

(iii) decommissioning and remediation expenditures associated with Colstrip 
units since the time of the last report and updated estimates of future costs; 

(iv) an evaluation of the sufficiency of the retirement account established 
pursuant to Chapter 80.84 RCW to fund and recover decommissioning and 
remediation activities for Colstrip Units 1 and 2; 

(v) an evaluation of the sufficiency of existing depreciation rates for Colstrip 
Units 3 and 4 to cover decommissioning and remediation costs for those 
units; and 

(vi) for years in which PSE issues an Integrated Resource Plan, updated 
replacement power costs. 

49. PSE is working with NorthWestern Energy and the other Colstrip Transmission System 
owners on the design and staffing of an operational study of transfer capability of the 
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Colstrip Transmission System after Colstrip Units 1 and 2 retire. PSE agrees to work in 
good faith with the other Colstrip Transmission System owners to have this study 
completed by June 30, 2018. Upon completion of the study, study results will be submitted 
to the Commission and interested stakeholders, subject to the consent of the other Colstrip 
Transmission System owners and subject to disclosure restrictions, such as restrictions on 
disclosure of Critical Energy Infrastructure Information and non-public transmission 
information. 
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DEFINITIONS

ARO Asset Retirement and Environmental Obligations
ASU Accounting Standards Update
ASC Accounting Standards Codification
EBITDA Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortization
EIM Energy Imbalance Market
ERF Expedited Rate Filing
FASB Financial Accounting Standards Board
GAAP U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
GRC General Rate Case
ISDA International Swaps and Derivatives Association
LIBOR London Interbank Offered Rate
LNG Liquefied Natural Gas
MMBtu One Million British Thermal Units
MWh Megawatt Hour (one MWh equals one thousand kWh)
NAESB North American Energy Standards Board
NPNS Normal Purchase Normal Sale
PCA Power Cost Adjustment
PCORC Power Cost Only Rate Case
PGA Purchased Gas Adjustment
PTC Production Tax Credit
PSE Puget Sound Energy, Inc.
Puget Energy Puget Energy, Inc.
Puget Holdings Puget Holdings, LLC
Puget LNG Puget Liquid Natural Gas
REP Residential Exchange Program
SERP Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan
TCJA Tax Cuts and Jobs Act
Washington Commission Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission
WSPP WSPP, Inc.
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 FILING FORMAT
This report on Form 10-Q is a Quarterly Report filed separately by two registrants, Puget Energy, Inc. (Puget Energy) and 

Puget Sound Energy, Inc. (PSE).  Any references in this report to “the Company” are to Puget Energy and PSE collectively.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Puget Energy and PSE include the following cautionary statements in this Form 10-Q to make applicable and to take advantage 

of the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 for any forward-looking statements made by 
or on behalf of Puget Energy or PSE.  This report includes forward-looking statements, which are statements of expectations, 
beliefs, plans, objectives and assumptions of future events or performance.  Words or phrases such as “anticipates,” “believes,” 
“continues,” “could,” “estimates,” “expects,” “future,” “intends,” “may,” “might,” “plans,” “potential,” “predicts,” “projects,” 
“should,” “will likely result,” “will continue” or similar expressions are intended to identify certain of these forward-looking 
statements and may be included in discussion of, among other things, our anticipated operating or financial performance, business 
plans and prospects, planned capital expenditures and other future expectations.  In particular, these include statements relating 
to future actions, business plans and prospects, future performance expenses, the outcome of contingencies, such as legal 
proceedings, government regulation and financial results.

Forward-looking statements reflect current expectations and involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results or 
outcomes to differ materially from those expressed.  There can be no assurance that Puget Energy’s and PSE’s expectations, beliefs 
or projections will be achieved or accomplished.  

In addition to other factors and matters discussed elsewhere in this report, some important risks that could cause actual results 
or outcomes for Puget Energy and PSE to differ materially from past results and those discussed in the forward-looking statements 
include:

Governmental policies and regulatory actions, including those of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) 
and the Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission (Washington Commission), that may affect our ability to 
recover costs and earn a reasonable return, including but not limited to disallowance or delays in the recovery of capital 
investments and operating costs and discretion over allowed return on investment;
Changes in, adoption of and compliance with laws and regulations, including decisions and policies concerning the 
environment, climate change, greenhouse gas or other emissions or by products of electric generation (including coal 
ash or other substances), natural resources, and fish and wildlife (including the Endangered Species Act) as well as the 
risk of litigation arising from such matters, whether involving public or private claimants or regulatory investigative or 
enforcement measures;
Changes in tax law, related regulations or differing interpretation, including as a result of the TCJA, or enforcement of 
applicable law by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) or other taxing jurisdiction; and PSE's ability to recover costs in 
a timely manner arising from such changes;
Inability to realize deferred tax assets and use production tax credits (PTCs) due to insufficient future taxable income;
Accidents or natural disasters, such as hurricanes, windstorms, earthquakes, floods, fires and landslides, and other acts 
of God, terrorism, asset-based or cyber-based attacks, pandemic or similar significant events, which can interrupt service 
and lead to lost revenue, cause temporary supply disruptions and/or price spikes in the cost of fuel and raw materials 
and impose extraordinary costs;
Commodity price risks associated with procuring natural gas and power in wholesale markets from creditworthy 
counterparties;
Wholesale market disruption, which may result in a deterioration of market liquidity, increase the risk of counterparty 
default, affect the regulatory and legislative process in unpredictable ways, negatively affect wholesale energy prices 
and/or impede PSE's ability to manage its energy portfolio risks and procure energy supply, affect the availability and 
access to capital and credit markets and/or impact delivery of energy to PSE from its suppliers;
Financial difficulties of other energy companies and related events, which may affect the regulatory and legislative 
process in unpredictable ways, adversely affect the availability of and access to capital and credit markets and/or impact 
delivery of energy to PSE from its suppliers;
The effect of wholesale market structures (including, but not limited to, regional market designs or transmission 
organizations) or other related federal initiatives;
PSE electric or natural gas distribution system failure, blackouts or large curtailments of transmission systems (whether 
PSE's or others'), or failure of the interstate natural gas pipeline delivering to PSE's system, all of which can affect PSE's 
ability to deliver power or natural gas to its customers and generating facilities;
Electric plant generation and transmission system outages, which can have an adverse impact on PSE's expenses with 
respect to repair costs, added costs to replace energy or higher costs associated with dispatching a more expensive 
generation resource;
The ability to restart generation following a regional transmission disruption;
The ability of a natural gas or electric plant to operate as intended;
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Changes in climate or weather conditions in the Pacific Northwest, which could have effects on customer usage and 
PSE's revenue and expenses;
Regional or national weather, which could impact PSE's ability to procure adequate supplies of natural gas, fuel or 
purchased power to serve its customers and the cost of procuring such supplies;
Variable hydrological conditions, which can impact streamflow and PSE's ability to generate electricity from hydroelectric 
facilities;
Variable wind conditions, which can impact PSE's ability to generate electricity from wind facilities;
The ability to renew contracts for electric and natural gas supply and the price of renewal;
Industrial, commercial and residential growth and demographic patterns in the service territories of PSE;
General economic conditions in the Pacific Northwest, which may impact customer consumption or affect PSE's accounts 
receivable;
The loss of significant customers, changes in the business of significant customers or the condemnation of PSE's facilities 
as a result of municipalization or other government action or negotiated settlement, which may result in changes in 
demand for PSE's services;
The failure of information systems or the failure to secure information system data, which may impact the operations 
and cost of PSE's customer service, generation, distribution and transmission;
Opposition and social activism that may hinder PSE's ability to perform work or construct infrastructure;
Capital market conditions, including changes in the availability of capital and interest rate fluctuations;
Employee workforce factors, including strikes, work stoppages, availability of qualified employees or the loss of a key 
executive;
The ability to obtain insurance coverage, the availability of insurance for certain specific losses, and the cost of such 
insurance;
The ability to maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting and operational processes;
Changes in Puget Energy's or PSE's credit ratings, which may have an adverse impact on the availability and cost of 
capital for Puget Energy or PSE generally; and
Deteriorating values of the equity, fixed income and other markets which could significantly impact the value of 
investments of PSE's retirement plan, post-retirement medical benefit plan trusts and the funding of obligations thereunder.

Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which such statement is made, and, except as required by law, 
the Company undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after the date 
on which such statement is made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.  New factors emerge from time to time and 
it is not possible for management to predict all such factors, nor can it assess the impact of any such factor on the business or the 
extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-
looking statement.  For further information, see Item 1A, “Risk Factors” in the Company's most recent Annual Report on Form 
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017.
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PART I                    FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1.                      Financial Statements

PUGET ENERGY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(Dollars in Thousands)
(Unaudited)

 
Three Months Ended

June 30,
Six Months Ended

June 30,
  2018 2017 2018 2017
Operating revenue:    

Electric $ 501,510 $ 529,807 $1,201,196 $1,198,792
Natural gas 160,196 180,105 490,480 580,169
Other 10,146 9,855 18,184 18,038

Total operating revenue 671,852 719,767 1,709,860 1,796,999
Operating expenses:    
Energy costs:    

Purchased electricity 129,114 129,799 283,320 309,381
Electric generation fuel 29,750 34,163 72,173 85,473
Residential exchange (16,091) (15,121) (40,035) (38,568)
Purchased natural gas 53,872 63,183 181,487 215,984
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivative instruments, net (6,911) 3,834 (7,907) 23,121

Utility operations and maintenance 140,131 145,555 300,655 297,618
Non-utility expense and other 8,419 6,144 21,249 11,339
Depreciation and amortization 152,105 119,457 336,617 234,710
Conservation amortization 24,025 25,691 60,888 60,453
Taxes other than income taxes 73,347 77,032 184,535 195,731
Total operating expenses 587,761 589,737 1,392,982 1,395,242
Operating income (loss) 84,091 130,030 316,878 401,757
Other income (expense):    

Other income 8,116 6,263 21,573 12,223
Other expense (2,330) (2,042) (4,428) (3,257)
Non-hedged interest rate swap (expense) income — — — 28

Interest charges:    
AFUDC 3,318 2,555 6,201 4,730
Interest expense (86,084) (88,409) (174,410) (176,991)

Income (loss) before income taxes 7,111 48,397 165,814 238,490
Income tax (benefit) expense 3,469 13,122 15,272 75,665
Net income (loss) $ 3,642 $ 35,275 $ 150,542 $ 162,825

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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PUGET ENERGY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Dollars in Thousands)
(Unaudited)

 
Three Months Ended

June 30,
Six Months Ended

June 30,
  2018 2017 2018 2017
Net income (loss) $ 3,642 $ 35,275 $ 150,542 162,825
Other comprehensive income (loss):    

Net unrealized gain (loss) from pension and post-retirement
plans, net of tax of $60, $(115), $120, and $359, respectively 227 (214) 453 666

Reclassification of stranded taxes to retained earnings due to
tax reform — — (5,230) —

Other comprehensive income (loss) 227 (214) (4,777) 666
Comprehensive income (loss) $ 3,869 $ 35,061 $ 145,765 $ 163,491

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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PUGET ENERGY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Dollars in Thousands)
(Unaudited)

ASSETS

 
June 30,

2018
December 31,

2017
Utility plant (at original cost, including construction work in progress of $637,322 and
$495,937, respectively):    

Electric plant $ 8,305,168 $ 8,135,847
Natural gas plant 3,444,954 3,307,545
Common plant 905,018 811,815
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization (2,623,659) (2,428,524)

Net utility plant 10,031,481 9,826,683
Other property and investments:    

Goodwill 1,656,513 1,656,513
Other property and investments 222,170 182,355

Total other property and investments 1,878,683 1,838,868
Current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents 8,117 26,616
Restricted cash 10,083 10,145
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $10,716 and $8,901,
respectively 218,306 341,110
Unbilled revenue 123,214 222,186
Materials and supplies, at average cost 112,913 107,003
Fuel and natural gas inventory, at average cost 51,084 49,908
Unrealized gain on derivative instruments 19,872 22,247
Prepaid expense and other 23,418 21,996
Power contract acquisition adjustment gain 8,480 12,207

Total current assets 575,487 813,418
Other long-term and regulatory assets:    

Power cost adjustment mechanism 4,651 4,576
Regulatory assets related to power contracts 17,754 19,454
Other regulatory assets 818,081 948,532
Unrealized gain on derivative instruments 3,589 2,158
Power contract acquisition adjustment gain 159,168 162,711
Other 84,159 74,389

Total other long-term and regulatory assets 1,087,402 1,211,820
Total assets $ 13,573,053 $ 13,690,789

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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PUGET ENERGY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Dollars in Thousands)
(Unaudited)

CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES

 
June 30,

2018
December 31,

2017
Capitalization:
Common shareholder’s equity:    

Common stock $0.01 par value, 1,000 shares authorized, 200 shares outstanding $ — $ —
Additional paid-in capital 3,308,957 3,308,957
Retained earnings 565,600 465,355
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (29,059) (24,282)

Total common shareholder’s equity 3,845,498 3,750,030
Long-term debt:    

First mortgage bonds and senior notes 3,764,412 3,164,412
Pollution control bonds 161,860 161,860
Junior subordinated notes — 250,000
Long-term debt 1,939,551 1,902,600
Debt discount, issuance costs and other (220,632) (220,943)

Total long-term debt 5,645,191 5,257,929
Total capitalization 9,490,689 9,007,959
Current liabilities:    

Accounts payable 308,305 359,586
Short-term debt 28,000 329,463
Current maturities of long-term debt — 200,000
Purchased gas adjustment payable 38,645 16,051
Accrued expenses:    

  Taxes 104,092 117,948
  Salaries and wages 42,180 53,220
  Interest 69,564 73,564

Unrealized loss on derivative instruments 49,776 64,859
Power contract acquisition adjustment loss 2,585 2,762
Other 93,900 80,206

Total current liabilities 737,047 1,297,659
Other long-term and regulatory liabilities:    

Deferred income taxes 774,195 746,868
Unrealized loss on derivative instruments 15,123 21,235
Regulatory liabilities 743,766 731,587
Regulatory liability for deferred income taxes 994,987 1,011,626
Regulatory liabilities related to power contracts 167,647 174,918
Power contract acquisition adjustment loss 15,169 16,693
Other deferred credits 634,430 682,244

Total other long-term and regulatory liabilities 3,345,317 3,385,171
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)
Total capitalization and liabilities $ 13,573,053 $ 13,690,789

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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 PUGET ENERGY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Dollars in Thousands)
(Unaudited)

 
Six Months Ended

June 30,
  2018 2017
Operating activities:    

Net income (loss) $ 150,542 $ 162,825
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:  

Depreciation and amortization 336,617 234,710
Conservation amortization 60,888 60,453
Deferred income taxes and tax credits, net 10,567 75,665
Net unrealized (gain) loss on derivative instruments (7,907) 22,980
AFUDC – equity (7,146) (6,766)
Production tax credit monetization (51,181) —
Other non-cash 7,377 8,283

Funding of pension liability (9,000) (18,000)
Regulatory assets and liabilities 4,591 (46,101)
Other long-term assets and liabilities (12,611) 4,281
Change in certain current assets and liabilities:  

Accounts receivable and unbilled revenue 220,207 196,179
Materials and supplies (5,910) 5,606
Fuel and natural gas inventory (1,176) 2,473
Prepayments and other (1,422) 13,900
Purchased gas adjustment 22,594 13,765
Accounts payable (47,040) (49,478)
Taxes payable (13,856) (9,296)
Other (16,937) (5,809)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 639,197 665,670
Investing activities:    

Construction expenditures – excluding equity AFUDC (490,623) (496,652)
Other 1,956 (6,642)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (488,667) (503,294)
Financing activities:    

Change in short-term debt, net (301,463) (240,763)
Dividends paid (55,525) (132)
Proceeds from long-term debt and bonds issued 631,701 48,073
Redemption of bonds and notes (450,000) —
Other 6,196 9,003

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (169,091) (183,819)
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (18,561) (21,443)
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of period 36,761 41,296
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period $ 18,200 $ 19,853
Supplemental cash flow information:

Cash payments for interest (net of capitalized interest) $ 164,823 $ 163,228
Cash payments (refunds) for income taxes 5,169 —

Non-cash financing and investing activities:
Accounts payable for capital expenditures eliminated from cash flows $ 97,614 $ 54,419

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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PUGET SOUND ENERGY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(Dollars in Thousands)
(Unaudited)

 
Three Months Ended

June 30,
Six Months Ended

June 30,
  2018 2017 2018 2017
Operating revenue:    

Electric $ 501,510 $ 529,807 $1,201,196 $1,198,792
Natural gas 160,196 180,105 490,480 580,169
Other 10,146 9,855 18,184 18,038

Total operating revenue 671,852 719,767 1,709,860 1,796,999
Operating expenses:    
Energy costs:    

Purchased electricity 129,114 129,799 283,320 309,381
Electric generation fuel 29,750 34,163 72,173 85,473
Residential exchange (16,091) (15,121) (40,035) (38,568)
Purchased natural gas 53,872 63,183 181,487 215,984
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivative instruments, net (6,911) 3,834 (7,907) 23,121

Utility operations and maintenance 140,131 145,555 300,655 297,618
Non-utility expense and other 10,834 9,374 20,614 17,865
Depreciation and amortization 152,080 119,457 336,570 234,710
Conservation amortization 24,025 25,691 60,888 60,453
Taxes other than income taxes 73,347 77,032 184,535 195,731
Total operating expenses 590,151 592,967 1,392,300 1,401,768
Operating income (loss) 81,701 126,800 317,560 395,231
Other income (expense):    

Other income 8,113 6,126 15,756 12,086
Other expense (2,330) (2,042) (4,428) (3,257)

Interest charges:    
AFUDC 3,318 2,555 6,201 4,730
Interest expense (57,020) (59,991) (116,575) (120,453)

Income (loss) before income taxes 33,782 73,448 218,514 288,337
Income tax (benefit) expense 7,004 22,794 28,696 94,591
Net income (loss) $ 26,778 $ 50,654 $ 189,818 $ 193,746

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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PUGET SOUND ENERGY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Dollars in Thousands)
(Unaudited)

 
Three Months Ended

June 30,
Six Months Ended

June 30,
  2018 2017 2018 2017
Net income (loss) $ 26,778 $ 50,654 $ 189,818 $ 193,746
Other comprehensive income (loss):    

Net unrealized gain (loss) from pension and post-retirement
plans, net of tax of $761, $1,143, $1,522, and $2,875,
respectively 2,863 2,123 5,727 5,339
Amortization of treasury interest rate swaps to earnings, net of
tax of $26, $43, $51, and $86, respectively 96 79 192 158
Reclassification of stranded taxes to retained earnings due to
tax reform — — (27,333) —

Other comprehensive income (loss) 2,959 2,202 (21,414) 5,497
Comprehensive income (loss) $ 29,737 $ 52,856 $ 168,404 $ 199,243

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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PUGET SOUND ENERGY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Dollars in Thousands)
(Unaudited)

ASSETS

 
June 30,

2018
December 31,

2017
Utility plant (at original cost, including construction work in progress of $637,322 and
$495,937, respectively):    

Electric plant $ 10,389,267 $ 10,232,771
Natural gas plant 4,018,260 3,882,733
Common plant 935,706 843,145
Less:  Accumulated depreciation and amortization (5,311,752) (5,131,966)

Net utility plant 10,031,481 9,826,683
Other property and investments:    

Other property and investments 77,109 76,350
Total other property and investments 77,109 76,350
Current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents 7,104 25,864
Restricted cash 10,083 10,145
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $10,716 and
$8,901, respectively 224,901 343,546
Unbilled revenue 123,214 222,186
Materials and supplies, at average cost 112,913 107,003
Fuel and natural gas inventory, at average cost 49,761 48,585
Unrealized gain on derivative instruments 19,872 22,247
Prepaid expense and other 23,418 21,996

Total current assets 571,266 801,572
Other long-term and regulatory assets:    

Power cost adjustment mechanism 4,651 4,576
Other regulatory assets 818,081 948,540
Unrealized gain on derivative instruments 3,589 2,158
Other 81,862 71,827

Total other long-term and regulatory assets 908,183 1,027,101
Total assets $ 11,588,039 $ 11,731,706

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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PUGET SOUND ENERGY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Dollars in Thousands)
(Unaudited)

CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES

 
June 30,

2018
December 31,

2017
Capitalization:
Common shareholder’s equity:    

Common stock $0.01 par value, 150,000,000 shares authorized, 85,903,791 shares
outstanding $ 859 $ 859
Additional paid-in capital 3,275,105 3,275,105
Retained earnings 566,758 452,066
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (148,320) (126,906)

Total common shareholder’s equity 3,694,402 3,601,124
Long-term debt:    

First mortgage bonds and senior notes 3,764,412 3,164,412
Pollution control bonds 161,860 161,860
Junior subordinated notes — 250,000
Debt discount, issuance costs and other (31,230) (26,361)

Total long-term debt 3,895,042 3,549,911
Total capitalization 7,589,444 7,151,035
Current liabilities:    

Accounts payable 308,304 359,585
Short-term debt 28,000 329,463
Current maturities of long-term debt — 200,000
Purchased gas adjustment payable 38,645 16,051
Accrued expenses:    

Taxes 104,092 117,063
Salaries and wages 42,180 53,220
Interest 43,672 47,837

       Unrealized loss on derivative instruments 49,776 64,859
       Other 93,900 80,206
Total current liabilities 708,569 1,268,284
Other long-term and regulatory liabilities:    

Deferred income taxes 906,226 869,473
Unrealized loss on derivative instruments 15,123 21,235
Regulatory liabilities 742,443 730,273
Regulatory liability for deferred income taxes 995,599 1,012,260
Other deferred credits 630,635 679,146

Total other long-term and regulatory liabilities 3,290,026 3,312,387
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)
Total capitalization and liabilities $ 11,588,039 $ 11,731,706

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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PUGET SOUND ENERGY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Dollars in Thousands)
(Unaudited)

 
Six Months Ended

June 30,
  2018 2017
Operating activities:    

Net income (loss) $ 189,818 $ 193,746
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:  

Depreciation and amortization 336,570 234,710
Conservation amortization 60,888 60,453
Deferred income taxes and tax credits, net 18,519 94,590
Net unrealized (gain) loss on derivative instruments (7,907) 23,121
AFUDC – equity (7,146) (6,766)
Production tax credit monetization (51,181) —
Other non-cash 2,197 2,675

Funding of pension liability (9,000) (18,000)
Regulatory assets and liabilities 4,591 (46,101)
Other long-term assets and liabilities (5,956) (14,507)
Change in certain current assets and liabilities:  

Accounts receivable and unbilled revenue 216,047 205,327
Materials and supplies (5,910) 5,606
Fuel and natural gas inventory (1,176) 2,473
Prepayments and other (1,422) 13,900
Purchased gas adjustment 22,594 13,765
Accounts payable (47,040) (49,478)
Taxes payable (12,971) (9,296)
Other (17,100) (6,542)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 684,415 699,676
Investing activities:    

Construction expenditures – excluding equity AFUDC (452,220) (431,536)
Other 1,956 (6,205)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (450,264) (437,741)
Financing activities:    

Change in short-term debt, net (301,463) (240,763)
Dividends paid (102,456) (51,574)
Long-term bonds and notes issued 594,750 —
Redemption of bonds and notes (450,000) —
Other 6,196 9,003

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (252,973) (283,334)
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (18,822) (21,399)
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of period 36,009 40,899
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period $ 17,187 $ 19,500
Supplemental cash flow information:    

Cash payments for interest (net of capitalized interest) $ 112,354 $ 112,801
Cash payments (refunds) for income taxes $ 9,631 $ —

Non-cash financing and investing activities:
Accounts payable for capital expenditures eliminated from cash flows $ 97,614 $ 54,419

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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COMBINED NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

(1)  Summary of Consolidation Policy

Basis of Presentation 
Puget Energy is an energy services holding company that owns Puget Sound Energy (PSE).  PSE is a public utility incorporated 

in the state of Washington that furnishes electric and natural gas services in a territory covering approximately 6,000 square miles, 
primarily in the Puget Sound region.  Puget Energy also has a wholly-owned non-regulated subsidiary, Puget LNG, LLC (Puget 
LNG), which has the sole purpose of owning, developing and financing the non-regulated activity of the Tacoma LNG facility, 
currently under construction.  PSE and Puget LNG are considered related parties with similar ownership by Puget Energy.  Therefore, 
capital and operating costs that occur under PSE and are allocated to Puget LNG are related party transactions by nature.  As of 
June 30, 2018, Puget LNG has incurred $145.5 million in construction work in progress and operating costs related to Puget LNG’s 
portion of the Tacoma LNG facility. 

The consolidated financial statements of Puget Energy reflect the accounts of Puget Energy and its subsidiaries.  PSE’s 
consolidated financial statements include the accounts of PSE and its subsidiary.  Puget Energy and PSE are collectively referred 
to herein as “the Company”.  The consolidated financial statements are presented after elimination of all significant intercompany 
items and transactions.  PSE’s consolidated financial statements continue to be accounted for on a historical basis and do not 
include any Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 805, “Business Combinations” (ASC 805) purchase accounting 
adjustments.  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during 
the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Tacoma LNG Facility
The Tacoma LNG facility is intended to provide peak-shaving services to PSE’s natural gas customers. By storing surplus 

natural gas, PSE is able to meet the requirements of peak consumption.  LNG will also provide fuel to transportation customers, 
particularly in the marine market.  On January 24, 2018, the Puget Sound Clean Air Agency determined a Supplemental 
Environmental Impact Statement is necessary in order to rule on the air quality permit for the facility.  As a result of requiring a 
Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement, the Company's construction schedule may be impacted depending on the Puget 
Sound Clean Air Agency's timing and decision on the air quality permit.  If delayed, the construction schedule and costs may be 
adversely impacted. Pursuant to an order by the Washington Commission, PSE will be allocated approximately 43.0% of common 
capital and operating costs, consistent with the regulated portion of the Tacoma LNG facility.  The remaining 57.0% of common 
capital and operating costs of the Tacoma LNG facility will be allocated to Puget LNG.

For Puget Energy, $144.7 million in construction work in progress related to Puget LNG’s portion of the Tacoma LNG facility 
is reported in the “Other property and investments” financial statement line item.  For PSE, construction work in progress of $113.4 
million related to PSE’s portion of the Tacoma LNG facility is reported in the “Utility plant - Natural gas plant” line item, as PSE 
is a regulated entity.

(2)  New Accounting Pronouncements

Recently Adopted Accounting Guidance
Income Taxes

In March 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2018-05, 
"Income Taxes (Topic 740): Amendments to SEC Paragraphs Pursuant to SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118".  The staff of 
the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) recognized the complexity of reflecting the impacts of the Tax Cuts Job Act 
(TCJA), and on December 22, 2017 issued guidance in Staff Accounting Bulletin 118 (SAB 118), which clarifies accounting for 
income taxes under Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 740 if information is not yet available or complete and provides 
for up to a one year period in which to complete the required analysis and accounting (the measurement period).  SAB 118 describes 
three scenarios (or “buckets”) associated with a company’s status of accounting for income tax reform: (i) a company is complete 
with its accounting for certain effects of tax reform, (ii) a company is able to determine a reasonable estimate for certain effects 
of tax reform and records that estimate as a provisional amount, or (iii) a company is not able to determine a reasonable estimate 
and therefore continues to apply ASC 740, based on the provisions of the tax laws that were in effect immediately prior to the 
TCJA being enacted. The Company has completed the required analysis and accounting for substantially all the effects of the 
TCJA's enactment and has made a reasonable estimate as to the other effects and has reflected the measurement and accounting 
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of the effects in the consolidated financial statements. The items reflected as provisional amounts include tax depreciation and 
amortization and other book to tax differences. The Company has accounted for these items based on its interpretation of the 
TCJA. Further interpretive guidance on the TCJA from the IRS, U.S. Treasury Department, or the Joint Committee on Taxation 
may require adjustments to the Company's accounting. In accordance with SAB 118, adjustments, if any, will be recorded in 2018.  
At December 31, 2017, the Company did not identify any effects of the TCJA for which they were not able to either complete the 
required analysis or make a reasonable estimate.  Additionally, PSE filed an accounting petition on December 29, 2017 requesting 
deferred accounting treatment for impacts of tax reform.  For additional information, see Note 7, "Regulation and Rates" to the 
consolidated financial statements included in Item 1 of this report.

Stranded Tax Effects in AOCI
In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-02, "Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): 

Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income".  The amendments in this update allow 
reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings for stranded tax effects resulting from the 
TCJA and will improve the usefulness of information reported to financial statement users.

This amendment is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those years.   
Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in any interim period for reporting periods for which financial statements have 
not yet been issued.  The Company early adopted ASU 2018-02 as of January 1, 2018 with a reclassification from accumulated 
other comprehensive income to retained earnings in the amount of a $5.2 million increase for Puget Energy related to pension and 
post-retirement plans and a $27.3 million increase for PSE, comprised of $26.2 million related to pension and post-retirement 
plans, and $1.1 million related to interest rate swaps.

Retirement Benefits
In March 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-07, "Compensation - Retirement Benefits (Topic 715): Improving the Presentation 

of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost."  The amendments require that an employer report 
the service cost component in the same line items as other compensation costs arising from services rendered by the pertinent 
employees during the period.  The other components of net benefit cost (which include interest costs, expected return on plan 
assets, amortization of prior service cost or credits and actuarial gains and losses) are required to be presented in the income 
statement separately from the service cost component and outside a subtotal of income from operations.  The line item used in the 
income statement to present the other components of net benefit cost must be disclosed.  Additionally, the service cost component 
of net benefit cost is the only eligible cost for capitalization. 

This amendment is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within those years.  
The Company adopted ASU 2017-07 during the first quarter of fiscal year 2018 by applying the amendments related to income 
statement activity retrospectively, and balance sheet activity prospectively.  For additional information, see Note 6, "Retirement 
Benefits" to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 1 of this report.

Statement of Cash Flows
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, "Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain Cash Receipts 

and Cash Payments".  The amendments in ASU 2016-15 provide guidance for eight specific cash flow issues that include (i) debt 
prepayment or debt extinguishment costs, (ii) settlement of zero-coupon debt instruments, (iii) contingent consideration payments 
made after a business combination, (iv) proceeds from the settlement of insurance claims, (v) proceeds from the settlement of 
corporate-owned life insurance policies, including bank-owned life insurance policies, (vi) distribution received from equity 
method investees, (vii) beneficial interest in securitization transactions, and (viii) separately identifiable cash flows and application 
of the predominance principle.

This update is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods 
within those fiscal years.  Early adoption is permitted for all entities upon issuance.  The amendments in this update should be 
applied using a retrospective transition method to each period presented.  The Company adopted ASU 2016-15 as of January 1, 
2018 with the standard only impacting the classification of debt extinguishment costs as financing outflows. 

In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, "Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash".  The amendments 
in this update require that a statement of cash flows explain the change during the period in the total of cash, cash equivalents, 
and amounts generally described as restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents.  The new standard is effective for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within those fiscal years.  The Company has adopted ASU 2016-18 as 
of January 1, 2018 by moving the presentation of restricted cash in the statement of cash flows to net cash flows of total cash, 
cash equivalents, and restricted cash.  Amounts included in restricted cash primarily represent funds required to be set aside for 
contractual obligations related to transmission and generation facilities.
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The following tables provide a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the statements of 
cash flows:

Puget Energy
Six Months Ended

June 30,
(Dollars in Thousands) 2018 2017
Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,117 $ 7,805
Restricted cash 10,083 12,048
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown in the statement of cash flows $ 18,200 $ 19,853

Puget Sound Energy
Six Months Ended

June 30,
(Dollars in Thousands) 2018 2017
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,104 $ 7,452
Restricted cash 10,083 12,048
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown in the statement of cash flows $ 17,187 $ 19,500

Revenue Recognition
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)".  Accounting 

Standards Update (ASU) 2014-09 and the related amendments outline a single comprehensive model for use in accounting for 
revenue arising from contracts with customers and supersedes most current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-
specific guidance.  The ASU is based on the principle that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or 
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those 
goods or services.  The ASU also requires additional disclosure about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and 
cash flows arising from customer contracts, including significant judgments and changes in judgments and assets recognized from 
costs incurred to fulfill a contract.

The Company implemented the standard as of January 1, 2018 using the modified retrospective method of adoption.  As a 
result of implementation of this standard, the Company made no cumulative adjustments to revenue for contracts with customers 
open as of January 1, 2018.  For the three and six months ended June 30, 2018, the Company's revenue was 93.3% and 93.1%
comprised of contracts with customers from rate-regulated sales of electricity and natural gas to retail customers where revenue 
is recognized over time as delivered.  Pursuant to the new standard, the Company has added enhanced quantitative and qualitative 
disclosure for revenue from contracts with customers and revenue outside the scope of the standard, in Note 3, "Revenue" to the 
consolidated financial statements included in Item 1 of this report.

Accounting Standards Issued but Not Yet Adopted
Lease Accounting

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, "Leases (Topic 842)".  The FASB issued this ASU to increase transparency 
and comparability among organizations by recognizing right-of-use (ROU) lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet 
and disclosing key information about leasing arrangements.  To meet that objective, the FASB is amending the FASB Accounting 
Standards Codification and creating Topic 842, Leases.  ASU 2016-02 requires lessees to recognize the following for all leases 
(with the exception of short-term leases) at the commencement date: (i) a lease liability, which is a lessee's obligation to make 
lease payments arising from a lease, measured on a discounted basis; and (ii) a right-of-use asset, which is an asset that represents 
the lessee’s right to use, or control the use of, a specified asset for the lease term.  The income statement recognition is similar to 
existing lease accounting and is based on lease classification.  Under the new guidance, lessor accounting is largely unchanged.

In January 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-01, "Leases (Topic 842): Land Easement Practical Expedient for Transition to 
Topic 842".  In connection with the FASB’s transition support efforts, the amendments in this update provide an optional transition 
practical expedient to not evaluate under Topic 842 existing or expired land easements that were not previously accounted for as 
leases under the current leases guidance in Topic 840.  An entity that elects this practical expedient should evaluate new or modified 
land easements under Topic 842 upon adoption.  Land easements (also commonly referred to as rights of way) represent the right 
to use, access, or cross another entity’s land for a specified purpose.  The Company plans to elect this practical expedient, and will 
evaluate new and modified land easements as of the first quarter of fiscal year 2019.

This amendment is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including 
interim periods within those fiscal years.  Earlier adoption is permitted for all entities upon issuance.  Reporting entities must 
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apply a modified retrospective approach for the adoption of the new standard.  The Company will adopt ASU 2016-02 during the 
first quarter of fiscal year 2019 and expects the adoption of the standard will result in recognition of right-of-use assets and liabilities 
that have not previously been recorded, which will have a material impact on the consolidated balance sheets.

(3)  Revenue

The following table presents disaggregated revenue from contracts with customers, and other revenue by major source:

Puget Energy and 
Puget Sound Energy

(Dollars in Thousands)
Three Months Ended

June 30,
Six Months Ended

June 30,
Revenue from contracts with customers: 2018 2018

Electric retail $ 468,378 $ 1,099,184
Natural gas retail 158,544 492,578
Other 38,930 81,364

Total revenue from contracts with customers 665,852 1,673,126
Alternative revenue programs (8,815) (23,897)
Other non-customer revenue 14,815 60,631

Total operating revenue $ 671,852 $ 1,709,860

Revenue at PSE is recognized when performance obligations under the terms of a contract or tariff with our customers are 
satisfied.  Performance obligations are satisfied generally through performance of PSE's obligation over time or with transfer of 
control of electric power, natural gas, and other revenue from contracts with customers.  Revenue is measured as the amount of 
consideration expected to be received in exchange for transferring goods and services.  

Electric and Natural Gas Retail Revenue
Electric and natural gas retail revenue consists of tariff based sales of electricity and natural gas to PSE's customers.  For tariff 

contracts, PSE has elected the portfolio approach practical expedient model to apply the revenue from contracts with customers 
to groups of contracts.  The Company determined that the portfolio approach will not differ from considering each contract or 
performance obligation separately.  Electric and natural gas tariff contracts include the performance obligation of standing ready 
to perform electric and natural gas services. The electricity and natural gas the customer chooses to consume is considered an 
option and is recognized over time using the output method when the customer simultaneously consumes the electricity or natural 
gas. PSE has elected the right to invoice practical expedient for unbilled retail revenue, as the obligation of standing ready to 
perform electric service and for the consumption of electricity and natural gas at market value implies a right to consideration for 
performance completed to date.  The Company believes that tariff prices approved by the Washington Utility and Transportation 
Commission (Washington Commission) represent stand-alone selling prices for the performance obligations under ASC 606.  PSE 
collects Washington State excise taxes (which are a component of general retail customer rates) and municipal taxes and presents 
the taxes on a gross basis, as PSE is the taxpayer for those excise and municipal taxes. 

Other Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Other revenue from contracts with customers is primarily comprised of electric transmission, natural gas transportation, biogas, 

and wholesale revenue sold on an intra-month basis. 

Electric Transmission and Natural Gas Transportation
 Transmission and transportation tariff contracts include the performance obligation to transmit and transport electricity or 

natural gas.  Transfer of control and recognition of revenue occurs over time as the customer simultaneously receives the 
transmission and transportation services.  Measurement of satisfaction of this performance obligation is determined using the 
output method.  Similar to retail revenue, the Company utilizes the right to invoice practical expedient as PSE’s right to consideration 
is tied directly to the value of power and gas transmitted and transported each month. The price is based on the tariff rates that 
were approved by the Washington Commission or the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) and, therefore, corresponds 
directly to the value to the customer for performance completed to date.
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Biogas
Biogas is a renewable natural gas fuel that PSE purchases and sells along with the renewable green attributes derived from 

the renewable natural gas.  Biogas contracts include the performance obligations of biogas and renewable credit delivery upon 
PSE receiving produced biogas from its supplier.  Transfer of control and recognition of revenue occurs at a point in time as biogas 
is considered a storable commodity and may not be consumed as it is delivered.

Wholesale Revenue
Wholesale revenue at PSE includes sales of electric power and non-core natural gas to other utilities or marketers.  Wholesale 

revenue contracts include the performance obligation of physical electric power or natural gas.  There are typically no added fixed 
or variable amounts on top of the established rate for power or natural gas and contracts always have a stated, fixed quantity of 
power or natural gas delivered.  Transfer of control and recognition of revenue occurs at a point in time when the customer takes 
physical possession of electric power or natural gas. Non-core gas consists of natural gas supply in excess of natural gas used for 
generation, sold to third parties to mitigate the costs of firm transportation and storage capacity for its core natural gas customers.  
PSE reports non-core gas sold net of costs as PSE does not take control of the natural gas but is merely an agent within the market 
that connects a seller to a purchaser.

Other Revenue
In accordance with ASC 606, PSE excludes revenue not collected from contracts with customers, as well as revenue that falls 

under other accounting guidance. 

 (4)  Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

PSE employs various energy portfolio optimization strategies but is not in the business of assuming risk for the purpose of 
realizing speculative trading revenue.  The nature of serving regulated electric customers with its portfolio of owned and contracted 
electric generation resources exposes PSE and its customers to some volumetric and commodity price risks within the sharing 
mechanism of the power cost adjustment (PCA).  Therefore, wholesale market transactions and PSE's related hedging strategies 
are focused on reducing costs and risks where feasible, thus reducing volatility of costs in the portfolio.  In order to manage its 
exposure to the variability in future cash flows for forecasted energy transactions, PSE utilizes a programmatic hedging strategy 
which extends out three years. PSE's hedging strategy includes a risk-responsive component for the core natural gas portfolio, 
which utilizes quantitative risk-based measures with defined objectives to balance both portfolio risk and hedge costs.  PSE's 
energy risk portfolio management function monitors and manages these risks using analytical models and tools.  In order to manage 
risks effectively, PSE enters into forward physical electric and natural gas purchase and sale agreements, fixed-for-floating swap 
contracts, and commodity call/put options.  Currently, the Company does not apply cash flow hedge accounting and therefore 
records all mark-to-market gains or losses through earnings.

The Company manages its interest rate risk through the issuance of mostly fixed-rate debt with varied maturities.  The Company 
utilizes internal cash from operations, borrowings under its commercial paper program and its credit facilities to meet short-term 
funding needs.  The Company may enter into swap instruments or other financial hedge instruments to manage the interest rate 
risk associated with these debts.
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The following table presents the volumes, fair values and classification of the Company's derivative instruments recorded 
on the balance sheets:

Puget Energy and 
Puget Sound Energy

At June 30, 2018 At December 31, 2017
(Dollars in Thousands) Volumes Assets1 Liabilities2 Volumes Assets1 Liabilities2

Electric portfolio derivatives * $ 10,889 $ 38,642 * $ 13,391 $ 49,050
Natural gas derivatives (MMBtus)3 299.2 million 12,572 26,257 332.1 million 11,014 37,044
Total derivative contracts $ 23,461 $ 64,899 $ 24,405 $ 86,094
Current $ 19,872 $ 49,776 $ 22,247 $ 64,859
Long-term 3,589 15,123 2,158 21,235
Total derivative contracts $ 23,461 $ 64,899 $ 24,405 $ 86,094

_______________
1 Balance sheet classification: Current and Long-term Unrealized gain on derivative instruments.
2 Balance sheet classification: Current and Long-term Unrealized loss on derivative instruments.
3 All fair value adjustments on derivatives relating to the natural gas business have been deferred in accordance with ASC 980, “Regulated Operations,” due 

to the purchased gas adjustment (PGA) mechanism. The net derivative asset or liability and offsetting regulatory liability or asset are related to contracts 
used to economically hedge the cost of physical gas purchased to serve natural gas customers.

* Electric portfolio derivatives consist of electric generation fuel of 172.5 million One Million British Thermal Units (MMBtu) and purchased electricity of 
3.7 million Megawatt Hours (MWhs) at June 30, 2018, and 166.8 million MMBtus and 2.9 million MWhs at December 31, 2017.

It is the Company's policy to record all derivative transactions on a gross basis at the contract level without offsetting assets 
or liabilities. The Company generally enters into transactions using the following master agreements: WSPP, Inc. (WSPP) 
agreements, which standardize physical power contracts; International Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA) agreements, 
which standardize financial natural gas and electric contracts; and North American Energy Standards Board (NAESB) agreements, 
which standardize physical natural gas contracts.  The Company believes that such agreements reduce credit risk exposure because 
such agreements provide for the netting and offsetting of monthly payments as well as the right of set-off in the event of counterparty 
default.  The set-off provision can be used as a final settlement of accounts which extinguishes the mutual debts owed between 
the parties in exchange for a new net amount.  For further details regarding the fair value of derivative instruments, see Note 5, 
"Fair Value Measurements," to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 1 of this report.

 



22

The following tables present the potential effect of netting arrangements, including rights of set-off associated with the 
Company's derivative assets and liabilities:

Puget Energy and 
Puget Sound Energy

At June 30, 2018

Gross 
Amount 

Recognized 
in the 

Statement 
of Financial 

Position1

Gross
Amounts
Offset in

the
Statement

of Financial
Position

Net of
Amounts
Presented

in the
Statement

of Financial
Position

Gross Amounts Not Offset
in the Statement of
Financial Position

(Dollars in Thousands) 
Commodity
Contracts

Cash
Collateral
Received/

Posted
Net

Amount
Assets:

Energy derivative contracts $ 23,461 $ — $ 23,461 $ (17,120) $ — $ 6,341
Liabilities:

Energy derivative contracts 64,899 — 64,899 (17,120) (1,220) 46,559

Puget Energy and 
Puget Sound Energy

At December 31, 2017

Gross 
Amount 

Recognized 
in the 

Statement 
of Financial 

Position1

Gross
Amounts
Offset in

the
Statement

of Financial
Position

Net of
Amounts
Presented

in the
Statement

of Financial
Position

Gross Amounts Not Offset
in the Statement of
Financial Position

(Dollars in Thousands)
Commodity
Contracts

Cash
Collateral
Received/

Posted
Net

Amount
Assets:

Energy derivative contracts $ 24,405 $ — $ 24,405 $ (17,940) $ — $ 6,465
Liabilities:

Energy derivative contracts 86,094 — 86,094 (17,940) (353) 67,801
_______________
1 All derivative contract deals are executed under ISDA, NAESB and WSPP master netting agreements with right of set-off.
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The following table presents the effect and classification of the realized and unrealized gains (losses) of the Company's 
derivatives recorded on the statements of income:

Puget Energy and
Puget Sound Energy  

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

(Dollars in Thousands) Classification 2018 2017 2018 2017
Interest rate contracts1:

Non-hedged interest rate swap 
(expense) income $ — $ — $ — $ 28

Gas for Power Derivatives:    

Unrealized
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivative
instruments, net 5,357 (5,746) 7,669 (21,882)

Realized Electric generation fuel (4,417) (2,822) (12,093) (8,020)
Power Derivatives:

Unrealized
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivative
instruments, net 1,554 1,912 238 (1,239)

Realized Purchased electricity (2,836) (3,923) (5,225) (10,078)
Total gain (loss) recognized in
income on derivatives   $ (342) $ (10,579) $ (9,411) $ (41,191)

_______________
1     Interest rate swap contracts were held at Puget Energy, and matured January 2017.

The Company is exposed to credit risk primarily through buying and selling electricity and natural gas to serve its customers.  
Credit risk is the potential loss resulting from a counterparty's non-performance under an agreement.  The Company manages 
credit risk with policies and procedures for, among other things, counterparty credit analysis, exposure measurement, and exposure 
monitoring and mitigation.

The Company monitors counterparties for significant swings in credit default swap rates, credit rating changes by external 
rating agencies, ownership changes or financial distress.  Where deemed appropriate, the Company may request collateral or other 
security from its counterparties to mitigate potential credit default losses.  Criteria employed in this decision include, among other 
things, the perceived creditworthiness of the counterparty and the expected credit exposure.

It is possible that volatility in energy commodity prices could cause the Company to have material credit risk exposure with 
one or more counterparties.  If such counterparties fail to perform their obligations under one or more agreements, the Company 
could suffer a material financial loss.  However, as of June 30, 2018, approximately 94.6% of the Company's energy portfolio 
exposure, excluding normal purchase normal sale (NPNS) transactions, was with counterparties that are rated investment grade 
by rating agencies and 5.4% are either rated below investment grade or not rated by rating agencies.  The Company assesses credit 
risk internally for counterparties that are not rated by the major rating agencies.

The Company computes credit reserves at a master agreement level by counterparty.  The Company considers external credit 
ratings and market factors in the determination of reserves, such as credit default swaps and bond spreads.  The Company recognizes 
that external ratings may not always reflect how a market participant perceives a counterparty's risk of default.  The Company 
uses both default factors published by Standard & Poor's and factors derived through analysis of market risk which reflect the 
application of an industry standard recovery rate.  The Company selects a default factor by counterparty at an aggregate master 
agreement level based on a weighted average default tenor for that counterparty's deals.  The default tenor is determined by 
weighting the fair value and contract tenors for all deals for each counterparty to derive an average value.  The default factor used 
is dependent upon whether the counterparty is in a net asset or a net liability position after applying the master agreement levels.

The Company applies the counterparty's default factor to compute credit reserves for counterparties that are in a net asset 
position.  The Company calculates a non-performance risk on its derivative liabilities by using its estimated incremental borrowing 
rate over the risk-free rate.  Credit reserves are netted against the unrealized gain (loss) positions. As of June 30, 2018, the Company 
was in a net liability position with the majority of its counterparties, so the default factors of counterparties did not have a significant 
impact on reserves for the period.  The majority of the Company's derivative contracts are with financial institutions and other 
utilities operating within the Western Electricity Coordinating Council.  PSE also transacts power futures contracts on the 
Intercontinental Exchange (ICE) platform, which requires the daily posting of margin calls as collateral through a futures and 
clearing agent.  As of June 30, 2018, PSE had cash posted as collateral of $3.7 million related to contracts executed on this platform.  
As additional contracts are executed on this exchange, the amount of collateral to be posted will increase, subject to PSE’s established 
limit.  PSE also has a $1.0 million letter of credit posted as collateral as a condition of transacting on a physical energy exchange 
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and clearing house in Canada.  PSE did not trigger any collateral requirements with any of its counterparties nor were any of PSE's 
counterparties required to post collateral resulting from credit rating downgrades during the six months ended June 30, 2018. 

The following table presents the aggregate fair value of all derivative instruments with credit-risk-related contingent 
features that are in a liability position and the amount of additional collateral the Company could be required to post:

Puget Energy and 
Puget Sound Energy
(Dollars in Thousands) At June 30, 2018 At December 31, 2017

Fair Value1 Posted Contingent Fair Value1 Posted Contingent
Contingent Feature Liability Collateral Collateral Liability Collateral Collateral
Credit rating2 $ 1,356 $ — $ 1,356 $ 3,187 $ — $ 3,187
Requested credit for adequate assurance 25,805 — — 37,374 — —
Forward value of contract3 1,220 3,691 — 353 2,639 —
Total $ 28,381 $ 3,691 $ 1,356 $ 40,914 $ 2,639 $ 3,187

_______________
1 Represents the derivative fair value of contracts with contingent features for counterparties in net derivative liability positions. Excludes NPNS, accounts 

payable and accounts receivable.
2 Failure by PSE to maintain an investment grade credit rating from each of the major credit rating agencies provides counterparties a contractual right to 

demand collateral.
3 Collateral requirements may vary, based on changes in the forward value of underlying transactions relative to contractually defined collateral thresholds.

(5)  Fair Value Measurements

 ASC 820 established a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value.  The hierarchy categorizes 
the inputs into three levels with the highest priority given to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities (Level 1 measurement) and the lowest priority given to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurement).  The three levels 
of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

Level 1 - Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the reporting date.  
Level 1 primarily consists of financial instruments such as exchange-traded derivatives and listed equities.  Equity 
securities that are also classified as cash equivalents are considered Level 1 if there are unadjusted quoted prices 
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets included in Level 1, which are either 
directly or indirectly observable as of the reporting date.  Level 2 includes those financial instruments that are 
valued using models or other valuation methodologies.  Instruments in this category include non-exchange-
traded derivatives such as over-the-counter forwards and options.

Level 3 - Pricing inputs include significant inputs that have little or no observability as of the reporting date.  
These inputs may be used with internally developed methodologies that result in management's best estimate of 
fair value.

 Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified in their entirety in the appropriate fair value hierarchy 
based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.  The Company's assessment of the significance 
of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires judgment and may affect the valuation of fair value assets and liabilities 
and their placement within the fair value hierarchy.  The Company primarily determines fair value measurements classified as 
Level 2 or Level 3 using a combination of the income and market valuation approaches.  The process of determining the fair values 
is the responsibility of the derivative accounting department which reports to the Controller and Principal Accounting Officer.  
Inputs used to estimate the fair value of forwards, swaps and options include market-price curves, contract terms and prices, credit-
risk adjustments, and discount factors.  Additionally, for options, the Black-Scholes option valuation model and implied market 
volatility curves are used.  Inputs used to estimate fair value in industry-standard models are categorized as Level 2 inputs as 
substantially all assumptions and inputs are observable in active markets throughout the full term of the instruments.  On a daily 
basis, the Company obtains quoted forward prices for the electric and natural gas markets from an independent external pricing 
service. 
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The Company considers its electric and natural gas contracts as Level 2 derivative instruments as such contracts are commonly 
traded as over-the-counter forwards with indirectly observable price quotes.  However, certain energy derivative instruments with 
maturity dates falling outside the range of observable price quotes are classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.  Management's 
assessment is based on the trading activity in real-time and forward electric and natural gas markets.  Each quarter, the Company 
confirms the validity of pricing-service quoted prices used to value Level 2 commodity contracts with the actual prices of commodity 
contracts entered into during the most recent quarter. 

Assets and Liabilities with Estimated Fair Value
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, and short-term debt as reported on the balance sheet are 

reasonable estimates of their fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments and are classified as Level 1 in the fair 
value hierarchy.  The carrying value of other investments totaling $49.1 million and $48.5 million at June 30, 2018 and December 31, 
2017, respectively, are included in "Other property and investments" on the balance sheet.  These values are also reasonable 
estimates of their fair value and classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy as they are valued based on market rates for similar 
transactions.

The fair value of the junior subordinated and long-term notes was estimated using the discounted cash flow method with the 
U.S. Treasury yields and the Company's credit spreads as inputs, interpolating to the maturity date of each issue.  The carrying 
values and estimated fair values were as follows:

Puget Energy At June 30, 2018 At December 31, 2017

(Dollars in Thousands) Level
Carrying

Value
Fair

Value
Carrying

Value
Fair

Value
Liabilities:

Junior subordinated notes 2 $ — $ — $ 250,000 $ 238,935
Long-term debt (fixed-rate), net of discount1 2 5,505,640 6,483,719 5,105,329 6,520,515
Long-term debt (variable-rate) 2 139,551 139,551 102,600 102,600

Total liabilities $ 5,645,191 $ 6,623,270 $ 5,457,929 $ 6,862,050

Puget Sound Energy At June 30, 2018 At December 31, 2017

(Dollars in Thousands) Level
Carrying

Value
Fair

Value
Carrying

Value
Fair

Value
Liabilities:

Junior subordinated notes 2 $ — $ — $ 250,000 $ 238,935
Long-term debt (fixed-rate), net of discount2 2 3,895,042 4,598,167 3,499,911 4,550,130

Total liabilities $ 3,895,042 $ 4,598,167 $ 3,749,911 $ 4,789,065
_______________
1 The carrying value includes debt issuances costs of $26.6 million and $27.9 million for June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively, which are not 

included in fair value. 
2 The carrying value includes debt issuances costs of $24.2 million and $24.6 million for June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively, which are not 

included in fair value.

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
The following table presents the Company's financial assets and liabilities by level, within the fair value hierarchy, that were 

accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis:
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Puget Energy and Fair Value Fair Value
Puget Sound Energy At June 30, 2018 At December 31, 2017
(Dollars in Thousands) Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:            

Electric derivative instruments $ 7,229 $ 3,660 $ 10,889 $ 9,866 $ 3,525 $ 13,391
Natural gas derivative instruments 6,510 6,062 12,572 6,973 4,041 11,014

Total assets $ 13,739 $ 9,722 $ 23,461 $ 16,839 $ 7,566 $ 24,405
Liabilities:            

Electric derivative instruments $ 36,991 $ 1,651 $ 38,642 $ 46,623 $ 2,427 $ 49,050
Natural gas derivative instruments 24,144 2,113 26,257 34,926 2,118 37,044

Total liabilities $ 61,135 $ 3,764 $ 64,899 $ 81,549 $ 4,545 $ 86,094

The following table presents the Company's reconciliation of the changes in the fair value of Level 3 derivatives in the fair 
value hierarchy:

Puget Energy and 
Puget Sound Energy

Three Months Ended
June 30,

(Dollars in Thousands) 2018 2017

Level 3 Roll-Forward Net Asset/(Liability) Electric
Natural

Gas Total Electric
Natural

Gas Total
Balance at beginning of period $ 1,186 $ 5,096 $ 6,282 $ 3,788 $ 1,752 $ 5,540
Changes during period:
Realized and unrealized energy derivatives:

Included in earnings1 366 — 366 339 — 339
Included in regulatory assets / liabilities — 354 354 — 1,124 1,124
Settlements (151) (1,800) (1,951) (2,508) (1,974) (4,482)
Transferred into Level 3 — — — — — —
Transferred out of Level 3 608 299 907 (976) 554 (422)

Balance at end of period $ 2,009 $ 3,949 $ 5,958 $ 643 $ 1,456 $ 2,099
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Puget Energy and 
Puget Sound Energy Six Months Ended June 30,
(Dollars in Thousands) 2018 2017

Level 3 Roll-Forward Net Asset/(Liability) Electric
Natural

Gas Total Electric
Natural

Gas Total
Balance at beginning of period $ 1,098 $ 1,923 $ 3,021 $ 972 $ 625 $ 1,597
Changes during period:
Realized and unrealized energy derivatives:

Included in earnings2 1,985 — 1,985 1,045 — 1,045
Included in regulatory assets / liabilities — 5,329 5,329 — 3,582 3,582
Settlements (654) (3,602) (4,256) (3,838) (3,304) (7,142)
Transferred into Level 3 (1,837) — (1,837) 2,191 (553) 1,638
Transferred out of Level 3 1,417 299 1,716 273 1,106 1,379

Balance at end of period $ 2,009 $ 3,949 $ 5,958 $ 643 $ 1,456 $ 2,099
______________
1 Income Statement locations: Unrealized (gain) loss on derivative instruments, net.  Amounts include unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives still held in 

position as of the reporting date for electric derivatives of $0.7 million and $0.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 
2 Income Statement locations: Unrealized (gain) loss on derivative instruments, net.  Amounts include unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives still held in 

position as of the reporting date for electric derivatives of $1.7 million and $0.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 

Realized gains and losses on energy derivatives for Level 3 recurring items are included in energy costs in the Company's 
consolidated statements of income under purchased electricity, electric generation fuel or purchased natural gas when settled. 
Unrealized gains and losses on energy derivatives for Level 3 recurring items are included in net unrealized (gain) loss on derivative 
instruments in the Company's consolidated statements of income.

 In order to determine which assets and liabilities are classified as Level 3, the Company receives market data from its 
independent external pricing service defining the tenor of observable market quotes.  To the extent any of the Company's commodity 
contracts extend beyond what is considered observable, as defined by its independent pricing service, the contracts are classified 
as Level 3.  The actual tenor of what the independent pricing service defines as observable is subject to change depending on 
market conditions.  Therefore, as the market changes, the same contract may be designated Level 3 one month and Level 2 the 
next and vice versa.  The changes of fair value classification into or out of Level 3 are recognized each month and reported in the 
Level 3 Roll-Forward tables.  The Company did not have any transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the reported periods.  
The Company does periodically transact at locations or market price points that are illiquid or for which no prices are available 
from the independent pricing service.  In such circumstances, the Company uses a more liquid price point and performs a 15-
month regression against the illiquid locations to serve as a proxy for forward market prices.  Such transactions are classified as 
Level 3.  The Company does not use internally developed models to make adjustments to significant unobservable pricing inputs.  
The only significant unobservable input into the fair value measurement of the Company's Level 3 assets and liabilities is the 
forward price for electric and natural gas contracts.

The following table presents the forward price ranges for the Company's Level 3 commodity contracts as of June 30, 2018:     

Puget Energy and
Puget Sound Energy Fair Value Range

(Dollars in Thousands) Assets1 Liabilities1
Valuation
Technique

Unobservable
Input Low High

Weighted
Average

Electric $ 3,660 $ 1,651 Discounted
cash flow

Power prices
(per MWh) $ 20.97 $ 40.25 $ 26.52

Natural gas $ 6,062 $ 2,113 Discounted
cash flow

Natural gas prices
(per MMBtu) $ 1.74 $ 2.73 $ 2.14

_______________
1 The valuation techniques, unobservable inputs and ranges are the same for asset and liability positions.
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The following table presents the forward price ranges for the Company's Level 3 commodity contracts as of December 31, 
2017:     

Puget Energy and
Puget Sound Energy Fair Value Range

(Dollars in Thousands) Assets1 Liabilities1
Valuation
Technique

Unobservable
Input Low High

Weighted
Average

Electric $ 3,525 $ 2,427 Discounted
cash flow

Power prices
(per MWh) $ 7.02 $ 28.94 $ 18.61

Natural gas $ 4,041 $ 2,118 Discounted
cash flow

Natural gas prices
(per MMBtu) $ 1.22 $ 2.80 $ 1.54

_______________
1 The valuation techniques, unobservable inputs and ranges are the same for asset and liability positions.

The significant unobservable inputs listed above would have a direct impact on the fair values of the above instruments if 
they were adjusted.  Consequently, significant increases or decreases in the forward prices of electricity or natural gas in isolation 
would result in a significantly higher or lower fair value for Level 3 assets and liabilities.  Generally, interrelationships exist 
between market prices of natural gas and power.  As such, an increase in natural gas pricing would potentially have a similar impact 
on forward power markets.  At June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, a hypothetical 10.0% increase or decrease in market prices 
of natural gas and electricity would change the fair value of the Company's derivative portfolio, classified as Level 3 within the 
fair value hierarchy, by $1.1 million and $0.9 million, respectively.

Long-Lived Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis
Puget Energy records the fair value of its intangible assets in accordance with ASC 360, “Property, Plant, and Equipment,” (ASC 

360).  The fair value assigned to the power contracts was determined using an income approach comparing the contract rate to the 
market rate for power over the remaining period of the contracts incorporating non-performance risk.  Management also incorporated 
certain assumptions related to quantities and market presentation that it believes market participants would make in the valuation.  
The fair value of the power contracts is amortized as the contracts settle.  

ASC 360 requires long-lived assets to be tested for impairment on an annual basis, and upon the occurrence of any events or 
circumstances that would be more likely than not to reduce the fair value of the long-lived assets below their carrying value.  One 
such triggering event is a significant decrease in the forward market prices of power.

As of June 30, 2018, Puget Energy completed valuation and impairment testing of its power purchase contracts classified as 
intangible assets and found no impairment.  As of March 31, 2018, the Wells Hydro contract was determined to be impaired due 
to a decrease in forward prices for this contract of 39.0% from December 31, 2017, causing an impairment of $1.9 million.

The following table presents the impairment recorded to the Company's intangible asset contracts, with corresponding 
reductions to the regulatory liability:

Puget Energy
(Dollars in Thousands)
Valuation Date Contract Name Carrying Value Fair Value Write Down
March 31, 2018 Wells Hydro $ 4,302 $ 2,395 $ 1,907

The valuations were measured using a discounted cash flow, income-based valuation methodology.  Significant inputs included 
forward electricity prices and power contract pricing which provided future net cash flow estimates classified as Level 3 within 
the fair value hierarchy.  A less significant input is the discount rate reflective of PSE's cost of capital used in the valuation.  

The following table presents the significant unobservable inputs used in estimating the impaired long-term power purchase 
contracts' fair value: 

Puget Energy
Valuation Date Unobservable Input Low High Average
March 31, 2018 Power prices (per MWh) $9.69 $25.30 $17.50

Power contract costs per quarter (in thousands) 4,126 4,126 4,126
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(6)  Retirement Benefits

PSE has a defined benefit pension plan (Qualified Pension Benefits) covering the largest portion of PSE employees.  Pension 
benefits earned are a function of age, salary, years of service and, in the case of employees in the cash balance formula plan, the 
applicable annual interest crediting rates.  Starting January 1, 2014, for non-represented employees, and December 12, 2014 for 
employees represented by the IBEW, participants will receive annual pay credits of 4.0% each year in the defined benefit pension 
or 401k plan account.  Those employees electing the defined benefits pension plan also receive interest credits, which are at least 
1.0% per quarter.  When an employee with a vested cash balance formula benefit leaves PSE, he or she will have annuity and 
lump sum options for distribution.  PSE also maintains a non-qualified supplemental executive retirement plan (SERP) for its key 
senior management employees. 

In addition to providing pension benefits, PSE provides legacy group health care and life insurance benefits (Other Benefits) 
for certain retired employees.  These benefits are provided principally through an insurance company.  The insurance premiums, 
paid primarily by retirees, are based on the benefits provided during the prior year.  Puget Energy's retirement plans were re-
measured as a result of the merger in 2009 which represents the difference between Puget Energy and PSE's retirement plans.

In March 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-07, requiring that an employer report the service cost component in the same 
line items as other compensation costs arising from services rendered by the pertinent employees during the period.  The other 
components of net benefit cost (which include interest costs, expected return on plan assets, amortization of prior service cost or 
credits and actuarial gains and losses) are required to be presented in the income statement separately from the service cost 
component and outside a subtotal of income from operations.  The Company has included in the consolidated statements of income: 
(i) the components of service cost within utility operations and maintenance for PSE and within non-utility expense and other for 
Puget Energy, and (ii) all non-service cost components in other income.  
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The following tables summarize the Company’s net periodic benefit cost for the three and six months ended June 30, 2018
and 2017:

Puget Energy
Qualified

Pension Benefits
SERP

Pension Benefits
Other

Benefits

Three Months Ended June 30,
(Dollars in Thousands) 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Components of net periodic benefit
cost:            

Service cost $ 5,425 $ 5,023 $ 212 $ 228 $ 17 $ 16
Interest cost 6,780 7,088 530 571 110 130
Expected return on plan assets (12,559) (11,942) — — (117) (116)
Amortization of prior service cost (495) (495) 11 11 — —
Amortization of net loss (gain) 462 — 394 269 (86) (88)

Net periodic benefit cost $ (387) $ (326) $ 1,147 $ 1,079 $ (76) $ (58)

Puget Energy
Qualified

Pension Benefits
SERP

Pension Benefits
Other

Benefits

Six Months Ended June 30,
(Dollars in Thousands) 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Components of net periodic benefit
cost:            

Service cost $ 10,851 $ 10,040 $ 423 $ 457 $ 35 $ 36
Interest cost 13,560 14,186 1,060 1,143 220 250
Expected return on plan assets (25,119) (23,892) — — (235) (231)
Amortization of prior service cost (990) (990) 22 22 — —
Amortization of net loss (gain) 925 — 790 538 (172) (201)

Net periodic benefit cost $ (773) $ (656) $ 2,295 $ 2,160 $ (152) $ (146)

Puget Sound Energy
Qualified 

Pension Benefits
SERP 

Pension Benefits
Other 

Benefits

Three Months Ended June 30,
(Dollars in Thousands) 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Components of net periodic benefit
cost:            

Service cost $ 5,425 $ 5,023 $ 212 $ 228 $ 17 $ 16
Interest cost 6,780 7,088 530 571 110 130
Expected return on plan assets (12,569) (11,963) — — (117) (116)
Amortization of prior service cost (393) (393) 11 11 — —
Amortization of net loss (gain) 3,630 3,095 517 392 (142) (148)

Net periodic benefit cost $ 2,873 $ 2,850 $ 1,270 $ 1,202 $ (132) $ (118)
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Puget Sound Energy
Qualified

Pension Benefits
SERP

Pension Benefits
Other

Benefits

Six Months Ended June 30,
(Dollars in Thousands) 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Components of net periodic benefit
cost:            

Service cost $ 10,851 $ 10,040 $ 423 $ 457 $ 35 $ 36
Interest cost 13,560 14,186 1,060 1,143 220 250
Expected return on plan assets (25,138) (23,931) — — (235) (231)
Amortization of prior service cost (787) (787) 22 22 — —
Amortization of net loss (gain) 7,260 6,524 1,035 783 (283) (320)

Net periodic benefit cost $ 5,746 $ 6,032 $ 2,540 $ 2,405 $ (263) $ (265)

The following table summarizes the Company’s change in benefit obligation for the periods ended June 30, 2018 and 
December 31, 2017:

Puget Energy and
Puget Sound Energy

Qualified
Pension Benefits

SERP
Pension Benefits

Other
Benefits

Six Months
Ended

Year
Ended

Six Months
Ended

Year
Ended

Six Months
Ended

Year
Ended

(Dollars in Thousands)
June 30,

2018
December 31,

2017
June 30,

2018
December 31,

2017
June 30,

2018
December 31,

2017
Change in benefit
obligation:

Benefit obligation at
beginning of period $ 700,481 $ 652,607 $ 55,754 $ 51,734 $ 11,454 $ 11,194
Service cost 10,851 20,081 423 913 35 72
Interest cost 13,560 28,373 1,060 2,285 220 500
Actuarial loss (gain) — 40,945 — 2,722 — 725
Benefits paid (21,300) (40,594) (1,080) (1,900) (562) (1,137)
Medicare part D
subsidy received — — — — 85 100
Administrative
Expense — (931) — — — —

Benefit obligation at end
of period $ 703,592 $ 700,481 $ 56,157 $ 55,754 $ 11,232 $ 11,454

The aggregate expected contributions by the Company to fund the qualified pension plan, SERP and the other postretirement 
plans for the year ending December 31, 2018 are expected to be at least $18.0 million, $5.5 million and $0.3 million, respectively. 
During the three months ended June 30, 2018, the Company contributed $4.5 million and $0.6 million to fund the qualified pension 
plan and SERP, respectively.  During the six months ended June 30, 2018, the Company contributed $9.0 million and $1.1 million
to fund the qualified pension plan and SERP, respectively.  The Company contributed an immaterial amount to fund the other 
postretirement plans.

(7)   Regulation and Rates

General Rate Case Filing 
In January 2017, PSE filed its general rate case (GRC) with the Washington Commission.  The GRC filing included a required 

plan to address Colstrip Units 1 and 2 closures, requested that electric energy supply fixed costs be included in PSE's decoupling 
mechanism, and contained requests for two new mechanisms to address regulatory lag.  The Washington Commission entered a 
final order accepting the multi-party settlement agreement and determined the contested issues in the case on December 5, 2017 
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and new rates became effective December 19, 2017.  The settlement agreement provides for a weighted cost of capital of 7.6% or 
6.55% after-tax, and a capital structure of 48.5% in common equity with a return on equity of 9.5%.  The settlement also resulted 
in a combined electric tariff change that resulted in a net increase of $20.2 million, or 0.9%, annually, and a combined natural gas 
tariff change that resulted in a net decrease of $35.5 million, or 3.8%, annually. 

The GRC also re-purposed the benefit for PTCs and hydro-related treasury grants to fund and recover decommissioning and 
remediation costs for Colstrip Units 1 and 2.  As the Company monetizes PTCs, which are PTCs used on the filed tax returns, the 
regulatory liability is transferred to a reserve for Colstrip Units 1 and 2 decommissioning and remediation costs.

For further details regarding the 2017 GRC filing, see Note 3, "Regulation and Rates" to the consolidated financial statements 
included in Item 8 of the Company’s Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2017.

Decoupling Filings
While fluctuations in weather conditions will continue to affect PSE's billed revenue and energy supply expenses from month 

to month, PSE's decoupling mechanisms assist in mitigating the impact of weather on operating revenue and net income.  Since 
July 2013, the Washington Commission has allowed PSE to record a monthly adjustment to its electric and natural gas operating 
revenues related to electric transmission and distribution, natural gas operations and general administrative costs from most 
residential, commercial and industrial customers to mitigate the effects of abnormal weather, conservation impacts and changes 
in usage patterns per customer.  As a result, these electric and natural gas revenues are recovered on a per customer basis regardless 
of actual consumption levels.  PSE's energy supply costs, which are part of the PCA and PGA mechanisms, are not included in 
the decoupling mechanism.  The revenue recorded under the decoupling mechanisms will be affected by customer growth and not 
actual consumption.  During the rate plan, which ended in December 2017, the allowed decoupling revenue per customer for the 
recovery of delivery system costs increased by 3.0% for the electric customers and 2.2% for the natural gas customers on January 
1 of each year.  Following each calendar year, PSE will recover from, or refund to, customers the difference between allowed 
decoupling revenue and the corresponding actual revenue during the following May to April time period.

On December 5, 2017, the Washington Commission approved PSE’s request within the 2017 GRC to extend the decoupling 
mechanism with some changes to the methodology that took effect on December 19, 2017.  Electric and natural gas delivery 
revenues will continue to be recovered on a per customer basis and electric fixed production energy costs will now be decoupled 
and recovered on the basis of a fixed monthly amount.  The allowed decoupling revenue for electric and natural gas customers 
will no longer increase annually each January 1 as occurred prior to December 19, 2017.  Approved revenue per customer costs 
can only be changed in a GRC or expedited rate filing (ERF).  Approved electric fixed production energy costs can only be changed 
in a GRC or power cost only rate case (PCORC).  Other changes to the decoupling methodology approved by the Washington 
Commission include regrouping of electric and natural gas non-residential customers and the exclusion of certain electric schedules 
from the decoupling mechanism going forward.  The rate test which limits the amount of revenues PSE can collect in its annual 
filings increased from 3.0% to 5.0% for natural gas customers but will remain at 3.0% for electric customers.  The decoupling 
mechanism will be reviewed again in PSE’s first rate case filed in or after 2021, or in a separate proceeding, if appropriate. 

On June 30, 2018, PSE performed an analysis to determine if electric and natural gas decoupling revenue deferrals would be 
collected from customers within 24 months of the annual period, per ASC 980.  If not, for GAAP purposes only, PSE would need 
to record a reserve against the decoupling revenue and regulatory asset balance.  Once the revenue is forecasted to be collected 
within 24 months, the reserve can be reversed.  The analysis indicated all deferred revenue for electric and natural gas will be 
collected within 24 months of the annual period; therefore, there were no adjustments to 2017 or 2018 decoupling revenue other 
than to record the previously unrecognized decoupling deferrals of $20.8 million at December 31, 2016.
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Electric Regulation and Rates
Storm Damage Deferral Accounting

The Washington Commission issued a GRC order that defined deferrable storm events and provided that costs in excess of 
the annual cost threshold may be deferred for qualifying storm damage costs that meet the modified Institute of Electrical and 
Electronics Engineers outage criteria for system average interruption duration index.  For the six months ended June 30, 2018, 
PSE incurred $8.9 million in storm-related electric transmission and distribution system restoration costs, of which no current year 
amount was deferred to a regulatory asset. This compares to $20.8 million incurred in storm-related electric transmission and 
distribution system restoration costs for the six months ended June 30, 2017, of which $12.1 million was deferred to a regulatory 
asset. Under the December 5, 2017 Washington Commission order regarding PSE’s GRC, the following changes to PSE’s storm 
deferral mechanism were approved:  (i) the cumulative annual cost threshold for deferral of storms under the mechanism increased 
from $8.0 million to $10.0 million effective January 1, 2018; and (ii) qualifying events where the total qualifying cost is less than 
$0.5 million will not qualify for deferral and these costs will also not count toward the $10.0 million annual cost threshold.

Washington Commission Tax Deferral Filing
The TCJA was signed into law in December 2017.  As a result of this change, PSE re-measured its deferred tax balances under 

the new corporate tax rate.  PSE filed an accounting petition on December 29, 2017 requesting deferred accounting treatment for 
the impacts of tax reform.  The deferral accounting treatment results in the tax rate change being captured in the deferred income 
tax balance with an offset to the regulatory liability for deferred income taxes.  Additionally, on March 30, 2018, PSE filed for a 
rate change for electric and natural gas customers associated with TCJA to reflect the decrease in the federal corporate income tax 
rate from 35.0% to 21.0%.  The filing did not address excess deferred taxes or the deferred balance associated with the over-
collection of income tax expense of $34.6 million for the period January 1 through April 30, 2018 (the time period that encompasses 
the effective date of the TCJA through May 1, 2018, the effective date of the rate change).  The $34.6 million tax over-collection 
decreased PSE's revenue and increased the regulatory liability for a refund to customers.  PSE’s proposal in the filing is to address 
both the excess deferred taxes and the deferred balance associated with the over-collection of income tax expense in PSE’s 
accounting petition.  The overall impact of the rate change, based on the annual period from May 2018 through April 2019, is a 
revenue decrease of $72.9 million, or 3.4% for electric and $23.6 million, or 2.7% for natural gas.  
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(8)   Commitments and Contingencies

Colstrip
PSE has a 50% ownership interest in Colstrip Units 1 and 2 and a 25% interest in Colstrip Units 3 and 4.  On March 6, 2013, 

the Sierra Club and the Montana Environmental Information Center filed a Clean Air Act citizen suit against all Colstrip owners 
in the U.S. District Court, District of Montana.  On July 12, 2016, PSE reached a settlement with the Sierra Club to dismiss all of 
the Clean Air Act allegations against the Colstrip Generating Station, which was approved by the court on September 6, 2016.  As 
part of the settlement that was signed by all Colstrip owners, Colstrip 1 and 2 owners, PSE and Talen Energy, agreed to retire the  
two oldest units (Units 1 and 2) no later than July 1, 2022.  The Washington Commission allows full recovery in rates of the net 
book value (NBV) at retirement and related decommissioning costs consistent with prior precedents.  

Depreciation rates were updated in the GRC effective December 19, 2017, where PSE's depreciation increased for Colstrip 
Units 1 and 2 to recover plant costs to the expected shutdown date.  The increase in depreciation caused the Colstrip Units 1 and 
2 regulatory asset to be reduced to $129.2 million and $127.6 million as of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.  
However, the full scope of decommissioning activities and costs may vary from the estimates that are available at this time.  The 
GRC also repurposed PTCs and hydro-related treasury grants to fund and recover decommissioning and remediation costs for 
Colstrip Units 1 and 2.  Additionally, PSE will accelerate the depreciation of Colstrip Units 3 and 4, per the terms of the GRC 
settlement, to December 31, 2027.

Greenwood
On March 9, 2016, a natural gas explosion occurred in the Greenwood neighborhood of Seattle, WA, damaging multiple 

structures.  The Washington Commission Staff completed its investigation of the incident and filed a complaint on September 20, 
2016.  On March 28, 2017, pipeline safety regulators and PSE reached a settlement in response to the complaint.  As part of the 
agreement, PSE agreed to pay a penalty of $1.5 million, and is currently implementing a comprehensive inspection and remediation 
program.  However, litigation is still pending regarding damage and personal injury claims.

Other Commitments and Contingencies  
There have been no material changes to the contractual obligations and consolidated commercial commitments disclosed in 

the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017.

(9)   Other

Long-Term Debt
On June 4, 2018, PSE issued $600.0 million of 30-year Senior Notes under its senior note indenture at an interest rate of 

4.223% with a maturity date of June 15, 2048.  The proceeds from the issuance were used to pay the principal and accrued interest 
on the Company’s $200.0 million Secured Notes that matured on June 15, 2018, outstanding commercial paper borrowings of 
$348.0 million and other general corporate expenses.
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Item 2.  Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and related notes thereto 
included elsewhere in this report on Form 10-Q.  The discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and 
uncertainties, such as Puget Energy, Inc. (Puget Energy) and Puget Sound Energy, Inc. (PSE) objectives, expectations and 
intentions.  Words or phrases such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “continues,” “could,” “estimates,” “expects,” “future,” 
“intends,” “may,” “might,” “plans,” “potential,” “predicts,” “projects,” “should,” “will likely result,” “will continue” and 
similar expressions are intended to identify certain of these forward-looking statements.  However, these words are not the exclusive 
means of identifying such statements.  In addition, any statements that refer to expectations, projections or other characterizations 
of future events or circumstances are forward-looking statements.  Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these 
forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this report.  Puget Energy's and PSE's actual results could differ 
materially from results that may be anticipated by such forward-looking statements.  Factors that could cause or contribute to 
such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in the section entitled “Forward-Looking Statements” included 
elsewhere in this report and in the section entitled "Risk Factors" included in Part I, Item 1A in Puget Energy's and Puget Sound 
Energy's Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2017.  Except as required by law, neither Puget Energy nor PSE undertakes 
any obligation to revise any forward-looking statements in order to reflect events or circumstances that may subsequently arise.  
Readers are urged to carefully review and consider the various disclosures made in this report and in Puget Energy's and PSE's 
other reports filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) that attempt to advise interested parties of the risks 
and factors that may affect Puget Energy's and PSE's business, prospects and results of operations.

Overview

Puget Energy is an energy services holding company and substantially all of its operations are conducted through its subsidiary 
PSE, a regulated electric and natural gas utility company.  PSE is the largest electric and natural gas utility in the state of Washington, 
primarily engaged in the business of electric transmission, distribution and generation and natural gas distribution.  Puget Energy's 
business strategy is to generate stable cash flows by offering reliable electric and natural gas service in a cost-effective manner 
through PSE.  Puget Energy also has a wholly-owned non-regulated subsidiary, Puget LNG, LLC (Puget LNG), which has the 
sole purpose of owning, developing and financing the non-regulated activity of the Tacoma LNG facility, currently under 
construction.  All of Puget Energy's common stock is indirectly owned by Puget Holdings, LLC (Puget Holdings).  Puget Holdings 
is owned by a consortium of long-term infrastructure investors including Macquarie Infrastructure Partners, Macquarie Capital 
Group Limited, the Canada Pension Plan Investment Board, the British Columbia Investment Management Corporation, and the 
Alberta Investment Management Corporation.  Puget Energy and PSE are collectively referred to herein as “the Company.”

PSE generates revenue and cash flow primarily from the sale of electric and natural gas services to residential and commercial 
customers within a service territory covering approximately 6,000 square miles, principally in the Puget Sound region of the state 
of Washington.  PSE continually balances its load requirements, generation resources, purchase power agreements, and market 
purchases to meet customer demand.  The Company's external financing requirements principally reflect the cash needs of its 
construction program, its schedule of maturing debt and certain operational needs.  PSE requires access to bank and capital markets 
to meet its financing needs.
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Factors and Trends Affecting PSE's Performance  
The principal business, economic and other factors that affect PSE's operations and financial performance include: 

• The rates PSE is allowed to charge for its services;
• PSE’s ability to recover power costs that are included in rates which are based on volume;
• Weather conditions, including the impact of temperature on customer load; the impact of extreme weather events on 

budgeted maintenance costs; meteorological conditions such as snow-pack, stream-flow and wind-speed which affect 
power generation, supply and price;

• Regulatory decisions allowing PSE to recover purchased power and fuel costs, on a timely basis;
• PSE’s ability to supply electricity and natural gas, either through company-owned generation, purchase power 

contracts or by procuring natural gas or electricity in wholesale markets;
• Equal sharing between PSE and its customers of earnings which exceed PSE's authorized rate of return (ROR);
• Availability and access to capital and the cost of capital;
• Regulatory compliance costs, including those related to new and developing federal regulations of electric system 

reliability, state regulations of natural gas pipelines and federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations;
• Wholesale commodity prices of electricity and natural gas;
• Increasing capital expenditures with additional depreciation and amortization; 
• Tax reform, the effect of lower tax rates, and regulatory treatment of excess deferred tax balances on rate base and 

customer rates;
• General economic conditions in PSE's service territory and its effects on customer growth and use-per-customer; 

and
• Federal, state, and local taxes.

Further detail regarding the factors and trends affecting performance of the Company during the fiscal quarter ended 
June 30, 2018 is set forth below in this "Overview" section as well as in other sections of Management's Discussion and 
Analysis.

Regulation of PSE Rates and Recovery of PSE Costs  
PSE's regulatory requirements and operational needs require the investment of substantial capital in 2018 and future years.  

As PSE intends to seek recovery of these investments through the regulatory process, its financial results depend heavily upon 
sufficient outcomes from that process.  The rates that PSE is allowed to charge for its services influence its financial condition, 
results of operations and liquidity.  PSE is highly regulated and the rates that it charges its retail customers are approved by the 
Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission (Washington Commission).  The Washington Commission has traditionally 
required these rates be determined based, to a large extent, on historic test year costs plus weather normalized assumptions about 
hydroelectric conditions and power costs in the relevant rate year.  Incremental customer growth and sales typically have not 
provided sufficient revenue to cover general cost increases over time due to the combined effects of regulatory lag and attrition. 
Accordingly, the Company will need to seek rate relief through a rate case on a regular and frequent basis in the foreseeable future 
after the investment is made.  In addition, the Washington Commission determines whether the Company's expenses and capital 
investments are reasonable and prudent for the provision of cost-effective, reliable and safe electric and natural gas service.  If the 
Washington Commission determines that a capital investment is not reasonable or prudent, the costs (including return on any 
resulting rate base) related to such capital investment may be disallowed, partially or entirely, and not recovered in rates. 

Washington state law also requires PSE to pursue electric conservation that is cost-effective, reliable and feasible.  PSE’s 
mandate to pursue electric conservation initiatives may have a negative impact on the electric business financial performance due 
to lost margins from lower sales volumes as variable power costs are not part of the decoupling mechanism.  Although not specified 
by Washington state law, the Washington Commission also sets natural gas conservation achievement standards for PSE.  The 
effects of achieving these standards will, however, have only a slight negative impact on natural gas business financial performance 
due to the natural gas business being almost fully decoupled. 

General Rate Case Filing
In January 2017, PSE filed its general rate case (GRC) with the Washington Commission.  The Washington Commission 

entered a final order accepting the multi-party settlement agreement and determined the contested issues in the case on December 
5, 2017 and new rates became effective December 19, 2017.  For further details regarding the 2017 GRC filing, see Note 3, 
"Regulation and Rates" to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of the Company's Form 10-K for the period 
ended December 31, 2017.



37

Washington Commission Tax Deferral Filing
The TCJA was signed into law in December 2017.  As a result of this change, PSE re-measured its deferred tax balances under 

the new corporate tax rate.  PSE filed an accounting petition on December 29, 2017 requesting deferred accounting treatment for 
the impacts of tax reform.  The deferral accounting treatment results in the tax rate change being captured in the deferred income 
tax balance with an offset to the regulatory liability for deferred income taxes.  Additionally, on March 30, 2018, PSE filed for a 
rate change for electric and natural gas customers associated with TCJA to reflect the decrease in the federal corporate income tax 
rate from 35% to 21%.  The filing did not address excess deferred taxes or the deferred balance associated with the over collection 
of income tax expense for the period January 1 through April 30, 2018 (the time period that encompasses the effective date of the 
TCJA through May 1, 2018, the requested effective date of the rate change).  PSE’s proposal in the filing is to address both the 
excess deferred taxes and the deferred balance associated with the over collection of income tax expense in PSE’s accounting 
petition. 

The Washington Commission approved the following PSE requests to change rates annually under its electric and natural gas 
tax deferral filing:

Effective Date

Average
Percentage

Increase 
(Decrease)

in Rates

Increase 
(Decrease)
in Revenue
(Dollars in 
Millions)

Electric:
May 1, 2018 (3.4)% $(72.9)

Natural Gas:
May 1, 2018 (2.7) (23.6)

Decoupling Filings  
On December 5, 2017, the Washington Commission approved PSE’s request within the 2017 GRC to extend the decoupling 

mechanism with some changes to the methodology that took effect on December 19, 2017.  Electric and natural gas delivery 
revenues will continue to be recovered on a per customer basis and electric fixed production energy costs will now be decoupled 
and recovered on the basis of a fixed monthly amount.  The allowed decoupling revenue for electric and natural gas customers 
will no longer increase annually each January 1 as occurred prior to December 19, 2017.   Approved revenue per customer costs 
can only be changed in a GRC or expedited rate filing (ERF).  Approved electric fixed production energy costs can only be changed 
in a GRC or power cost only rate case (PCORC).  Other changes to the decoupling methodology approved by the Washington 
Commission include regrouping of electric and natural gas non-residential customers and the exclusion of certain electric schedules 
from the decoupling mechanism going forward.  The rate cap which limits the amount of revenues PSE can collect in its annual 
filings increased from 3.0% to 5.0% for natural gas customers but will remain at 3.0% for electric customers.  The decoupling 
mechanism is to be reviewed again in PSE's first GRC filed in or after 2021, or in a separate proceeding, if appropriate.
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The Washington Commission approved the following PSE requests to change rates for prior deferrals under its electric and 
natural gas decoupling mechanisms:

Effective Date

Average
Percentage

Increase 
(Decrease)

in Rates

Increase 
(Decrease)
in Revenue
(Dollars in 
Millions)1

Electric:
May 1, 2018 (1.1)% $(25.2)
May 1, 2017 2.0 41.9
May 1, 2016 1.0 20.8

Natural Gas:
May 1, 2018 1.7% $15.9
May 1, 2017 2.4 22.4
May 1, 2016 2.8 25.4

_______________
1 The increase in revenue is net of reductions from excess earnings of $10.0 million for electric and $4.9 million for natural gas effective May 1, 2018, $11.9 

million for electric and $2.2 million for natural gas effective May 1, 2017, and $11.9 million for electric and $5.5 million for natural gas effective May 1, 
2016. 

As noted earlier, at the time of the filings below, the Company was also limited to a 3.0% annual decoupling related cap on 
increases in total revenue.  This limitation has been triggered as follows for natural gas with no impacts to electric: 

Effective Date Accrued Through

Deferrals not 
Included in Annual 

Rate Increases
(Dollars in 
Millions)1

Natural Gas:
2016 $47.4

_______________
1 Existing deferrals after December 2017 may be included in customer rates beginning in May 2019, subject to subsequent application of the earnings test 

and the cap on decoupling related rate increases, which for natural gas customers, was changed from 3.0% to 5.0% as a result of the Washington Commission 
order in PSE's GRC. 

Electric Rates
Power Cost Adjustment Mechanism
PSE currently has a power cost adjustment (PCA) mechanism that provides for the deferral of power costs that vary from the 

“power cost baseline” level of power costs.  The “power cost baseline” levels are set, in part, based on normalized assumptions 
about weather and hydroelectric conditions.  Excess power costs or savings are apportioned between PSE and its customers pursuant 
to the graduated scale set forth in the PCA mechanism and will trigger a surcharge or refund when the cumulative deferral trigger 
is reached.  

Effective January 1, 2017 the following graduated scale is used in the PCA mechanism:

Company's Share Customers’ Share
Annual Power Cost Variability Over Under Over Under
Over or Under Collected by up to $17 million 100% 100% —% —%
Over or Under Collected by between $17 million - $40 million 35 50 65 50
Over or Under Collected beyond $40 + million 10 10 90 90

On September 30, 2016, PSE filed an accounting petition with the Washington Commission which requested deferral of the 
variances, either positive or negative, between the fixed costs previously recovered in the PCA and the revenue received to cover 
the allowed fixed costs.  The deferral period requested was January 1, 2017 through December 31, 2017 when rates went into 
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effect from PSE's 2017 GRC.  On November 10, 2016, the Washington Commission issued Order No. 01 approving PSE’s 
accounting petition.  With the final determination in PSE’s GRC, this deferral ceased with the rate effective date of December 19, 
2017. 

For the six months ended June 30, 2018, in its PCA mechanism, PSE over recovered its power costs by $15.3 million of which 
no amount was apportioned to customers.  This compares to an under recovery of power costs of $8.6 million for the six months 
ended June 30, 2017 of which no amounts were apportioned to customers.  Power costs decreased in 2018 compared to 2017, 
although the effect of the lower power costs in the PCA mechanism was offset by a decrease in load used to calculate the baseline 
amount and a slightly lower baseline rate in 2018.

Electric Conservation Rider
The electric conservation rider collects revenue to cover the costs incurred in providing services and programs for conservation.  

Rates change annually on May 1 to collect the annual budget that started the prior January and to true-up for the difference between 
actual conservation expenditures and the forecasted conservation expenditures from the prior year as well as the difference between 
actual load and the forecasted load set in rates. 

The following table sets forth conservation rider rate adjustments approved by the Washington Commission and the 
corresponding expected annual impact on PSE’s revenue based on the effective dates:

Effective Date

Average
Percentage

Increase
(Decrease)

in Rates

Increase 
(Decrease)
in Revenue
(Dollars in 
Millions)

May 1, 2018 (0.8)% $(18.0)
May 1, 2017 0.7 16.5
May 1, 2016 (0.5) (11.7)

Electric Property Tax Tracker Mechanism  
The purpose of the property tax tracker mechanism is to pass through the cost of all property taxes incurred by the Company.  

The mechanism was implemented in 2013 and removed property taxes from general rates and included those costs for recovery 
in an adjusting tariff rate.  The mechanism acts as a tracker rate schedule and collects the total amount of property taxes assessed.  
The tracker is adjusted each year in May based on that year's assessed property taxes and true-up from the prior year. 

The following table sets forth property tax tracker mechanism rate adjustments approved by the Washington Commission and 
the corresponding expected annual impact on PSE’s revenue based on the effective dates:

Effective Date

Average
Percentage

Increase 
(Decrease)

in Rates

Increase 
(Decrease)
in Revenue
(Dollars in 
Millions)

May 1, 2018 (0.1)% $(1.3)
May 1, 2017 (0.04) (0.9)
May 1, 2016 0.3 5.7

Federal Incentive Tracker Tariff
The Federal Incentive Tracker Tariff passes through to customers the benefits associated with the wind-related treasury 

grants.  The filing results in a credit back to customers for pass-back of treasury grant amortization and pass-through of interest 
and any related true-ups.  The filing is adjusted annually for new federal benefits, actual versus forecast interest and to true-up 
for the difference between actual load and the forecasted load set in rates.  Rates change annually on January 1.  Additionally, 
this tracker is impacted by the TCJA previously discussed.  Accordingly, PSE filed for a one-time rate change to be effective 
May 1, 2018 to recognize the decrease in the federal corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%. 
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The following table sets forth the federal incentive tracker tariff revenue requirement approved by the Washington Commission 
and the corresponding expected annual impact on PSE’s revenue based on the effective dates:

Effective Date

Average
Percentage

Increase 
(Decrease)

in Rates from 
prior year

Total credit to be 
passed back to 

eligible 
customers
(Dollars in 
Millions)

May 1, 2018 0.4% $(40.1)
January 1, 2018 0.2 (48.2)
January 1, 2017 0.3 (51.7)
January 1, 2016 (0.2) (57.3)

Residential Exchange Benefit
The residential exchange program passes through the residential exchange program benefits that PSE receives from the 

Bonneville Power Administration (BPA).  Rates change bi-annually on October 1.
The following table sets forth residential exchange benefit adjustments approved by the Washington Commission and the 

corresponding expected annual impact on PSE’s revenue based on the effective dates:

Effective Date

Average
Percentage

Increase 
(Decrease)

in Rates

Total credit to be 
passed back to 

eligible 
customers
(Dollars in 
Millions)

October 1, 2017 (0.6)% $(80.8)

Natural Gas Rates
Natural Gas Conservation Rider
The natural gas conservation rider collects revenue to cover the costs incurred in providing services and programs for 

conservation.  Rates change annually on May 1 to collect the annual budget that started the prior January and to true-up for the 
difference between actual conservation expenditures and forecasted conservation expenditures from the prior year as well as the 
difference between actual load and the forecasted load set in rates. 

The following table sets forth conservation rider rate adjustments approved by the Washington Commission and the 
corresponding expected annual impact on PSE’s revenue based on the effective dates:

Effective Date

Average
Percentage

Increase 
(Decrease)

in Rates

Increase 
(Decrease)
in Revenue
(Dollars in 
Millions)

May 1, 2017 (0.1) (1.0)
May 1, 2016 0.3 2.9

Natural Gas Property Tax Tracker Mechanism
The purpose of the property tax tracker mechanism is to pass through the cost of all property taxes incurred by the Company.  

The mechanism was implemented in 2013 and removed property taxes from general rates and included those costs for recovery 
in an adjusting tariff rate.  The mechanism acts as a tracker rate schedule and collects the total amount of property taxes assessed.  
The tracker is adjusted each year in May based on that year's assessed property taxes and adjustments to the rate from the prior 
year.
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The following table sets forth property tax tracker mechanism rate adjustments approved by the Washington Commission and 
the corresponding expected annual impact on PSE’s revenue based on the effective dates:

Effective Date

Average
Percentage

Increase
(Decrease)

in Rates

Increase 
(Decrease)
in Revenue
(Dollars in 
Millions)

May 1, 2018 (0.2)% $(2.2)
May 1, 2017 (0.1) (1.1)
May 1, 2016 0.4 3.5

Natural Gas Cost Recovery Mechanism 
The purpose of the cost recovery mechanism (CRM) is to recover capital costs related to projects included in PSE's pipe 

replacement program plan on file with the Washington Commission with the intended effect of enhancing the safety of the natural 
gas distribution system.  Rates change annually on November 1.

The following table sets forth CRM rate adjustments approved by or pending with the Washington Commission and the 
corresponding expected annual impact on PSE’s revenue based on the effective dates:

Effective Date

Average
Percentage

Increase
(Decrease)

in Rates

Increase 
(Decrease)
in Revenue
(Dollars in 
Millions)

November 1, 2018 (proposed as originally filed and pending approval) 0.4% $3.7
November 1, 2017 0.5 4.9
November 1, 2016 0.6 5.6

Purchased Gas Adjustment 
PSE has a purchased gas adjustment (PGA) mechanism that allows PSE to recover expected natural gas supply and 

transportation costs and defer, as a receivable or liability, any natural gas supply and transportation costs that exceed or fall short 
of this expected natural gas cost amount in PGA mechanism rates, including accrued interest.  PSE is authorized by the Washington 
Commission to accrue carrying costs on PGA receivable and payable balances.  A receivable or payable balance in the PGA 
mechanism reflects an under recovery or over recovery, respectively, of natural gas cost through the PGA mechanism.  Rates 
change annually on November 1.

The following table sets forth the PGA rate adjustments approved by the Washington Commission and the corresponding 
expected annual impact on PSE’s revenue based on the effective date:

Effective Date

Average
Percentage

Increase 
(Decrease)

in Rates

Increase 
(Decrease)
in Revenue
(Dollars in 
Millions)

November 1, 2017 (3.3)% $(30.8)
November 1, 2016 (0.4) (4.1)

Other Proceedings
Large Customer Retail Wheeling
On October 7, 2016, PSE filed a tariff to provide open access service to a narrow set of qualifying customers.  Subsequent to 

that tariff filing, parties to the case reached an all-party settlement that converted the tariff to a special contract only allowing retail 
access for the loads of the Microsoft Corporation currently being served under PSE’s electric Schedule 40.  The special contract 
includes the following conditions: (i) Microsoft must exceed Washington State’s current renewable portfolio standards, (ii) the 
remainder of power sold to Microsoft must be carbon free, (iii) there will be no reduction in Microsoft's funding of PSE’s 
conservation programs, (iv) Microsoft will pay a transition fee that will be a straight pass-through to customers and (v) Microsoft 
will fund enhanced low-income support.  A definitive agreement among the parties, the special contract and supportive testimony 
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were filed with the Washington Commission on April 11, 2017 with hearings that occurred on May 3, 2017.  The Washington 
Commission issued an order on July 13, 2017 approving PSE’s special contract with Microsoft.  Microsoft cannot begin taking 
service under the special contract until it has the required metering installed, has contracts for the supply and transmission of its 
power supply and pays the transition fee. 

Voluntary Long-Term Renewable Energy
On September 28, 2016, the Washington Commission approved PSE's tariff revision to create an additional voluntary renewable 

energy product, effective September 30, 2016.  This provides customers with electric generation resource options to help them 
meet their sustainability goals.  Incremental costs of the program will be allocated to the voluntary participants of the program as 
is the case with PSE’s existing Green Power programs.  PSE initially offered this service, Green Direct, to larger customers 
(aggregated annual loads greater than 10,000 MWh) and government customers.  The initial resource option offered under this 
rate schedule is a new wind generation facility with the capacity of approximately 136.8 MW that will be constructed in the region 
by a developer under contract to PSE to meet the demand for this voluntary renewable energy product.  PSE anticipates that 
customers will start receiving energy through this program in 2019.  Twenty-one customers have fully subscribed to the anticipated 
output of the project.  

For additional information, see Note 7, "Regulation and Rates" to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 1 of 
this report.

Other Factors and Trends
Access to Debt Capital  
PSE relies on access to bank borrowings and short-term money markets as sources of liquidity and longer-term capital markets 

to fund its utility construction program, to meet maturing debt obligations and other capital expenditure requirements not satisfied 
by cash flow from its operations or equity investment from its parent, Puget Energy.  Neither Puget Energy nor PSE have any debt 
outstanding whose maturity would accelerate upon a credit rating downgrade.  However, a ratings downgrade could adversely 
affect the Company's ability to renew existing, or obtain access to new credit facilities and could increase the cost of such facilities.  
For example, under Puget Energy's and PSE's credit facilities, the borrowing costs increase as their respective credit ratings decline 
due to increases in credit spreads and commitment fees.  If PSE is unable to access debt capital on reasonable terms, its ability to 
pursue improvements or acquisitions, including generating capacity, which may be relied on for future growth and to otherwise 
implement its strategy, could be adversely affected.  PSE monitors the credit environment and expects to continue to be able to 
access the capital markets to meet its short-term and long-term borrowing needs.  In October 2017, Puget Energy and PSE each 
entered into new 5-year credit facilities that replaced the previous facilities and are scheduled to mature in October 2022.  Additional 
information on credit facilities is set forth below in the “Puget Sound Energy - Credit Facilities” and "Puget Energy - Credit 
Facility" sections.

Regulatory Compliance Costs and Expenditures 
PSE's operations are subject to extensive federal, state and local laws and regulations.  These regulations cover electric system 

reliability, natural gas pipeline system safety and energy market transparency, among other areas.  Environmental laws and 
regulations related to air and water quality, including climate change and endangered species protection, waste handling and 
disposal (including generation by-products such as coal ash), remediation of contamination and siting new facilities also impact 
the Company's operations.  PSE must spend a significant amount of resources to fulfill requirements set by regulatory agencies, 
many of which have greatly expanded mandates on measures including resource planning, remediation, monitoring, pollution 
control equipment and emissions-related abatement and fees. 

Compliance with these or other future regulations, such as those pertaining to climate change, could require significant capital 
expenditures by PSE and may adversely affect PSE's financial position, results of operations, cash flows and liquidity.

Other Challenges and Strategies
Competition  
PSE’s electric and natural gas utility retail customers generally do not have the ability to choose their electric or natural gas 

supplier; and therefore, PSE’s business has historically been recognized as a natural monopoly.  However, PSE faces competition 
from public utility districts and municipalities that want to establish their own municipal-owned utility, as a result of which PSE 
may lose a number of customers.  PSE also faces increasing competition for sales to its retail customers through alternative methods 
of electric energy generation, including solar and other self-generation methods.  In addition, PSE’s natural gas customers may 
elect to use heating oil, propane or other fuels instead of using and purchasing natural gas from PSE.  



43

Results of Operations
Puget Sound Energy

Non-GAAP Financial Measures - Electric and Natural Gas Margins
The following discussion includes financial information prepared in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting 

Principles (GAAP), as well as two other financial measures, electric margin and natural gas margin, that are considered “non-
GAAP financial measures.”  Generally, a non-GAAP financial measure is a numerical measure of a company’s financial 
performance, financial position or cash flows that includes adjustments that result in a departure from GAAP presentation.  The 
presentation of electric margin and natural gas margin is intended to supplement an understanding of PSE’s operating 
performance.  Electric margin and natural gas margin are used by PSE to determine whether PSE is collecting the appropriate 
amount of revenue from its customers in order to provide adequate recovery of operating costs, including interest and equity 
returns.  PSE’s electric margin and natural gas margin measures may not be comparable to other companies’ electric margin and 
natural gas margin measures.  Furthermore, these measures are not intended to replace operating income as determined in 
accordance with GAAP as an indicator of operating performance.
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Electric Margin 
Electric margin represents electric sales to retail and transportation customers less the cost of generating and purchasing electric 

energy sold to customers, including transmission costs, to bring electric energy to PSE's service territory.  The following chart displays 
the details of PSE's electric margin changes for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2018:  

______________
* Includes decoupling cash collections, ROR excess earnings, and decoupling 24-month revenue reserve.

Three months ended June 30, 2017 compared to 2018 
Electric Operating Revenue

Electric operating revenues decreased $28.3 million primarily due to a decrease in decoupling revenue of $28.2 million and 
lower electric retail sales of $12.9 million; partially offset by other decoupling revenue of $5.7 million and transportation and other 
revenues of $5.6 million.  These items are discussed in detail below.

• Electric retail sales decreased $12.9 million primarily due to a decrease in rates of $8.2 million from the following:  (i) a 
decrease in rates of 3.5% as a result of a decrease in corporate tax rates in the TCJA filing, (ii) a decoupling rate mechanism 
decrease of 1.1% annually effective May 2018,  and (iii) a $4.7 million decrease primarily from lower retail residential 
electricity usage of 2.5% compared to the prior year.  The reduced usage was primarily due to a decrease in heating degree 
days of 15.1% compared to 2017. 

• Decoupling revenue decreased $28.2 million primarily due to $23.4 million of PCA fixed cost deferrals.  In 2017, the PCA 
fixed cost deferrals were not load shaped within the mechanism, which led to a large over-collection.  In 2018, PCA fixed 
costs are load shaped within the decoupling mechanism to more accurately reflect annual load trends.  In addition, the 
decoupling deferrals decreased $4.8 million due to a decrease in allowed revenue per customer slightly offset by a decrease 
in electricity usage as noted above.  As a result, actual revenue was closer to PSE's allowed revenue per the decoupling 
mechanism compared to 2017.  
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• Other decoupling revenue increased $5.7 million due to a decrease in cash collections of $3.5 million due to lower 
amortization rates and reduced usage and in 2018 a true-up of $2.3 million was recorded for 2017 electric ROR to $9.5 
million.

• Transportation and other revenue increased $5.6 million primarily due to a change in production tax credit (PTC) deferral 
revenue of $7.6 million for the re-purpose of the PTCs and an increase in net wholesale natural gas sales of $3.1 million due 
to an increase of 4.3% in wholesale electricity prices; partially offset by tax reform deferrals for revenue subject to refunds 
of $5.1 million. 

Electric Power Costs
Electric power costs decreased $6.1 million primarily due to a decrease of $4.4 million of electric generation fuel expense.  This 

item is discussed in detail below: 
• Electric generation fuel expense decreased $4.4 million primarily due to a $3.4 million reduction of coal generation costs  

primarily at Colstrip units 1 and 2 for variable fuel costs due to a 18.1% decrease in production as units 1 and 2 were shut 
down for maintenance during the second quarter of 2018.  In addition, there was a $1.0 million reduction in combustion 
turbine generation costs primarily due to an increase in wind generation of 4.2% and reduction in customer usage.

The following chart displays the details of PSE's electric margin changes for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2018:  

______________
* Includes decoupling cash collections, ROR excess earnings, and decoupling 24-month revenue reserve.

Six months ended June 30, 2017 compared to 2018 
Electric Operating Revenue

Electric operating revenues increased $2.4 million primarily due to transportation and other revenues of $28.9 million and sales 
to other utilities of $3.7 million; partially offset by lower electric retail sales of $20.9 million and decoupling revenue of $10.8 
million.  These items are discussed in detail below.
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• Electric retail sales decreased $20.9 million due to a decrease of $36.1 million from lower retail electricity usage of 3.0% 
compared to the prior year and partially offset by an increase in rates of $15.2 million due to the decoupling rate mechanism 
rate increase of 2.0% annually effective May 2017 and the GRC rate increase of 0.9% annually effective December 2017.  
The rate increases were partially offset by rate decrease in May 2018 of 3.5% due to change in corporate tax rates as a result 
of TCJA. The reduced usage was due to a decrease of residential and commercial use per customer of 4.8% and 1.1%, 
respectively, primarily due to a decrease in heating degree days of 12.0% compared to 2017.

• Sales to other utilities increased $3.7 million due to a 9.8% increase in volumes sold and a 13.9% increase in price. EIM 
sales drove the increase in volumes.  

• Decoupling revenue decreased $10.8 million primarily due to a decrease in decoupling deferrals of $9.2 million as driven 
by actual revenue being closer to PSE's allowed revenue per the decoupling mechanism compared to 2017.  This was primarily 
driven by a decrease in allowed revenue per customer compared to 2017 which was offset by lower customer usage.   The 
remaining $1.6 million decrease  is a result of fixed production costs collection being greater than allowed compared to 2017.

• Transportation and other revenue increased $28.9 million primarily due to a change in PTC deferral revenue of $51.2 
million for the re-purpose of the PTCs; partially offset by tax reform deferrals for revenue subject to refunds of $24.1 million. 

Electric Power Costs
Electric power costs decreased $40.9 million primarily due to a decrease of $26.1 million of purchased electricity costs and a 

decrease of $13.3 million of electric generation fuel expense.  These items are discussed in detail below:
• Purchased electricity expense decreased $26.1 million primarily due to a 7.3% decrease in wholesale electricity purchases 

and a 1.4% decrease in wholesale prices.  The decrease in purchases was primarily driven by a decrease in load and an 
increase of wind and combustion turbine generation of 27.8% and 10.5%, respectively, which decreased the need to purchase 
additional wholesale power.

• Electric generation fuel expense decreased $13.3 million primarily due to a $10.1 million reduction in combustion turbine 
generation costs as a result of a reduction in peaker combustion turbine generation due to favorable wholesale electricity 
prices and wind and hydro production.  There was also a $3.2 million  reduction of coal generation costs  primarily at Colstrip 
units 1 and 2 due to a shutdown during the second quarter of 2018 for maintenance.

Natural Gas Margin
Natural gas margin is natural gas sales to retail and transportation customers less the cost of natural gas purchased, including 

transportation costs to bring natural gas to PSE’s service territory.  The PGA mechanism passes through to customers increases 
or decreases in the natural gas supply portion of the natural gas service rates based upon changes in the price of natural gas 
purchased from producers and wholesale marketers or changes in natural gas pipeline transportation costs.  PSE's margin or net 
income is not affected by changes under the PGA mechanism because over-and-under recoveries of natural gas costs included in 
baseline PGA rates are deferred and either refunded or collected from customers, respectively, in future periods.
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The following chart displays the details of PSE's natural gas margin changes for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 
2018:  

_______________
* Includes decoupling cash collections, ROR excess earnings, and decoupling 24-month revenue reserve.

Three months ended June 30, 2017 compared to 2018 
Natural Gas Operating Revenue

Natural gas operating revenue decreased $19.9 million primarily due to a decrease of $19.1 million in total retail sales due 
to a decrease of natural gas usage, a decrease in transportation and other revenue of $2.9 million and a decrease of $2.3 million  
in decoupling revenue; partially offset by a $4.4 million increase in other decoupling revenue.  These items are discussed in detail 
below.

• Natural gas retail sales revenue decreased $19.1 million due to a decrease of $11.5 million in natural gas sales, which 
is a result of a decrease in natural gas load of 7.6% from 2017 and a decrease in revenue per therm of $7.6 million. The 
decrease in revenue per therm was primarily due to rate changes from the following filings:  GRC which decreased rates 
3.8% annually effective December 2017, PGA which decreased rates 3.3% annually effective November  2017, 3.0% 
decrease in May 2018 for the change in corporate tax rate due to the TCJA and is offset by an increase in decoupling 
rates of 1.7% annually effective May 2018, see Management's Discussion and Analysis, "Regulation and Rates" included 
in Item 2 of this report for natural gas rate changes.  Natural gas load decreased primarily due to the decrease in average 
therms used as a result of a 15.1% decrease in heating degree days, which decreased the natural gas heating load compared 
to prior year. 

• Decoupling revenue decreased $2.3 million primarily due actual revenue being closer to PSE's allowed revenue per the 
decoupling mechanism compared to 2017.  This was primarily driven by a decrease in allowed revenue per customer 
compared to 2017 which was offset by lower customer usage as discussed in the retails sales above.    

• Other decoupling revenue increased $4.4 million primarily driven by ROR sharing accrual of $5.2 million in 2017 as 
compared to no ROR sharing accrual in 2018. 
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• Transportation and other revenue decreased $2.9 million primarily due to tax reform deferrals for revenue subject to 
refund of $2.0 million.

Natural Gas Energy Costs
Purchased natural gas expense decreased $9.3 million due to a decrease in natural gas costs included in PGA rates effective 

November 1, 2017 as compared to those effective November 1, 2016, and a decrease in natural gas usage of 7.6%.

The following chart displays the details of PSE's natural gas margin changes for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 
2018:  

_______________
* Includes decoupling cash collections, ROR excess earnings, and decoupling 24-month revenue reserve.

Six months ended June 30, 2017 compared to 2018 
Natural Gas Operating Revenue

Natural gas operating revenue decreased $89.7 million primarily due to a decrease of $68.8 million in total retail sales due 
to a decrease of natural gas usage and natural gas rates, a decrease of $11.6 million in other decoupling revenue and a decrease in 
transportation and other revenue of $11.5 million, partially offset by a $2.2 million increase in decoupling revenue.  These items 
are discussed in detail below.

• Natural gas retail sales revenue decreased $68.8 million due to a decrease of $48.1 million in natural gas sales, which 
is a result of a decrease in natural gas load of 8.6% from 2017 and a decrease in revenue per therm of $20.7 million. The 
decrease in revenue per therm was primarily due to a rate changes from the following filings:  GRC which decreased 
rates 3.8% annually effective December 2017, PGA which decreased rates 3.3% annually effective November 2017,  
3.0% decrease in May 2018 for the change in corporate tax rate due to the TCJA and is offset by an increase in decoupling 
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rates of 2.4% and 1.7% annually effective May 2017 and May 2018, respectively, see Management's Discussion and 
Analysis, "Regulation and Rates" included in Item 2 of this report for natural gas rate changes.  Natural gas load decreased 
primarily due to the decrease in average therms used per residential and commercial customers of 9.4% and 6.9%, 
respectively, compared to 2017, as a result of a 12.0% decrease in heating degree days, which decreased the natural gas 
heating load compared to prior year. 

• Decoupling revenue increased $2.2 million primarily due to a decrease in use per customer, driven by a decrease in 
heating degree days as discussed above in natural gas retail sales.  This caused actual revenue to decrease below PSE's 
allowed revenue, which increased decoupled revenue in 2018.  The decrease in usage was partially offset by a decrease 
in allowed revenue per customer in 2018.

• Other decoupling revenue decreased $11.6 million year-over-year due to the following: (i) in 2016, there was $19.6 
million of decoupling deferred revenue that could not be collected within 24 months. This was recognized in the first 
quarter of 2017 as it met the alternative revenue program revenue recognition guidelines. There was no deferred revenue 
at 2017 year end and therefore, no additional revenue recognized in the first two quarters of 2018, (ii) offset by a $5.8 
million ROR accrual in 2017 as compared to no accrual in 2018 due to under earning by the Company. 

• Transportation and other revenue decreased $11.5 million primarily due to tax reform deferrals for revenue subject to 
refund of $10.5 million.

Natural Gas Energy Costs
Purchased natural gas expense decreased $34.5 million due to a decrease in natural gas costs included in PGA rates effective 

November 1, 2017 as compared to those effective November 1, 2016, and a decrease in natural gas usage of 8.6%.
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Other Operating Expenses and Other Income (Deductions)
The following chart displays the details of PSE's operating expenses and other income (deductions) for the three months ended 

June 30, 2017 and 2018:

Three months ended June 30, 2017 compared to 2018 
Other Operating Expenses

• Net unrealized (gain) loss on derivative instruments expense decreased $10.7 million from a loss of $3.8 million. The 
primary driver for the decrease in losses consists of a $9.5 million gain due to an increase in natural gas forward prices 
of 8.3%. 

• Utility operations and maintenance expense decreased $5.4 million primarily driven by a decrease in the following:  
(i) decrease of $2.7 million in wind generation contract maintenance due to replacement of capital units of property and 
(ii) decrease of $1.3 million due to lower meter service contracts tied to the Consumer Price Index in 2018 compared to 
2017. 

• Depreciation and amortization expense increased $31.0 million primarily due to a depreciation rate change effective 
December 2017 as a result of the GRC and the following:  (i) amortization of PTC regulatory liability of $7.6 million in 
2018; (ii) electric depreciation expense increased $15.7 million, primarily due to net asset additions to production and 
distribution of $10.8 million and $173.7 million, respectively; (iii) an increase of $4.0 million due to net additions of 
$102.3 million of computer software; (iv) an increase of storm damage and regulatory amortization of $3.7 million and 
(v) an increase in natural gas environmental cost amortization of $2.2 million.  These increases were partially offset by 
(i) conservation amortization decreased $1.7 million primarily due to a decrease of electric rate change of 0.8% annually 
effective May 1, 2018 and lower customer usage due to lower heating degree days in 2018 as compared to 2017 and (ii) 
a decrease in natural gas depreciation expense of $3.8 million primarily due to a depreciation rate change to a lower rate.

• Taxes other than income taxes decreased $3.7 million primarily due to decreases in municipal taxes of $1.3 million and 
state excise taxes of $1.4 million as a result of a decrease in retail revenue.
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Other Income, Interest Expense and Income Tax Expense  
• Interest expense decreased $3.7 million primarily related to lower interest rates on long-term debt due to the refinancing 

of the $250.0 million in junior subordinated notes and $200.0 million in senior secured notes at a lower interest.
• Income tax expense decreased $15.8 million primarily driven by the following:  (i) approximately $4.7 million from the 

impact of tax reform with a decrease in statutory tax rate from 35% to 21% and a decrease in pre-tax income with a tax 
effect of approximately $8.4 million.

The following chart displays the details of PSE's operating expenses and other income (deductions) for the six months ended 
June 30, 2017 and 2018:

Six months ended June 30, 2017 compared to 2018 
Other Operating Expenses

• Net unrealized (gain) loss on derivative instruments expense decreased $31.0 million from a loss of $23.1 million. 
The primary drivers for the decrease in losses consists of a $31.8 million gain due to an increase in electricity and natural 
gas forward prices of 13.9% and 8.3%, respectively.  The increase in the weighted average wholesale electric and natural 
gas forward prices resulted in a $6.3 million gain and a $25.5 million gain, respectively. 

• Utility operations and maintenance expense increased $3.0 million primarily driven by increased labor expenses of 
$4.7 million due to an increase in system reliability projects,  $4.4 million due to an increase in locate services; partially 
offset by a $3.2 million net decrease storm expense from less storms in 2018 compared to 2017 and a $1.4 million decrease 
in tree trimming services. 
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• Depreciation and amortization expense increased $102.3 million primarily due to a depreciation rate change effective 
December 2017 as a result of the GRC which increased and the following: (i) amortization of PTC regulatory liability 
of $51.2 million in 2018; (ii) electric depreciation expense increased $31.3 million, primarily due to net asset additions 
to production and distribution of $10.8 million and $173.7 million, respectively; (iii) an increase of $8.1 million due to 
net additions of $102.3 million of computer software: (iv) an increase of storm damage and regulatory amortization of 
$7.4 million; (v) an increase in natural gas environmental cost amortization of $4.4 million; these increases were partially 
offset by (vi) a decrease in natural gas depreciation expense of $7.6 million primarily due to a depreciation rate change 
to a lower rate.

• Taxes other than income taxes decreased $11.2 million primarily due to decreases in municipal taxes of $4.3 million 
and state excise taxes of $3.6 million, as a result of a decrease in retail revenue; additionally, a decrease of $3.4 million 
related to the property tax tracker, which decreased due to load.

Other Income, Interest Expense and Income Tax Expense  
• Interest expense decreased $5.3 million primarily related to lower interest rates on long-term debt due to the refinancing 

of the $250.0 million in junior subordinated notes and $200.0 million in senior secured notes at a lower interest. 
• Income tax expense decreased $65.9 million primarily driven by the following:  (i) approximately $30.6 million from 

the impact of tax reform with a decrease in statutory tax rate from 35% to 21%, (ii) a decrease in pre-tax book income 
with a tax effect of approximately $14.7 million, and (iii) approximately $23.8 million due to the impact of tax reform 
on utility plant related deferred taxes.  The impact of tax reform has had a significant effect on the effective tax rate for 
PSE and Puget Energy.  Management estimates the effective tax rate for 2018 to be between 10% and 15% for PSE and 
between 6% and 12% for Puget Energy.
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Puget Energy
 Primarily, all operations of Puget Energy are conducted through its subsidiary PSE.  Puget Energy's net income (loss) for 
the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2018 are as follows:

Three months ended June 30, 2017 compared to 2018 
Summary Results of Operation

Puget Energy’s net income decreased for the three months ended June 30, 2018 by $31.6 million primarily due to a decrease 
over the prior year for PSE's net income as well as decreases in income tax benefit:

• Income tax benefit decreased by $6.0 million due primarily to the impact of tax reform with a decrease in statutory tax 
rate from 35% to 21% as well as a decrease in pre-tax income.
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Puget Energy's net income (loss) for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2018 are as follows:

Six months ended June 30, 2017 compared to 2018 
Summary Results of Operation

Puget Energy’s net income decreased for the six months ended June 30, 2018 by $12.3 million primarily due to a decrease in 
non-utility and other expense, as well as a decrease in income tax benefit:

• Other income increased by $5.1 million primarily as a result of the reclassification of the non-service cost component 
of pension benefit cost. For further information on this reclassification, see Note 6, "Retirement Benefits" in the Combined 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item I.

• Non utility expense and other decreased by $6.4 million primarily due to a reduction in qualified pension expense.
• Income tax benefit decreased by $5.6 million due primarily to the impact of tax reform with a decrease in statutory tax 

rate from 35% to 21% as well as a decrease in pre-tax income.
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Capital Requirements
Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

During the six months ended June 30, 2018, there were no material changes to the contractual obligations and consolidated 
commercial commitments disclosed in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017. 

The following are the Company's aggregate availability under commercial commitments as of June 30, 2018:

Puget Sound Energy and
Puget Energy

Amount of Available Commitments
Expiration Per Period

(Dollars in Thousands) Total 2018 2019 - 2020 2021 - 2022 Thereafter
Commercial commitments:
PSE revolving credit facility1 800,000 — — 800,000 —

Inter-company short-term debt1 $ 30,000 $ — $ — $ — $ 30,000
Total PSE commercial commitments 830,000 — — 800,000 30,000
Puget Energy revolving credit facility2 660,449 — — 660,449 —

Less: Inter-company short-term debt elimination1 $ (30,000) $ — $ — $ — $ (30,000)
Total Puget Energy commercial commitments 1,460,449 — — 1,460,449 —
_______________
1 For more information, see "Financing Program - Puget Sound Energy - in the Management's Discussion and Analysis Section".
2 For more information, see "Financing Program - Puget Energy - in the Management's Discussion and Analysis Section".

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of June 30, 2018, the Company had no off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a material 

effect on the Company's financial condition.

Utility Construction Program
PSE’s construction programs for generating facilities, the electric transmission system, the natural gas and electric distribution 

systems and the Tacoma LNG facility are designed to support reliable energy delivery, meet regulatory requirements, and customer 
growth.  Construction expenditures, excluding equity allowance for funds used during construction (AFUDC), totaled $452.2 
million for the six months ended June 30, 2018.  Presently planned utility construction expenditures, excluding equity AFUDC, 
are as follows:

Capital Expenditure Projections
(Dollars in Thousands) 2018 2019 2020
Total energy delivery, technology and facilities expenditures $ 1,003,000 $ 839,000 $ 740,000

The program is subject to change based upon general business, economic and regulatory conditions.  Utility construction 
expenditures and any new generation resource expenditures may be funded from a combination of sources which may include 
cash from operations, short-term debt, long-term debt and/or equity.  PSE’s planned capital expenditures may result in a level of 
spending that will exceed its cash flow from operations.  As a result, execution of PSE’s strategy is dependent in part on continued 
access to capital markets.  
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Capital Resources 
Cash from Operations

Puget Sound Energy
Six Months Ended

June 30,
(Dollars in Millions) 2018 2017 Change
Net income $ 189,818 $ 193,746 $ (3,928)
Non-cash items1 351,940 408,783 (56,843)
Changes in cash flow resulting from working capital2 153,022 175,755 (22,733)
Regulatory assets and liabilities 4,591 (46,101) 50,692
Other noncurrent assets and liabilities3 (14,956) (32,507) 17,551
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 684,415 $ 699,676 $ (15,261)
_______________
1 Non-cash items include depreciation, amortization, deferred income taxes, net unrealized (gain) loss on derivative instruments, AFUDC-equity, PTCs and 

other miscellaneous non-cash items.
2  Changes in working capital include receivables, unbilled revenue, materials/supplies, fuel/gas inventory, income taxes, prepayment, PGA, accounts payable 

and accrued expenses.
3  Other non-current assets and liabilities include funding of pension liability.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2018 compared to 2017
Cash generated from operations for the six months ended June 30, 2018 decreased by $15.3 million including a net income 

decrease of $3.9 million.  The following are significant factors that impacted PSE's cash flows from operations:
• Cash flow adjustments resulting from non-cash items decreased $56.8 million primarily due to changes in deferred income 

tax and tax credits of $76.1 million, production tax credit monetization of $51.2 million and derivative instruments of 
$31.0 million offset by changes in depreciation and amortization of $101.9 million.  For further discussion, see note 7, 
"Regulation and Rates" and Management's Discussion and Analysis, "Other Operating Expenses" in Item 2.

• Cash flow resulting from regulatory assets and liabilities increased $50.7 million primarily due to deferred accounting 
treatment for the impacts of tax reform and decoupling collections.  For further discussion, see Management's Discussion 
and Analysis, "Electric Operating Revenue" and "Natural Gas Operating Revenue" in Item 2.

Puget Energy
Six Months Ended

June 30,
(Dollars in Millions) 2018 2017 Change
Net income $ (39,276) $ (30,921) $ (8,355)
Non-cash items1 (2,725) (13,458) 10,733
Changes in cash flow resulting from working capital2 3,438 (8,415) 11,853
Regulatory assets and liabilities — — —
Other noncurrent assets and liabilities3 (6,655) 18,788 (25,443)
Net cash provided by operating activities $ (45,218) $ (34,006) $ (11,212)
_______________
1 Non-cash items include depreciation, amortization, deferred income taxes, net unrealized (gain) loss on derivative instruments, AFUDC-equity, PTCs and 

other miscellaneous non-cash items.
2  Changes in working capital include receivables, unbilled revenue, materials/supplies, fuel/gas inventory, income taxes, prepayments, PGA, accounts payable 

and accrued expenses.
3  Other noncurrent assets and liabilities include funding of pension liability.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2018 compared to 2017
Cash generated from operations for the six months ended June 30, 2018, in addition to the changes discussed at PSE above, 

decreased by $11.2 million compared to the same period in 2017.  The change was primarily impacted by the factors explained 
below:

• Cash flow resulting from non-cash items increased $10.7 million primarily due to changes in deferred income taxes. 
• Cash flow resulting from working capital increased $11.9 million primarily due to changes in accounts receivable.
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• Cash flow resulting from other noncurrent assets and liabilities decreased $25.4 million primarily due to the reclassification 
of construction work-in-process related to other property and investments.

Financing Program
The Company's external financing requirements principally reflect the cash needs of its construction program, its schedule 

of maturing debt and certain operational needs.  The Company anticipates refinancing the redemption of bonds or other long-term 
borrowings with its credit facilities and/or the issuance of new long-term debt.  Access to funds depends upon factors such as 
Puget Energy's and PSE's credit ratings, prevailing interest rates and investor receptivity to investing in the utility industry, Puget 
Energy and PSE.  The Company believes it has sufficient liquidity through its credit facilities and access to capital markets and 
operations to fund its needs over the next twelve months.

Proceeds from PSE’s short-term borrowings and sales of commercial paper are used to provide working capital and the interim 
funding of utility construction programs.  Puget Energy and PSE continue to have reasonable access to the capital and credit 
markets.

Puget Sound Energy 
Credit Facilities
As of June 30, 2018, PSE had an $800.0 million credit facility to meet short-term liquidity needs.  The credit facility includes 

a swingline feature allowing same day availability on borrowings up to $75.0 million.  The credit facility has an expansion feature 
which, upon the banks' approval, would increase the total size of the facility to $1.4 billion.  The unsecured revolving credit facility 
matures in October 2022.

The credit agreement is syndicated among numerous lenders and contains usual and customary affirmative and negative 
covenants that, among other things, place limitations on PSE's ability to transact with affiliates, make asset dispositions and 
investments or permit liens to exist. The credit agreement also contains a financial covenant of total debt to total capitalization of 
65.0% or less.  PSE certifies its compliance with such covenants to participating banks each quarter.  As of June 30, 2018, PSE 
was in compliance with all applicable covenant ratios.

The credit agreement provides PSE with the ability to borrow at different interest rate options.  The credit agreement allows 
PSE to borrow at the bank's prime rate or to make floating rate advances at London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus a spread 
that is based upon PSE's credit rating.  PSE must pay a commitment fee on the unused portion of the credit facility.  The spreads 
and the commitment fee depend on PSE's credit ratings.  As of the date of this report, the spread to the LIBOR is 1.25% and the 
commitment fee is 0.175%.

As of June 30, 2018, no amounts were drawn and outstanding under PSE's credit facility.  No letters of credit were outstanding 
and $28.0 million was outstanding under the commercial paper program.  Outside of the credit agreement, PSE had a $3.1 million
letter of credit in support of a long-term transmission contract and a $1.0 million letter of credit in support of natural gas purchases 
in Canada.

Demand Promissory Note
In 2006, PSE entered into a revolving credit facility with Puget Energy, in the form of a credit agreement and a demand 

promissory note (Note) pursuant to which PSE may borrow up to $30.0 million from Puget Energy subject to approval by Puget 
Energy.  Under the terms of the Note, PSE pays interest on the outstanding borrowings based on the lower of the weighted-average 
interest rates of PSE’s outstanding commercial paper interest rate or PSE’s senior unsecured revolving credit facility.  Absent such 
borrowings, interest is charged at one-month LIBOR plus 0.25%.  As of June 30, 2018, PSE had no outstanding balance under 
the Note.

Long Term Debt
On March 5, 2018, PSE commenced a tender offer and related consent solicitation to purchase any and all of the outstanding 

$250.0 million 6.974% Series A Enhanced Junior Subordinated Notes due June 1, 2067.  Holders of the notes received $1,005 per 
$1,000 principal amount of notes plus accrued and unpaid interest for notes tendered and accepted by the early tender payment 
deadline of March 16, 2018.  Holders of notes tendered after the early tender payment deadline, but prior to the tender offer 
expiration on April 2, 2018 were to receive the tender offer consideration of $975 per $1,000 of principal amount of the notes plus 
accrued but unpaid interest.  A total of $193.4 million in principal amount of notes were tendered by the early payment deadline 
and no notes were tendered after the early payment deadline.  On March 20, 2018, $194.9 million was paid to the holders of the 
tendered notes.  This amount included the principal, early tender consideration and accrued interest up to, but not including March 
20, 2018.
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Concurrently with the tender offer, PSE solicited consents from a majority (in principal amount) of the holders of PSE’s 
6.274% Senior Notes due March 15, 2037 to terminate the replacement capital covenant granted to the holders of those notes.  
The termination of the covenant was necessary because it included restrictions related to repurchases, redemptions and repayments 
of the 6.974% Series A Enhanced Junior Subordinated Notes.  PSE received consents from holders of 87.7% of the 6.274% Senior 
Notes and paid a consent fee totaling $2.6 million to those holders on March 19, 2018.

On March 28, 2018, PSE issued a notice of redemption, effective April 27, 2018, for the remaining $56.6 million principal 
amount of the 6.974% Series A Enhanced Junior Subordinated Notes.  The notes were redeemed at a price equal to 100% of their 
principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest up to, but excluding the redemption date.

On June 4, 2018, PSE issued $600.0 million of 30 year Senior Notes under its senior note indenture at an interest rate of 
4.223% with a maturity date of June 15, 2048.  The proceeds from the issuance were used to pay the principal and accrued interest 
on the company’s $200.0 million Secured Notes that matured on June 15, 2018, outstanding commercial paper borrowings of 
$348.0 million and other general corporate expenses.

Debt Restrictive Covenants
The type and amount of future long-term financings for PSE may be limited by provisions in PSE's electric and natural gas 

mortgage indentures.
PSE’s ability to issue additional secured debt may also be limited by certain restrictions contained in its electric and natural 

gas mortgage indentures.  Under the most restrictive tests at June 30, 2018, PSE could issue:
• Approximately $2.0 billion of additional first mortgage bonds under PSE’s electric mortgage indenture based on 

approximately $3.3 billion of electric bondable property available for issuance, subject to an interest coverage ratio 
limitation of 2.0 times net earnings available for interest (as defined in the electric utility mortgage), which PSE exceeded 
at June 30, 2018; and

• Approximately $511.0 million of additional first mortgage bonds under PSE’s natural gas mortgage indenture based on 
approximately $851.7 million of natural gas bondable property available for issuance, subject to a combined natural gas 
and electric interest coverage test of 1.75 times net earnings available for interest and a natural gas interest coverage test 
of 2.0 times net earnings available for interest (as defined in the natural gas utility mortgage), both of which PSE exceeded 
at June 30, 2018.

At June 30, 2018, PSE had approximately $7.1 billion in electric and natural gas rate base to support the interest coverage 
ratio limitation test for net earnings available for interest.

Shelf Registrations 
On November 21, 2016, PSE filed a shelf registration statement under which it may issue, as of the date of this report, up to 

$200.0 million aggregate principal amount of senior notes secured by first mortgage bonds. The shelf registration will expire in 
November 2019.

Dividend Payment Restrictions
The payment of dividends by PSE to Puget Energy is restricted by provisions of certain covenants applicable to long-term 

debt contained in PSE’s electric and natural gas mortgage indentures.  At June 30, 2018, approximately $753.6 million of 
unrestricted retained earnings was available for the payment of dividends under the most restrictive mortgage indenture covenant.

Pursuant to the terms of the Washington Commission merger order, PSE may not declare or pay dividends if PSE’s common 
equity ratio, calculated on a regulatory basis, is 44.0% or below except to the extent a lower equity ratio is ordered by the Washington 
Commission.  Also, pursuant to the merger order, PSE may not declare or make any distribution unless on the date of distribution 
PSE’s corporate credit/issuer rating is investment grade, or, if its credit ratings are below investment grade, PSE’s ratio of earnings 
before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) to interest expense for the most recently ended four fiscal quarter 
periods prior to such date is equal to or greater than 3.0 to 1.0.  The common equity ratio, calculated on a regulatory basis, was 
49.6% at June 30, 2018 and the EBITDA to interest expense was 5.6 to 1.0 for the twelve months ended June 30, 2018.

PSE’s ability to pay dividends is also limited by the terms of its credit facilities, pursuant to which PSE is not permitted to 
pay dividends during any Event of Default (as defined in the facilities), or if the payment of dividends would result in an Event 
of Default, such as failure to comply with certain financial covenants.
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Puget Energy
Credit Facility
At June 30, 2018, Puget Energy maintained an $800.0 million credit facility which matures in October 2022.  The Puget 

Energy revolving senior secured credit facility also has an accordion feature which, upon the banks' approval, would increase the 
size of the facility to $1.3 billion. 

The revolving senior secured credit facility provides Puget Energy the ability to borrow at different interest rate options and 
includes variable fee levels.  Interest rates may be based on the bank's prime rate or LIBOR, plus a spread based on Puget Energy's 
credit ratings.  Puget Energy must pay a commitment fee on the unused portion of the facility.  As of June 30, 2018, there was 
$139.6 million drawn and outstanding under the facility.  As of the date of this report, the spread over LIBOR was 1.75% and the 
commitment fee was 0.275%. 

The revolving senior secured credit facility contains usual and customary affirmative and negative covenants.  The agreement 
also contains a maximum leverage ratio financial covenant as defined in the agreement governing the senior secured credit facility.  
As of June 30, 2018, Puget Energy was in compliance with all applicable covenants.

Dividend Payment Restrictions
Puget Energy’s ability to pay dividends is also limited by the merger order issued by the Washington Commission.  Pursuant 

to the merger order, Puget Energy may not declare or make a distribution unless on such date Puget Energy’s ratio of consolidated 
EBITDA to consolidated interest expense for the four most recently ended fiscal quarters prior to such date is equal to or greater 
than 2.0 to 1.0.  Puget Energy's EBITDA to interest expense was 3.7 to 1.0 for the twelve months ended June 30, 2018.

At June 30, 2018, the Company was in compliance with all applicable covenants, including those pertaining to the payment 
of dividends.

Other
New Accounting Pronouncements

For the discussion of new accounting pronouncements, see Note 2, "New Accounting Pronouncements" to the consolidated 
financial statements in Item I of this report.

Colstrip 
PSE has a 50% ownership interest in Colstrip Units 1 and 2 and a 25% interest in Colstrip Units 3 and 4.  On March 6, 2013, 

the Sierra Club and the Montana Environmental Information Center filed a Clean Air Act citizen suit against all Colstrip owners 
in the U.S. District Court, District of Montana.  On July 12, 2016, PSE reached a settlement with the Sierra Club to dismiss all of 
the Clean Air Act allegations against the Colstrip Generating Station, which was approved by the court on September 6, 2016.  As 
part of the settlement that was signed by all Colstrip owners, Colstrip 1 and 2 owners, PSE and Talen Energy, agreed to retire the 
two oldest units (Units 1 and 2) no later than July 1, 2022.  The Washington Commission allows full recovery in rates of the net 
book value (NBV) at retirement and related decommissioning costs consistent with prior precedents.  

Depreciation rates were updated in the GRC effective December 19, 2017, where PSE's depreciation increased for Colstrip 
Units 1 and 2 to recover plant costs to the expected shutdown date.  The increase in depreciation caused the Colstrip Units 1 and 
2 regulatory asset to be reduced to $129.2 million and $127.6 million as of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.   
However, the full scope of decommissioning activities and costs may vary from the estimates that are available at this time.  The 
GRC also repurposed PTCs and hydro-related treasury grants to fund and recover decommissioning and remediation costs for 
Colstrip Units 1 and 2.  Additionally, PSE will accelerate the depreciation of Colstrip Units 3 and 4, per the terms of the GRC 
settlement, to December 31, 2027.

Greenwood
On March 9, 2016, a natural gas explosion occurred in the Greenwood neighborhood of Seattle, WA, damaging multiple 

structures.  The Washington Commission Staff completed its investigation of the incident and filed a complaint on September 20, 
2016.  On March 28, 2017, pipeline safety regulators and PSE reached a settlement in response to the complaint.  As part of the 
agreement, PSE agreed to pay a penalty of $1.5 million, and is currently implementing a comprehensive inspection and remediation 
program.  However, litigation is still pending regarding damage and personal injury claims.
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Regional Haze Rule
On January 10, 2017, the EPA provided revisions to the Regional Haze Rule which were published in the Federal Register.  

Among other things, these revisions delayed new Regional Haze review from 2018 to 2021, however, the end date will remain 
2028.  Aspects of these revisions are currently being challenged by various entities nationwide and PSE is unable to predict the 
outcome.

Clean Air Act 111(d)/EPA Clean Power Plan
 In June 2014, the EPA issued a proposed Clean Power Plan (CPP) rule under Section 111(d) of the Clean Air Act designed to 
regulate GHG emissions from existing power plants.  The proposed rule includes state-specific goals and guidelines for states to 
develop plans for meeting these goals.  The EPA published a final rule on October 23, 2015.  On March 31, 2017, then EPA 
Administrator, Scott Pruitt, signed a notice of withdrawal of the proposed CPP federal plan and model trading rules and, on October 
10, 2017, the EPA proposed to repeal the CPP rule.  The EPA is now reportedly developing a replacement CPP rule for Section 
111(d) and it is expected sometime in the third quarter of 2018.  PSE is still monitoring these developments and cannot yet predict 
a final outcome.

Washington Clean Air Rule
The CAR was adopted on September 15, 2016 in Washington State and attempts to reduce greenhouse gas emissions from 

“covered entities” located within Washington State.  Included under the new rule are large manufacturers, petroleum producers 
and natural gas utilities, including PSE.  The CAR sets a cap on emissions associated with covered entities, which decreases over 
time approximately 5.0% every three years.  Entities must reduce their carbon emissions, or purchase emission reduction units 
(ERUs), as defined under the rule, from others. 

On September 27, 2016, PSE, along with Avista Corporation, Cascade Natural Gas Corporation and NW Natural, filed a 
lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Washington challenging the CAR.  On September 30, 2016, the four 
companies filed a similar challenge to the CAR in Thurston County Superior Court.  On December 15, 2017, the Thurston County 
Superior Court invalidated the CAR.  The Department of Ecology appealed the Superior Court decision in March 2018.  The 
federal court litigation currently is stayed pending resolution of the state case.

Related Party Transactions
In August 2015, PSE filed a proposal with the Washington Commission to develop a LNG facility at the Port of Tacoma. The 

Tacoma LNG facility will provide peak-shaving services to PSE’s natural gas customers, and will provide LNG as fuel to 
transportation customers, particularly in the marine market.  Following a mediation process and the filing of a settlement stipulation 
by PSE and all parties, the Washington Commission issued an order on October 31, 2016 that allowed PSE’s parent company, 
Puget Energy, to create a wholly-owned subsidiary, named Puget LNG, which was formed on November 29, 2016, for the sole 
purpose of owning, developing and financing the non-regulated activity of the Tacoma LNG facility.  Puget LNG has entered into 
one fuel supply agreement with a maritime customer and is marketing the facility’s expected output to other potential customers.

The Tacoma LNG facility is currently under construction.  Pursuant to the Commission’s order, Puget LNG will be allocated 
approximately 57.0% of the capital and operating costs of the Tacoma LNG facility and PSE will be allocated the remaining 43.0% 
of the capital and operating costs.  PSE and Puget LNG are considered related parties with similar ownership by Puget Energy.  
Therefore, capital and operating costs that occur under PSE and are allocated to Puget LNG are related party transactions by nature.  
As of June 30, 2018, Puget LNG has incurred $144.7 million in construction work in progress and operating costs related to Puget 
LNG’s portion of the Tacoma LNG facility.  The portion of the Tacoma LNG facility allocated to PSE will be subject to regulation 
by the Washington Commission.
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Item 3.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk

The Company is exposed to various forms of market risk, consisting primarily of fluctuations in commodity prices, counterparty 
credit risk, as well as interest rate risk.  PSE maintains risk policies and procedures to help manage the various risks.  There have 
been no material changes to market risks affecting the Company from those set forth in Part II, Item 7A - "Quantitative and 
Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk" of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 
2017.

Commodity Price Risk
The nature of serving regulated electric and natural gas customers with its portfolio of owned and contracted electric generation 

resources exposes PSE and its customers to some volumetric and commodity price risks.  PSE’s Energy Management Committee 
(EMC) establishes energy risk management policies and procedures to manage commodity and volatility risks and the related 
effects on credit, tax, accounting, financing and liquidity.    

PSE's objective is to minimize commodity price exposure and risks associated with volumetric variability in the natural gas 
and electric portfolios.  It is not engaged in the business of assuming risk for the purpose of speculative trading.  PSE hedges open 
natural gas and electric positions to reduce both the portfolio risk and the volatility risk in prices.  

Counterparty Credit Risk
PSE is exposed to credit risk primarily through buying and selling electricity and natural gas to serve customers.  Credit risk 

is the potential loss resulting from a counterparty's non-performance under an agreement.  PSE manages credit risk with policies 
and procedures for counterparty analysis and measurement, monitoring and mitigation of exposure.  Additionally, PSE has entered 
into commodity master arrangements (i.e., WSPP, Inc. (WSPP), International Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA) or North 
American Energy Standards Board (NAESB)) with its counterparties to mitigate credit exposure. 

  
Interest Rate Risk

The Company believes its interest rate risk primarily relates to the use of short-term debt instruments, variable-rate leases and 
anticipated long-term debt financing needed to fund capital requirements.  The Company manages its interest rate risk through 
the issuance of mostly fixed-rate debt with varied maturities.  The Company utilizes internal cash from operations, borrowings 
under its commercial paper program, and its credit facilities to meet short-term funding needs.  Short-term obligations are commonly 
refinanced with fixed-rate bonds or notes when needed and when interest rates are considered favorable.  The Company may also 
enter into swaps or other financial hedge instruments to manage the interest rate risk associated with the debt. 
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Item 4.  Controls and Procedures

Puget Energy
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of Puget Energy’s management, including the President and Chief Executive 
Officer and Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, Puget Energy has evaluated the effectiveness of its disclosure 
controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) as of June 30, 2018, the end of 
the period covered by this report.  Based upon that evaluation, the President and Chief Executive Officer and Senior Vice President 
and Chief Financial Officer of Puget Energy concluded that these disclosure controls and procedures are effective.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
In May 2018, Puget Energy implemented a financial systems modernization project designed to improve the financial 

processes, tools and methods used throughout our business.  The new/updated systems were used in preparing financial information 
for the three and six months ended June 30, 2018.  Management monitored developments related to the financial systems 
modernization project, including working with the project team to ensure control impacts around the consolidation process were 
identified and documented, in order to assist management in evaluating impact to related internal controls.  System integration 
and user acceptance testing were completed to aid management in its evaluations. Additionally, post-implementation reviews of 
the system implementation and impacted business processes were conducted to enable management to evaluate the design and 
effectiveness of internal controls around the consolidations process during the period.

Except as previously described, there have been no changes in Puget Energy's internal control over financial reporting during 
the quarter ended June 30, 2018 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, its internal control over 
financial reporting.

Puget Sound Energy
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of PSE’s management, including the President and Chief Executive Officer 
and Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, PSE has evaluated the effectiveness of its disclosure controls and procedures 
(as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) as of June 30, 2018, the end of the period covered by 
this report.  Based upon that evaluation, the President and Chief Executive Officer and Senior Vice President and Chief Financial 
Officer of PSE concluded that these disclosure controls and procedures are effective.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In May 2018, Puget Energy implemented a financial systems modernization project designed to improve the financial 
processes, tools and methods used throughout our business.  The new/updated systems were used in preparing financial information 
for the three and six months ended June 30, 2018.  Management monitored developments related to the financial systems 
modernization project, including working with the project team to ensure control impacts around the consolidation process were 
identified and documented, in order to assist management in evaluating impact to related internal controls.  System integration 
and user acceptance testing were completed to aid management in its evaluations. Additionally, post-implementation reviews of 
the system implementation and impacted business processes were conducted to enable management to evaluate the design and 
effectiveness of internal controls around the consolidations process during the period. 

During 2017, PSE implemented internal controls covering the evaluation and assessment of revenue contracts related to the 
adoption of the new revenue recognition standard as of January 1, 2018.

Except as previously described, there have been no changes in PSE's internal control over financial reporting during the quarter 
ended June 30, 2018 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, PSE's internal control over financial 
reporting.
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 PART II                  OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1.  Legal Proceedings

Contingencies arising out of the Company's normal course of business existed as of June 30, 2018.  Litigation is subject to 
numerous uncertainties and the Company is unable to predict the ultimate outcome of these matters.  For details on legal proceedings, 
see Note 8, "Commitments and Contingencies" in the Combined Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item I.

Item 1A.  Risk Factors

There have been no material changes from the risk factors set forth in Part I, Item 1A, "Risk Factors" of the Company's Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2017.

Item 6.  Exhibits

Included in the Exhibit Index are a list of exhibits filed as part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

3(i).1 Amended Articles of Incorporation of Puget Energy (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Puget Energy’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, dated February 6, 2009, Commission File No. 1-16305).

3(i).2 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Puget Sound Energy, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 
3.2 to Puget Sound Energy’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated February 6, 2009, Commission File No. 1-4393).

3(ii).1 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Puget Energy dated February 6, 2009 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.3 
to Puget Energy’s Current Report on Form 8-K, Commission File No. 1-16305).

3(ii).2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Puget Sound Energy, Inc. dated February 6, 2009 (incorporated herein by reference 
to Exhibit 3.4 to Puget Sound Energy’s Current Report on Form 8-K, Commission File No. 1-4393).

4.1 Fifth Supplemental Indenture from Puget Sound Energy, Inc. to U.S Bank National Association, dated May 23, 2018 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Puget Sound Energy's Current Report on Form 8-K Commission File No. 
1-4393).

4.2 Purchase Agreement, dated June 4, 2018, between Puget Sound Energy, Inc. and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Merrill 
Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated and Mizuho Securities USA LLC and each of the other underwriters named 
in Schedule A thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to Puget Sound Energy’s Current Report on Form 8-K, 
Commission File No. 1-4393). 

12.1* Statement setting forth computation of ratios of earnings to fixed charges of Puget Energy, Inc. (2013 through 2017 and 
6 months ended June 30, 2018).

12.2* Statement setting forth computation of ratios of earnings to fixed charges of Puget Sound Energy, Inc. (2013 through 
2017 and the 6 months ended June 30, 2018).

31.1* Chief Executive Officer certification of Puget Energy pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2* Principal Financial Officer certification of Puget Energy pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to 
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.3* Chief Executive Officer certification of Puget Sound Energy pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant 
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.4* Principal Financial Officer certification of Puget Sound Energy pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant 
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1* Chief Executive Officer certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2* Principal Financial Officer certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101 Financial statements from the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Puget Energy, Inc. and Puget Sound Energy, Inc. for 
the quarter ended June 30, 2018 filed on August 1, 2018 formatted in XBRL: (i) the Consolidated Statement of Income 
(Unaudited), (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Unaudited), (iii) the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets (Unaudited), (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited), and (v) the Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements (submitted electronically herewith).

__________________
*  Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, each registrant has duly caused this report to be signed 
on their behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

  PUGET ENERGY, INC.
PUGET SOUND ENERGY, INC.

   
/s/ Stephen King

  Stephen King
Controller & Principal Accounting Officer

Date:  August 1, 2018




